
 
O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d ,  L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
Ph: 847.883.8600 | Fax: 847.883.8608 | www. l i n co ln sh i re i l . gov  

AGENDA
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

Village Hall – Board Room
Monday, February 12, 2018

Following Regular Village Board Meeting

Reasonable accommodations / auxiliary aids will be provided to enable persons with disabilities to effectively participate in any 
public meetings of the Board.  Please contact the Village Administrative Office (847.883.8600) 48 hours in advance if you need

special accommodations to attend. The Committee of the Whole will not proceed past 10:30 p.m. unless there is a consensus of the 
majority of the Trustees to do so. Citizens wishing to address the Board on agenda items may speak when the agenda item is open,

prior to Board discussion.

CALL TO ORDER
1.0 ROLL CALL

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
2.1 Acceptance of the January 22, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS
3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use

3.11 PUBLIC HEARING: Regarding a Petition by GlenStar Properties to 
Rezone the Property located at 90,98 and 100 Half Day Road from OC 
(Office Campus) to B2 (General Business District) and Granting a Special 
Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development with Building Height 
Exceptions for a Multi-Use Development with Sports and Entertainment 
Uses (GlenStar Properties)

3.12 Consideration of a Resolution Reallocating 2018 Volume Cap to the 
Village of Buffalo Grove, IL (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.13 Consideration of Economic Development Strategic Plan Update – 2018-
2022 (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.2 Finance and Administration
3.21 PUBLIC HEARING: Regarding an Ordinance Making Appropriations to 

Defray all Necessary Expenses and Liabilities of the Village of 
Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois for the Fiscal Year 2018 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

3.22 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), 
Chapter 8 (Village Finances), Article E of the Lincolnshire Village Code 
Regarding Bidding Procedures and Awarding of Contracts (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

3.23 Consideration of Adoption of Village of Lincolnshire Procurement Policy
(Village of Lincolnshire) 

3.24 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), 
Chapter 16 of the Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding the State Officials 
and Employees Ethics Act (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.25 Consideration of a Resolution Appointing a Representative and Alternate 



Page 2
AGENDA –Committee of the Whole Meeting
February 12, 2018

to the Governing Board of the North Suburban Employee Benefit 
Cooperative (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.26 Consideration of a Resolution Approving Closed Session Meeting 
Minutes and Authorizing the Village Clerk to Make Certain Closed
Session Meeting Minutes Available to the Public for Inspection Second 
Review – 2017 and Authorizing the Destruction of Certain Audio 
Recordings of Closed Session Minutes (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.3 Public Works
3.31 Consideration of a Request to Authorize Purchase a Tapco SMC4000 

Mini-Solar Powered Message Board via the US Communities Joint 
Purchase Program from Traffic & Parking Control Company, Inc. (Tapco), 
Brown Deer, WI in an Amount not to Exceed $18,661.80 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

3.32 Consideration of a Contract for the Construction of the Village’s 2018 
Westminster Way Watermain and Roadway Rehabilitation Project with A-
Lamp Concrete Contractors, Inc. of Schaumburg, Illinois in an Amount not 
to Exceed $1,627,668.00 (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.33 Consideration of a Professional Services Agreement with Christopher B. 
Burke Engineering, Ltd. For Phase 3 – Construction Observation Services 
for the Village’s 2018 Westminster Way Watermain and Roadway 
Rehabilitation Project in an Amount not to Exceed $142,495.00 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

3.34 Consideration of a Resolution for Maintenance of Streets and Highways 
by Municipality under the Illinois Highway Code – January 1, 2018 to 
December 31, 2018 (Village of Lincolnshire)

3.4 Public Safety
3.41 Consideration of a Request to Authorize Purchase of Three Police 

Department Replacement Vehicles at a Cost of $87,010.00 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

3.5

3.6

Parks and Recreation 

Judiciary and Personnel

4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS
5.0 NEW BUSINESS
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION
7.0 ADJOURNMENT



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n co l n s h i re i l . g o v  

2.1
MINUTES

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING
Monday, January 22, 2018

Present:
Mayor Brandt Trustee Feldman
Trustee Grujanac Trustee Hancock
Trustee McDonough Trustee Servi
Trustee Leider Village Clerk Mastandrea
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson Public Works Director Woodbury
Chief of Police Leonas Assistant Village Manager/Community &
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Economic Development Director Letendre

Engineer Dittrich Commander Covelli

ROLL CALL
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:15 p.m. and Village Clerk Mastandrea called the 
Roll.

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
2.1 Acceptance of the January 8, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes

The minutes of the January 8, 2018 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted.

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use

3.2 Finance and Administration
3.21 Consideration and Discussion of Potential Changes to 

Lincolnshire Admission Tax (Village of Lincolnshire)

Village Manager Burke provided a presentation summarizing potential 
changes to Lincolnshire Admission tax and review of Amusement 
Licensing. Village Manager Burke indicated currently, the Village is not 
charging tax per code to Crain’s Landing Golf Course or Par King Skill 
Golf and noted the Comprehensive Fee Schedule needs amending
should the Village Board wish to collect a tax on these types of uses.
Village Manager Burke stated annual licenses are currently required for 
various activities, as provided in the Village Code, but the Village is only 
actively licensing Automated Amusements and Fireworks Displays. 

Village Manage Burke noted staff has a permitting process in place with 
the Marriott for all of their productions as opposed to licensing the



Page 2
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

theater use. Staff recommends clarifying theatrical license in the Code. 
A brief discussion regarding theatrical licensing followed. 

Mayor Brandt and Trustee Leider stated the Amusement Tax and 
Licensing will need to be clarified regardless of whether or not increases 
in the admission tax are agreed upon due to the inconsistencies in 
applying the Code.

Mayor Brandt asked if staff has looked at what some of the other 
communities have done or what rate they charge for various 
amusements. Village Manager Burke noted a table was included in the 
agenda materials; however, the table simply provides information on the 
admission tax rate and not what types of uses are required to pay the 
tax.

Trustee Leider asked why Lincolnshire has a tiered approach between 
live theater and movie. Village Manager Burke stated he has not been 
able to find a record as to why there is a differential. Trustee Leider 
asked if it made sense to simplify and have one rate. Mayor Brandt 
stated she suspected this could go back to an agreement with the 
Marriott. 

Mayor Brandt asked the Board if they would want staff to look into what 
surrounding communities do with movie theater amusement tax and
theater. Village Attorney Simon stated not only movie theaters but the 
next step would be to expand the levy of the tax to participation and 
amusements. 

Trustee Leider noted his concern is we are not compliant with the code 
for licensing at this time, and suggested staff pursue bringing a 
recommendation forward.  As for the admission tax, Trustee Lieder 
noted he does not know what is competitive in the environment. Village 
Manager stated staff could look into some of the other facilities in the 
area. Mayor Brandt asked staff to look into what surrounding area 
facilities do for tournaments and viewing for these events. 

Trustee Servi asked if Half Day Brewing were to bring in a band, is this 
something the Village is considering taxing. Village Manager Burke 
stated if Half Day Brewing charged a ticket price, the tax could apply. 
Village Manager Burke noted this tax would not apply to a banquet 
facility because they are not charging tickets to individuals. 

Trustee McDonough asked staff if the intent of the code was to charge 
the licensing fee annually noting the code states two different things. 
The facilities all have to be licensed and fill out an application to be 
licensed which sounds like it should be a one-time licensing and there is 
also a reference to an annual licensing fee and appears this is 
establishing two separate fees. Village Attorney Simon noted there is a 
general, applicable rule that applies to all the Village’s business licenses 
that says unless the code makes it a permanent license, each license 



Page 3
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

expires at the end of the calendar year. 

Trustee Feldman asked if staff goes in to check for safety. Village 
Manager Burke stated a Code Enforcement Inspector goes in for each 
liquor license renewal and amusement device licensing. 

The Board provided several locations they would like staff to provide 
information on pertaining to admission tax.

It was the consensus of the Board to have staff provide additional 
information on the specifics on how the tax is applied in the
communities that have the tax and report back to the Board. 

3.3 Public Works
3.31 Consideration of a Professional Services Contract with RJN Group, 

Inc. for Design Engineering Services at a Cost not to Exceed 
$99,985.00 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 
summary of a professional services contract with RJN Group, Inc. for 
design engineering services to help the Village evaluate, test, analyze, 
and prioritize improvements needed to the sanitary sewer collection 
system.

It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.32 Consideration of a Request to Authorize Contract for the 
Construction Des Plaines River Bike Bridge Rehabilitation Project 
with Lakes & Rivers Contracting, Inc. of Lemont, IL in an Amount 
not to Exceed $234,130.00 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 
summary of a request to authorize a contract for the construction of Des 
Plaines River Bike Bridge Rehabilitation Project with Lakes & Rivers 
Contracting, Inc. of Lemont, IL. Staff reached out to twelve bidders but
only two bids were received on the job. The bids came in over the 
engineers estimate due to the materials used to for the bridge decking
and the fact that not a lot of this type of work is currently being done. 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich laid out the 
pros and cons for the Board and recommended accepting the bid.

Trustee Feldman asked staff if they knew how much it cost to build the 
bridge initially noting she thought the price was high. Assistant Public 
Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated he would look to see if 
he could find the cost of initial bridge construction.

Trustee Leider stated there is liability if they do not build the bridge but 
noted concern regarding spending this type of money on repairs. 



Page 4
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

Mayor Brandt asked if other materials have been researched for use. 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated timber 
would be the most economical. Most bridges today are built with a 
concrete deck but the frame of the bridge in question was not designed 
to hold concrete. 

Trustee Leider asked what the original budget was for the bridge 
repairs. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated 
the original budget amount for the repairs was $199,000 which included
the construction engineering which is the next agenda item.  

Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated another 
option would be to adjust quantities and re-bid for a portion of the 
bridge. The Board noted concern about making the repairs piece-meal 
which could ultimately drive the costs even more and result in repeated 
closures of the bridge.

Trustees Leider and Grujanac asked how fast this would need to be 
addressed since the bridge would need to be closed down for the
repairs and wanted to know if the bridge was currently safe to use. 
Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated the 
bridge can handle the pedestrian traffic but there are boards on the 
bridge that are popping off. Public Works Director Woodbury noted in 
the past years there has been incidents where pedestrians have had 
accidents due to the popping boards. Staff has experienced several 
calls over the past few years about concern that the bridge is shifting.

Mayor Brandt asked if there was grant money available for the bridge 
repairs. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich stated 
there is no grant money available for the bridge repairs. 

Trustee Grujanac noted concern with not performing the repairs since 
there has already been injuries associated with the bridge.

Trustee Leider asked where the additional money would come from to 
pay for the bridge repairs since this amount is over budget. Assistant 
Public Works Director/Village Engineer suggested taking the money 
from Balzer Park Development tennis court resurfacing project funds
may be an option. Village Manager Burke reiterated the Balzer Park 
tennis court resurfacing is an $80,000 project that has been discussed 
to possibly be delayed from the current year.

Trustee Leider noted concern with the Engineers Estimate compared to 
the bid amount and asked why they differed so much. Public Works 
Director Woodbury noted the Engineer who estimated the cost is a 
bridge Engineer in which staff would most likely not use in the future as 
a result of the price differential.  

Village Manager Burke noted the cost of the installation of the long, 
pedestrian bridge in the downtown project was $228,000 in 2013 and 



Page 5
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

the smaller bridge was $76,000 and neither of these are wood bridges. 

A conversation regarding replacing the bridge with different materials 
followed.

Trustee Leider stated he is not in favor of putting this on the consent 
agenda without knowing were the additional funds would be coming 
from to pay for the bridge repairs. Public Works Director Woodbury 
noted staff would look at all the Capital Projects and come back with a 
recommendation at the next Board Meeting. 

A conversation regarding some of the expenditures for the current year 
along with Balzer Park tennis court repairs were briefly discussed. 

It was the consensus of the Board to defer this project until staff 
receives other Capitol Project bids to see if there are cost savings for 
other bids to put towards this project. 

3.33 Consideration of a Professional Service Contract with HLR 
Engineering for Des Plaines River Bike Bridge Rehabilitation 
Construction Engineering Services at a Cost not to Exceed 
$26,434.00 (Village of Lincolnshire)

Trustee Grujanac asked if this was the engineer that bid the bridge 
inaccurately. Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich 
stated it is the engineer who estimated the bridge project too low but he 
would still recommend approval of the contract knowing their expertise 
as far as bridge construction. 

Trustee Leider asked for clarification regarding the Engineers Estimate 
noting concern that the bid price received was way off. Village Manager 
Burke stated HLR did the assessment and evaluation of the bridge and 
the design of what the improvements need to be to restore the bridge.

It was the consensus of the Board to defer this project until staff 
receives other Capitol Project bids to see if there are cost savings for 
other bids to put towards this project.

3.34 Discussion of Proposed 2018 Bike Path Resurfacing Locations 
(Village of Lincolnshire)

Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer Dittrich provided a 
summary of the proposed 2018 bike path resurfacing locations in order 
to get Board feedback. The focus would be the Riverwoods Road path;
the section from Route 22 south versus Route 22 north due to the 
condition of the path in that area and the fact there are two active 
construction projects in the north in which the contractor involved will 
reconstruct portions of  the path in these areas. 

Trustee Feldman asked how long it has been since the path south of 



Page 6
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

Route 22 has been re-done. Assistant Public Works Director/Village 
Engineer Dittrich stated he has no record of any of these paths being 
resurfaced.

It was the consensus of the Board to bid out the project as staff has 
recommended and bring the bid back to the Board for consideration.

3.35 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 4 (Health and 
Sanitation), Chapter 2 (Environmental Control) of the Village of 
Lincolnshire Municipal Code (Village of Lincolnshire)

Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of a proposed 
Ordinance amending Title 4 Chapter 2 of the code to change the 
notification requirements for property owners within 250’ of the 
boundaries of a controlled burn area; specifically the certified mailing 
receipt requirements. Public Works Director Woodbury noted 15 
communities were surveyed and none required certified mailings for 
controlled burns. Staff recommends door knockers and flyers to replace 
certified mailings to satisfy burn notification requirements. 

Village Manger Burke noted this is not only a contractor driven request 
but staff has had many Homeowners Associations, who manage open 
space, make the same request. Residents have also called stating they 
have not received notification due to having to pick up a certified mail at 
the post office and timing of the burn.

Trustee Leider suggested schools be notified in writing if the burn was 
to take place within a certain distance from their locations. Public Works 
Director Woodbury stated all the schools are notified when there is a 
prescribed burn. Trustee Leider suggested clarifying this process in the 
code.

It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.4 Public Safety

3.5 Parks and Recreation

3.51 Consideration of Recommendation to Waive Competitive Bid 
Process and Authorize a Contract with MUSCO Lighting, 
Oskaloosa, IA for Replacement of 228 Metal Halide Light Fixtures 
as North Park Athletic Complex-1025 Riverwoods Road (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of the request to 
waive the competitive bid process and authorize a contract with 
MUSCO Lighting, Oskaloosa, IA for replacement of 228 metal halide 
light fixtures as North Park Athletic Complex to include a 10-year 
warranty for all poles. Public Works Director Woodbury noted currently,



Page 7
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
January 22, 2018

the Village pays an annual control link service fee of $2,125 to MUSCO 
Lighting in which lights at North Park can be turned on and off remotely.
This agreement would also include 10 years of this control link service 
for $10,625. 

Trustee Feldman asked if staff felt the 10-year warranty was adequate. 
Public Works Director Woodbury stated 10 years is really what the 
expected life span of the lamps are and felt the 10-year warranty period 
was adequate.

Village Attorney Simon asked who performs the service for the 
contractor. Public Works Director Woodbury stated MUSCO would send 
someone from Iowa to service the lights as has been their practice in 
the past.

Trustee McDonough asked for clarification regarding the fees. Public 
Works Director Woodbury stated the fee is a 10-year warranty for the 
fixtures plus the service fees of $35,000; then there is a $27,800 fee to
re-lamp all units for a total of $62,800. Trustee McDonough asked what 
portion of the contract would be due this year and what portion would be 
due annually. Public Works Director Woodbury stated it can be paid in 
lump sum or be paid off for 10 years or 10 payments of $3,500 which 
would cover the cost of the warranty and the control service.

A conversation regarding payment schedule and warranty followed. 

It was the consensus of the Board to revise the recommendation to pay 
up front for the re-lamping, then pay the service agreements and
warranty over 10 years and place this item on the Consent Agenda for 
approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.6 Judiciary and Personnel

4.0 UNFINISHED BUSINESS
5.0 NEW BUSINESS
6.0 EXECUTIVE SESSION

7.0 ADJOURNMENT
Trustee Grujanac moved and Trustee Feldman seconded the motion to adjourn. Upon 
a voice vote, the motion was approved unanimously and Mayor Brandt declared the 
meeting adjourned at 8:55 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

Barbara Mastandrea
Village Clerk



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2018\2018_2_12_COW_PH_GlenStar.doc 

  REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

February 12, 2018 
 

Subject:  Multi-Use Development Proposal with Sports, Entertainment, 
Restaurant and Hotel Uses - 90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road 

 
Action Requested: 

 
Public Hearing Regarding a Petition by GlenStar Properties to 
Rezone the Property Located at 90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road from  
OC (Office Campus) to B2 (General Business District) and Grant a 
Special Use Permit for a Planned Unit Development with Building 
Height Exceptions for a Multi-Use Development with Sports and 
Entertainment Uses (GlenStar Properties – Medline Site) 

 
Originated By/Contact: 

 
Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator  
Department of Community & Economic Development 

 
Referred To:  

 
Village Board 

 
Background: 
� GlenStar Properties, a Chicago-based 

development and investment company, 
seeks to rezone the Medline property 
from O C - Office Campus to B2- General 
Business District and obtain a Special 
Use permit for a Planned Unit 
Development (PUD) for a multi-use 
development with building height 
exceptions.  
 

� On December 11, 2017, the Village Board 
conducted a preliminary evaluation 
regarding GlenStar Properties’ request to 
rezone and create a Planned Unit Development for the Medline property for the 
construction of Topgolf and St James entertainment and recreation facilities. At that 
meeting the Village Board referred the request to the Architectural Review Board for design 
review (see attached meeting minutes). During the preliminary evaluation meeting, the 
Village Board inquired about proposed uses, sound and other operational considerations. 
The developer agreed to address these concerns in subsequent stages of the approval 
process and once formal development plans were prepared for review.  

 
� Since the December 11th meeting, the petitioner continued discussions with Topgolf and St 

James, as well as with Medline, regarding the purchase and redevelopment of the property. 
The developer indicates Topgolf expects to acquire a portion of the site in the next 30 days. 
GlenStar’s contractual obligations with Medline require the developer focus their immediate 
efforts on the rezoning and PUD approvals rather than seeking specific development 
approvals for Topgolf and St James.  

 
� The request before the Village Board does not include approval of specific development 

plans or uses. GlenStar Properties does not have development plans and related required 
documentation for the Village’s consideration at this time. Once such plans are available, 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2018\2018_2_12_COW_PH_GlenStar.doc 

the petitioner will be required to request a Major PUD amendment for the specific uses 
proposed for the site. The Major PUD Amendment process requires Village Board review of 
preliminary and final development plans, as well as Architectural Review Board review and 
recommendation. All Major PUD amendments require a formal public hearing process with 
notification to adjacent residents within a 250’ of the property.  
 

� The Medline property currently consists of three 2 & 3-story office buildings (plus a facilities 
maintenance building) situated on a dense wooded lot with detention areas (see attached 
current site plan from the listing brochure). The property was developed and annexed into 
the Village in phases in the 1970’s and 1980’s. The two western buildings were most 
recently used by Hewitt & Associates for their corporate headquarters before Hewitt’s 
merger with Aon and subsequent relocation. One of the western buildings currently houses 
an Aon Hewitt data center with approximately 10 employees. The third office building is 
located adjacent to the Tollway.  

 
� In January 2015, Medline Industries acquired the property for a new corporate headquarters 

to accommodate their growth. In 2015, at Medline’s request, the Village reviewed and 
approved a code change eliminating the Planned Development Zoning District which was 
the zoning designation for this property only since the early 1980’s and replaced it with the 
current Office Campus zoning designation. Major changes to the zoning regulations for the 
site when the Village Board considered Medline’s request to amend the Zoning Code from 
Planned Development Zoning District to Office Campus include: 

 
o Increasing the allowable building height from two stories to five stories in the 

Office Campus Zoning District.  
 

� In October 2015, Medline announced they would not be moving forward with their plans for 
this location and proceeded to purchase the former Kraft Heinz site in Northfield which was 
available for immediate occupancy. In early 2016, Medline listed the property for sale. Since 
2016, staff has met with several developers interested in acquiring the property for a variety 
of uses, including corporate headquarters, retail/mixed use, senior housing, apartments, a 
media production center and office. During the course of these meetings, staff repeatedly 
heard potential buyers express concerns regarding an underperforming office market in the 
Chicago suburbs. Given the limited demand for office development, Medline representatives 
broadened the marketing of the property to a wider variety of uses including retail, 
entertainment, and grocery.  

 
Public Hearing Regarding Rezoning and a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development 
with Building Height Exceptions:  
 
Rezoning 
� Petitioner requests rezoning from OC Office Campus to B2 General Business.  

 
� Surrounding uses include:  

o To the north and west: A 111-acre unincorporated Florsheim property which may 
be available for sale and development in the future (zoned Estate in Lake 
County). 

o To the east: Tri-State I-94 Tollway (no zoning).  
o To the south: Homewood Suites Hotel (zoned B2 PUD) and the Wood Creek 

Courts residential development (zoned R3 Single-Family Residential PUD).  
 



 

Agenda Item
     3.11 COW

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2018\2018_2_12_COW_PH_GlenStar.doc

� The current Office Campus zoning designation is suitable for a planned office campus only 
as a primary use and does not allow Planned Unit Developments. Therefore, the petitioner 
requests rezoning to B2 General Business to accommodate the mix of proposed uses. The 
intent of the B2 zoning per the Village Zoning Code is as follows: “The intent of the B2 
District is to accommodate those uses which require substantial land area, are major travel 
destinations, require substantial support parking and draw their clientele or employees from 
the regional market. Often times such uses require a high degree of access and roadside 
visibility or exposure from major thoroughfares.” 

� The proposed recreational and entertainment uses are permitted in the B2 District, and no 
code changes are required. The nearest properties with the B2 zoning designation are the 
Homewood Suites Hotel and CDW Center, both located off the Tollway.

Special Use for a Planned Unit Development with Building Height Exceptions
� The petitioner seeks a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development, consisting of the 

following uses:

o Golf Facility: public and private recreation facility; restaurants, excluding 
live entertainment, and general retail.

o Large Full-Service 24/7 Sports, Health and Fitness Facility: public and 
private recreation facility; day spa, with massage services; restaurant, 
excluding live entertainment; general retail, sports and entertainment uses
and physician’s office incidental to the recreation use.

o Restaurant, excluding live entertainment.
o Hotel.

� Petitioner seeks the following height exceptions in the B2 District as part of the PUD 
request: 

o Golf facility: height increase from the maximum permitted 42’ to 60’ for the 
building and 175’ for the netting.

o Sports, Health & Fitness facility: height increase from the maximum permitted 
42’ to 72’3” for the building.

� The Comprehensive Plan indicates the recommended land use classification for this 
property is “Professional Office” (see attached). The plan contemplates preservation of 
existing wetlands along Half Day Road and landscape buffers along the west side of the 
property to minimize negative impacts on adjacent properties. 

� The petitioner will provide further information regarding the proposed uses and how they 
intend to mitigate potential negative impacts on surrounding properties at the February 12th

Public Hearing. Based on the concept plan provided for the December 11th meeting (see 
attached), the nearest house to the west and north, along Old Mill Road, is approximately 
2,000’-2,200’ from the proposed buildings. The nearest house to the south, along 
Abbotsford Drive, is approximately 400’ from the proposed St James building and 900’ from 
the proposed Topgolf building. The nearest house in Wood Creek Courts is approximately 
600’ from the proposed St James building and 900’ from the proposed Topgolf building. As 
shown on the conceptual site plan, the parking facilities for the development would be built 
approximately 200’ from the south property line, buffered along the Half Day Road frontage 
by wetlands and detention areas.  



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2018\2018_2_12_COW_PH_GlenStar.doc 

� The petitioner provided responses to the attached rezoning and PUD standards. The 
Village Board is requested to review and find the responses satisfactorily meet the 
standards in order to recommend approval.  
 

� A notice of the public hearing was provided in the January 26, 2018 edition of the Daily 
Herald and to adjacent property owners within a 250’ radius of the property, as required by 
Code (see attached).  

 
� Attached is a draft ordinance, prepared by the Village Attorney regarding the rezoning and 

PUD requests. The ordinance authorizes a rezoning and permits the schedule of uses, 
described above. It states the rezoning and PUD approvals will expire within a year of 
ordinance signing if the developer fails to purchase the property, causing the zoning 
designation to revert to Office Campus.    

 
Resident Public Comments: 
The Village has received written comments and concerns regarding the proposed development, 
specifically Topgolf, from 17 residents of Wood Creek Courts, Sutton Place and other residential 
subdivisions to the south and west. Both the developer and staff have met and spoken with 
concerned residents. Main concerns expressed include negative impacts on traffic/congestion, 
incidents, commercialization, lighting, sound, alcohol service, tree removal, property values, 
neighborhood character and municipal services. Some residents stated they are not opposed to 
Topgolf and site development in general but are opposed to the proposed uses in this location. 
Staff shares the same questions and concerns has communicated them to the petitioner who will 
be required to address them in a future public hearing at the Village Board prior to obtaining any 
development approvals for specific uses.   
 
Business Community Public Comments: 
The Village has received correspondence from Van Vlissingen & Company, Lincolnshire 
Corporate Center’s property owner and landlord, in support of the request (see attached). The 
petitioner provided attached letters of support from Zebra, Sysmex, Marriott Resort, Adlai E. 
Stevenson High School, Lake County Partners and Visit Lake County. Half Day Brewing 
restaurant has also stated its support for the development.  
 
Review & Approval Process: 
If the rezoning and a Special Use for a PUD is approved by the Village Board as part of the 
current request, the developer of each new use/building would be required to come back to the 
Village for a Major Amendment to the PUD approving the development of each new use. Any 
Major Amendment, by Code, involves a Public Hearing at the Village Board. In addition, all 
development requests will require review of the Village’s internal Development Review Team 
regarding fire access, circulation, traffic and other items as well as review and recommendation 
by the Architectural Review Board regarding site layout, parking lot design, lighting, landscape 
screening and signage. Attached is a flow chart detailing the anticipated approval process.  
 
Preliminary Discussion of Development Incentives 
As indicated in the attached cover letter, the developer is interested in beginning discussions with 
the Village Board regarding the Board’s level of openness to providing development incentives 
for the property, specifically a sales-tax sharing agreement. They will be prepared to make a 
formal request, outlining the purpose, parameters and justification for public incentives at a future 
date.   
 
 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Shared_Files\Cover_Sheet\2018\2018_2_12_COW_PH_GlenStar.doc 

Recommendation: 
A Public Hearing regarding a rezoning from OC Office Campus to B2 General Business District 
and a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development with building height exceptions.  
 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Location/zoning map, prepared by MGP GIS Consortium.  
� Draft ordinance, prepared by Village Attorney Simon.   
� Presentation packet, prepared by GlenStar, dated February 5, 2018.  
� Public comment correspondence.  
� Public hearing notice to adjacent residents and newspaper.  
� B1, B2 Business and Office Campus Code.  
� Comprehensive Plan recommendations for the subject property.  
� Anticipated approval process flow chart.  
� December 11, 2017 Committee of the Whole staff report and meeting minutes.  
� Proposed site plan based on the December 11, 2017 preliminary evaluation meeting at the 

Village Board.  
� Existing site plan.  

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole discussion   December 11, 2017 
Committee of the Whole discussion (current)  February 12, 2018 
 



18

7
4

5
5

2

1

20

10

10
9 7

16

11

4

8

10

3

1

1

2

3

97

6

6

10

9

8

1

7

6

5

13526

4

10

2

12

2

8

5 5

6

3

3

9

3

7

1

8

1

2

4

6

2

8

12

13

4

11

90-100

HALF DAY RD

W
OOD

CR
EE

K
D

R

R
A

M
P

CT OF NATCHEZ

H
EW

IT
T

DR

W
ESTMINSTER

WAY

INTERSTATE 94

AB
BO

TSFORD DR

N
orth

B
ranch

WestFork

OC

R2
B2

R3Legend
Zoning Districts

!

! ! !! Subject Location

Building

Parcel Boundary

Village Boundary

Community & Economic Development

± CED_LocationMap
JVD, 12/6/2017

1 inch = 250 feet

Medline Property

Medline
Property

90, 98, 100 Half Day Rd



 

1 
 

 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE 

LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 18-____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REZONING CERTAIN PROPERTY AND 
GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR A PLANNED UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR A 

MULTI-USE DEVELOPMENT WITH  
SPORTS AND ENTERTAINMENT USES 

(90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road) 
 

WHEREAS, Medline Industries, Inc., an Illinois corporation (“Owner”), is the owner of 

certain real estate commonly known as 90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road, and legally described as 

set forth in Exhibit A, consisting of approximately 43 acres of property (the “Subject Property”); 

and 

WHEREAS, GlenStar Properties, LLC, an Illinois limited liability company 

(“Developer”), has entered into a contract with Owner to purchase the Subject Property and 

intends to develop the Subject Property with a multi-use development with sports and 

entertainment uses (the “Development”) (Developer and Owner are sometimes collectively 

referred to herein as “Petitioner”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code, Developer submitted to the Village 

an Application for Village Board consideration seeking to rezone the Subject Property from the 

OC Office Campus District to the B-2 General Business District (the “Rezoning Application”); 

and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code, Developer submitted to the Village 

an Application for Village Board consideration seeking a special use for a planned unit 

development with related conditions and exceptions from the Village Code to allow the 

Development on the Subject Property (collectively, the “PUD Application”); and  



2

2018 in the Daily Herald, all public hearings, as required by law, have been held by the Village 

Board on the Rezoning Application and PUD Application in order to permit the Subject 

Property, to be developed as hereinafter provided; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities, after due and careful considerations, have 

concluded that development of the Subject Property with a multi-use development with sports 

and entertainment uses will promote the sound planning and development of the Village as a 

balanced community, increase the taxable value of property within the Village, enable the 

Village to control the development of the area, and otherwise promote the proper growth and 

general welfare while serving the planning objectives of the Village; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities conclude the rezoning of the Subject Property and 

the proposed improvement of the Development in accordance with the PUD Application will be 

beneficial to the Village, will not be detrimental to the Village’s Comprehensive Plan or the 

spirit and intent of the Lincolnshire Zoning Code (the “Zoning Code”) and will otherwise 

enhance and promote the general welfare of the Village and the health, safety and welfare of the 

residents of the Village; and

WHEREAS, it is the intent of the Corporate Authorities to grant only such approvals as 

are necessary to identify the Subject Property as a planned unit development and to describe the 

permitted schedule of uses that may be operated therein.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of the 

Village of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows:

WHEREAS, pursuant to Title 6 of the Village Code, and notice published on January 26, 



 

3 
 

Section 1.  Recitals; Findings.   

A. The Corporate Authorities hereby confirm the truth and validity of the 

representations and recitations set forth in the foregoing recitals and do further acknowledge that 

they are material to this Ordinance.  Such recitals are hereby incorporated into and made a part of 

this Ordinance as though they were fully set forth herein.  The Corporate Authorities further 

intend that this Ordinance shall be liberally construed so that the purpose and intent represented 

by the recitals shall be accomplished to the greatest extent permitted by law. 

B. The findings of fact of the Applicant, attached hereto as Exhibit B, are herein 

incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board to the same effect as if fully recited herein 

at length. 

Section 2.  Condition Precedent.  The rights, privileges and authority granted by this 

Ordinance are contingent upon, and shall not become effective, unless and until the Village 

receives the acquisition notice to confirm that Developer, or its successors and assigns, have 

acquired the Subject Property from the Owner.  The rights, privileges and authority granted by 

this Ordinance shall expire and be of no further force or effect if the Village does not receive an 

acquisition notice within one (1) year from the date hereof. 

Section 3.   Rezoning.  The Subject Property is hereby rezoned from the OC Office 

Campus District to the B-2 General Business District.  The Mayor and Board of Trustees hereby 

direct the Zoning Administrator to cause the official zoning map of the Village to be so 

amended.  

Section 4.  Development.  The Corporate Authorities hereby grant the Subject Property, 

in the Village’s B-2 General Business District, a special use for a planned unit development, 



 

4 
 

within which the Developer may operate the schedule of uses described in Exhibit C, subject to 

the following conditions or exceptions from the Village Code: 

A. A height exception not in excess of sixty feet (60’) for the principal building and 

not to exceed one hundred seventy-five feet (175’) for the protective netting for the Golf 

Entertainment Facility (as defined in Exhibit C); and 

B. A height exception not in excess of seventy two feet three inches (72’ 3”) for the 

Large Full-Service 24/7 Sports, Health and Fitness Facility (as defined in Exhibit C); and 

C. The Development shall provide a minimum buffer on the North and West 

boundaries of the Subject Property equal to fifty feet (50’), where the Developer may place storm 

water management facilities, landscaping and/or berms. 

Section 5.  Preliminary Development Plans.  The Village and Petitioner recognize and 

agree that the Petitioner has not filed a Preliminary Development Plan in accordance with 

Section 6-14-12-E of the Village Code and that nothing in this ordinance shall be construed as an 

approval of a Preliminary Development Plan.  This grant of a special use for a planned unit 

development does not authorize construction of any site or building improvements, nor does it 

exempt future site or building improvements on the Subject Property from complying with the 

applicable Village approval and permitting process, including but not limited to Preliminary 

Development Plans, the approval of which shall be considered a Major Amendment to the 

planned unit development in accordance with Section 6-14-12-G of the Village Code. 

Section 6.  Consents.  By signing the acknowledgement and accepting the terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance, Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily waives, for itself and its 

successors and assigns, any and all claims against the Village, its elected and appointed officers, 

employees and agents, of whatever kind, nature and amount, resulting from the limitations on the 



 

5 
 

development of the Subject Property applied by this Ordinance. Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

nothing in this Ordinance shall be deemed to waive the ability for Petitioner, or its successors 

and assigns, to petition the Village, from time to time, for other and further zoning and 

subdivision approvals.   

Section 7.  Superseding Effect.  The specific terms and conditions of this Ordinance shall 

prevail against other existing ordinances of the Village to the extent of any conflicts.  Except for 

the foregoing limitation, the development of the Subject Property remains subject to all terms 

and conditions of Applicable Codes and Ordinances of the Village of Lincolnshire including, 

without limitation, zoning ordinances, building codes, subdivision regulations and regulations 

concerning the construction and design of public improvements. 

Section 8.  Penalties.  Any person violating the terms and conditions of this Ordinance 

shall be subject to a penalty not exceeding Five Hundred Dollars ($500.00) with each and every 

day that the violation of the Ordinance is allowed to remain in effect being deemed a complete 

and separate offense.  In addition, the appropriate authorities of the Village may take such other 

action as they deem proper to enforce the terms and conditions of this Ordinance, including, 

without limitation, an action in equity to compel compliance with its terms.  Any person 

violating the terms of this Ordinance shall be subject, in addition to the foregoing penalties, to 

the payment of court costs and reasonable attorneys' fees.  This section shall not apply to the 

Village of Lincolnshire, its officials, agents or employees. 

Section 9.  Enforcement.  The Subject Property shall be made available for inspection by 

any department of the Village at all reasonable times for compliance with this Ordinance and any 

other applicable laws or regulations. 



 

6 
 

Section 10.  Effective Date; Assent.    Subject to the contingency described in Section 2, 

this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval and 

publication in pamphlet form as provided by law, provided, however, that this Ordinance shall 

not take effect until a true and correct copy of this Ordinance is executed by Owner and 

Developer, or such other parties in interest as the Village may reasonably identify, consenting to 

and agreeing to be bound by the terms and conditions of this Ordinance.  Delivery to the Village 

of a copy of this Ordinance, as so executed, shall take place not later than sixty (60) days after 

the passage and approval of this Ordinance by the Corporate Authorities or within such extension 

of time as may be granted by the Corporate Authorities by motion. 



 

7 
 

PASSED this ____th day of ___________, 2018, by the Corporate Authorities of the 

Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows: 

 
 AYES:     
 
 NAYS:      
 
 ABSTAIN:     
 
 ABSENT:    
 
 APPROVED this ____th day of ___________, 2018. 
 
 
 
      ____________________________________ 
      Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________ 
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 
Published by me in pamphlet form 
this ____ day of ____________, 2018.  
 



 

8 
 

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED 
this ___ day of ___________, 2018. 
 
MEDLINE INDUSTRIES, INC. 

 

____________________________________ 

 

ACKNOWLEDGED and ACCEPTED 
this ___ day of ___________, 2018. 
 

GLENSTAR PROPERTIES, LLC 
 
 
 
___________________________________ 
 



 

9 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY 
 



 

10 
 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
FINDINGS OF FACT 

 



 

11 
 

 
EXHIBIT C 

 
SCHEDULE OF USES 

 

A. Golf Entertainment Facility, comprised of all or any of the following component 

uses: 

1. Recreation facility, public and private 

2. Restaurants, excluding Live Entertainment 

3. General retail 

B. Large Full-Service 24/7 Sports, Health and Fitness Facility, comprised of all or 

any of the following component uses: 

1. Recreation facility, public and private 

2. Day Spa, with massage services 

3. Restaurant, excluding Live Entertainment 

4. General retail 

5. Physician’s Office, only to the extent it is incidental to the operation of the 

recreation facility 

C. Restaurant, excluding Live Entertainment 

D. Hotel 

 

 

4828-8922-2491, v.  1 



GlenStar Properties LLC p: 312.795.1800 
55 East Monroe Street f: 312.424.8365 
Suite 3950 e: info@glenstar.com 
Chicago, Illinois 60603 w: www.glenstar.com







Applicant
Property

1. The proposed plan is consistent with the stated purpose of the planned unit 
development regulations. 

Tollway

2. The proposed plan meets the requirements and standards of the planned unit 
development regulations. 

3. The proposed plan departs from the zoning and subdivision regulations 
otherwise applicable to the subject property, including but not limited to, the 
density, dimensions, area, bulk, use, required improvement, construction and 
design standards and the reasons why such departures are deemed to be in 
the public interest. 



Height
Exceptions

4. The public benefit produced by the planned unit development outweighs the 
increased burden(s) on public services and infrastructure. Any specific 
beneficial actions, plans or programs agreed to in the planned unit 
development proposal which are clearly beyond the minimum requirements of 



the Zoning Code shall be specifically listed as evidence of justified bulk 
premiums and/or use exception. 

5. The physical design of the proposed plan makes adequate provisions for 
public services, provides adequate control over vehicular traffic, provides for 
and protects designated common open space, and further the amenities of 
light and air, recreation and visual enjoyment. 

6. The beneficial relationship and compatibility of the proposed plan to the 
adjacent properties and neighborhood. 



7. The desirability of the proposed plan to the Village's physical development, tax 
base and economic well-being. 

Plan

8. The conformity with the recommendations of the Official Comprehensive Plan, 
as amended, and all other official plans and planning policies of the Village. 





FINDINGS OF FACT
Applicant

Property

1. Existing zoning classification of the property. 

2. Existing uses of property and existing physical, social or economic factors within the 
general area of the property in question. 

Tollway

3. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in 
question.

4. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing or 
proposed zoning classification.

B2 District



5. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, 
including changes, if any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification. 

6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned. 

7. The extent to which the property’s value is diminished by the existing zoning 
classification.

8. The impact upon the objectives of the official Comprehensive Plan of the Village, as 
amended.





Topgolf

Exterior Elevations

Rear Elevation

Front Elevation

EIFS-1 EIFS-1COMPOSITE PANELING

COMPOSITE PANELINGCOMPOSITE PANELING METAL-2 EIFS-1 PAINTPAINT

METAL -1

EIFS-1

COMPOSITE PANELINGCURTAIN WALLMETAL-1

TILE-1 TILE-2 METAL-4 EIFS-1

EIFS-2METAL-1 METAL-2 METAL-3

METAL-1

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Exterior Elevations

Left Elevation

METAL-2

EIFS-1 METAL-1

METAL-1

PAINT

EIFS-1COMPOSITE PANELING TILE-1 TILE-2

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Exterior Elevations

EIFS-1 EIFS-2

METAL-3TILE-2

TILE-1

METAL-2 METAL-1EIFS-1

METAL-4 METAL-1

CURTAIN WALL COMPOSITE PANELING COMPOSITE PANELING

Right Elevation

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Floor Plan - Ground Level

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Floor Plan - Middle Level

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Floor Plan - Upper Level

0’ 16’ 32’ 64’



Topgolf

Net Pole Elevations

Left Elevation

Right Elevation

Rear Elevation



Topgolf

Exterior Signage - Front Elevation



Topgolf

Exterior Signage - Right Elevation



Topgolf

Exterior Perspective



Topgolf

Exterior Perspective



Topgolf

Exterior Perspective



Topgolf

Exterior Perspective



���������	�
���

�������

�����������
���

��������

�������	���
���

��������

�� �� �� �� �� �� �� ��
��

�� �� �� �� �� �
 �� �� �� �� �! ���"�� �	 ��

	#�#��������
��������

��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

����

������
	
����


�


��
��

�
��

��
�

��
��

�

��#%

��	������

��

�$#��

�$

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��#$

���������	�
���

�������

�����������
���

��������

�������	���
���

��������

�������������������������������
���������!�� �� ���" ���	

	#�#��������
��������

�� �� ����

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

������

����
��������
�

�

���
��

����
��

��
�

�����
������

���

������ ��

��
�

��
��

�
��

��
�

�

�

��
�%

�%
��

&�
����
�

��#%

��

�$#�'

�� ��

�� �%

�$#��

�'

�$#��

���������
%������

��

�$#�$

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��	�������	��

�	�
�	���
��	

���������	�
���

�������

�����������
���

��������

�������	���
���

��������

��� ��� ��� ��� ��� ��' ��� ��$ ��% ��� ��* ��� ��� ��� ��'

	#�#��������
��������

��'������

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

��

�$#��

����

�
�	����

�
����

�

���
��

���
�

��
��

�
��

��
�

��
��

�

��
�*

�%
&�

�
$�

��
��

&�
�

�
��

��
�

��
	�

�
��

"

�

��
��

	�
�

�
��

��
�

��
�

��
�

�%
��

��
&�

�

��������	����"
��������

�������������

�
�*

�

��� ��' ��� ��$ ��% ��� ��* ��� ��� ���

�

���
��

�����
���
�

�$

�$#��
��

�$#��

��

�*#%�
�'

�*#%�

���#�

���

��*#���*#%

����"���

��"����+��	�������

��	�

"���	�	�	
�

"���	���#

�

�

	�
�

�
	�

-

�""��

/����%����"3����#

	�
�

�

�	

��
��

�
"�

�
�

-

�����
��

	����	���	���"�		�

;�"����	��3���������$

����������
����

�

�����
�"	���	3��;3�"��	��$��

��
��

��
���

	

��

�

��

�
��

�

�

����

;�"����	��3���������$

��
����������

�����������	���	���������;3�"��	������

�!��	�����"����<������������

��
����3��
�������

������
����
�

��*�"��	���������������3�"��	������

	���"	#�+���"�������

�

��
���	��3����������

���
�

�����"#��
����"	���	3�"��	������

	���+����������������
�����	��������

;�"����	��3����������

���
�����
��
�
������


$�����	��"	���	��;3�"��	������

��"3����#

��������3���������

�����
�

�������"	������"	���	3�"��	�����

�� �� ��

��

�������<��""����	�"

;�"����	��3��������$

����� �������!���������

�����
�"	���	��;3�"��	��$��

"��	�3�"������3�����3����#

��"���

�3�	����%��'

	
��!����
�����
����

�**��"����������

���
��������������

"	��
���3��������$'

�����
����

�

��$�$�����"������3�"��	�����

���
��������������

	���
���	�

�
��
���	�

�" �#

�$ �% �&

	������������������	���"����	�����
���

"������������3�	�=�"�%��%�

��'��
�
�		�!��
�����

$�'��������

�&
��

&�
��

%�
��

-�
%-

'�
��

�

�#(��

����������
�����

�
���������'����$

�$"��(���

����������
�	��
�
�

�#
$#

'#
��

��
�$

��

����>�������� �
����������
�������


����>�������� �
������������
������!����
�

����>�������� �
�����������
��������


��# ��"����	��� ��	�



 

Zebra Technologies Corporation 
3 Overlook Point 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 
p 847-634-6700 
f  847-913-8766 
zebra.com 

February 7, 2018 
 
 
Mayor Elizabeth Brandt and the Village Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
1 Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 
60069-3053 
 
 
Dear Mayor Brandt,  
 
I’d like to reach out to express my support for the proposed Topgolf and 
St. James development at Route 22 and I-94.  
 
As Director of Global Real Estate Strategy and Operations at Zebra 
Technologies Corporation, I find great value in nearby amenities that our 
company and employees can utilize and enjoy.  The addition of both the 
Topgolf facility and St. James Fitness and Sport Complex would be 
complimentary additions to the community for our employees.  
 
I recently attended a reunion which was held at a Topgolf facility in the 
south suburbs, and truly enjoyed the experience.  I think they are a 
fantastic franchise and would welcome having one in Lincolnshire. 
 
I look forward to following the development as it progresses moving 
forward. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 

  
DeAnna L, Cheslog 
Director, Global Corporate Real Estate Strategy and Operations 
 

 



February 2, 2018 

Mayor Brandt & Village Trustees,  
 
 
I’m reaching out to express our support for the proposed North Shore Entertainment Complex 
at Route 22 and I-94.   
 
A development of this nature, featuring a Topgolf and St James Sports & Fitness Center, would 
serve as a great amenity for both our company and our many Lincolnshire employees.  Currently 
there is a lack of this level of entertainment and recreation offerings within the area and this 
would help to fill the gap.  
 
In addition to the positive impact on our employees, we believe the development would have a 
positive impact on the Village as a whole, along with its residents and businesses.  
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
Raymond Alm 
Facilities & Campus Optimization Manager 
Sysmex Corporation

Sysmex America, Inc. www.sysmex.com
577 Aptakisic Road, Lincolnshire, IL  60069
Tel. -800-3SYSMEX (1-800-379-7639)



1







Fe br ua ry  2 ,  20 18  

Mayor Elizabeth Brandt & Village Trustees 
Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 

Dear Mayor Brandt & Village Trustees,   

I am writing to express our support of the proposed North Shore Sports & Entertainment Complex 
development to be located at Route 22 and I-94, within the Village of Lincolnshire.  
 
As Lake County’s leading economic development corporation, we’re committed to making sure that Lake 
County remains a wonderful place to live, work and play.  The redevelopment proposed at the North Shore 
Sports & Entertainment Complex blends the priorities of maintaining economic vitality and enhancing quality 
of life.  We look forward to adding this new project to the list of assets that help Lake County attract and retain 
top talent and top employers. 
 
The proposed Topgolf and St. James Sports & Recreation Center is an exciting addition to the Lincolnshire 
community.  We look forward to following the progress of the development.  If we can be of assistance in that 
process, please feel free to contact me.   
 
Sincerely, 
 

 
 
Kevin Considine 
President & CEO 
Lake County Partners 
 



 
 
Visit Lake County 
5465 W. Grand Ave. Suite 100 
Gurnee, IL 60031 
 
 
February 1, 2018 
 
Subject: Proposed Redevelopment at Route 22 & I-94 
  
 
 
Dear Mayor Elizabeth Brandt & Village Trustees,   
 
I am writing to express our support of the proposed North Shore Entertainment Complex development 
to be located at Route 22 and I-94, within the Village of Lincolnshire.  
 
A redevelopment of this nature aligns with Visit Lake County’s mission to promote the region as an 
attractive destination for visitors and deliver exceptional experiences that enhance the economic vitality 
of Lake County and its communities.  
 
Not only will Lake County, the Village of Lincolnshire and its residents benefit from this development, 
but the surrounding businesses, shops, and hotels will be the beneficiary of the local and regional draw 
that Topgolf and the St. James will inherently create.  
 
We believe that this project will create both a positive social, and economic impact on the area and fill a 
gap that currently exists for a sports and entertainment of this stature in Lake County.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
Maureen 
President  
Visit Lake County 
 



COMPILED PUBLIC COMMENTS RECEIVED VIA EMAIL AS OF 2/8/18 

GlenStar Proposal  

Rob Weinberg  

Dear Trustee McDonough: 
 
Happy New Year! 
 
Needless to say, a number of property owners in Sutton Place are concerned over the initial plans 
for the old Hewitt/Medline property and have a expressed a number of concerns to me (as 
Association President). 
 
Some of the inital concerns are: 
1. Traffic congestion on Rt. 22 in general. 
2. Traffic congestion specifically at the intersection of Rt 22/Westminster (CDW + normal traffic 
+ new development on the Hewitt property. 
3. General "retail commercialization" of property adjacent to homes. 
4. Distruction of trees in a "Tree Community". 
5. Increased costs to city services (ie: police & fire) 
6. Changing the "residential look" of East half Day Rd. 
 
While these are only a few of the concerns expressed to me, I'm sure there are or will be others. 
 
Would it be possible to alert the Sutton Place Board when discussions about this property are 
scheduled to take place so we can be part of the discussion? 
 
Sincerely, 
Rob Weinberg - President Sutton Place Association 
10 Sommerset Ln. 
Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
 

Susan Link Olsen  

Dear Mayor Brandt, 
I am on the Board of the Sutton Place Townhome Association and I cannot begin to tell you how 
distressed our homeowners are with this proposal. We are already prisoners in our own 
neighborhood when we try to enter or exit our area during rush hours, competing with the 
corporate people for room on Half Day Road. Bringing in 500 new employees to this area with a 
projected 400,000 visitors each year on a 24-hour, seven-days-a-week schedule is not what we 
moved here for.  Please protect your homeowners. Susan Link Olsen 

 

 



Stuart Aizenberg  

I live at 7 Court of Tidewater and have been a Lincolnshire resident for about 20 years. I 
appreciate the diversity of the community in terms of the mix of quiet residential and businesses, 
which are mostly west of Milwaukee Avenue.   
 
I was alerted to the possibility of the TopGolf and St. James development on the Medline site 
just last week.  I applaud the Village Board for wanting to bring such additions to the community 
along with the income they will provide.   
 
However, I also immediately thought that the Medline site is the wrong location. It is too close to 
residences and located on a road that is already challenged at times with too much traffic.   
 
Those concerns were further amplified this week as I was made aware of complaints against 
some of TopGolf's existing locations. Here is just one example: 
http://www.abc10.com/article/news/local/roseville/residents-frustrated-with-noise-from-new-
topgolf-facility/318986711.  There are other examples from different communities that I can 
share as well.   
 
Do you really want to introduce this into a residential area of our terrific community?  Isn't it 
better suited to a business park west of Milwaukee or in a retail / office area somewhere along 
Milwaukee?   
 
I don't object to the idea of bringing this development to Lincolnshire.  Actually, one benefit 
could very well be the drunk driving charges that can be filed on people leaving TopGolf all 
evening until 1 AM when they close.  
 
I do object to the location of the planned development.  It's not the kind of neighbor I was 
looking for when I moved to Lincolnshire.  It is not the kind of neighbor I want now and there is 
great concern that such a development will damage my property value. 

Steven McCoy  

Typical politics....it seems like the new proposed sports complex is a DONE DEAL, screw input 
from local residents, (that will be impacted). It seems like you in your infinite wisdom have 
already decided this issue. This is a democratic republic (at least I thought), and as a resident of 
Wood Creek, I think mine and my neighbors input ought to give you pause before you run head 
strong in to approving this development! 

Scott Tarnoff 
 
Brad- 
I viewed the presentation by Glenstar on Dec 11th and have researched the impact Top Golf has had on 
several communities. I am strongly opposed to allowing the development to proceed. A large number of 
families in the community feel the same way. I urge you and the board to research the negative imapact 
Top Golf has had on many communities before proceeding further in discussions. 
 



 
Tonya-  
I viewed the presentation by Glenstar on Dec 11th and have researched the impact Top Golf has had on 
several communities. I am strongly opposed to allowing the development to proceed. A large number of 
families in the community feel the same way. I urge you and the board to research the negative imapact 
Top Golf has had on many communities before proceeding further in discussions. 
 
 
Linda Barnhart   
 
I am writing this about the TopGolf development.  We moved to Lincolnshire 15 years ago - basically 
worked our entire lives to be able to live in such a beautiful, calm, forested upscale community. 
We love our quiet environment.   I strongly oppose building a TopGolf on the Hewitt property.  Homes 
are virtually across the street and this would be a nightmare for all of us.  Noise, drinking, music - til very 
late. The traffic, lights, noise- you truly believe this is a good fit for our town?  And what about the 
people who live nearby?  I hardly think you'd want to live within 2 miles of such a place!  We love it here 
-  PLEASE don't ruin our neighborhood or our town! 
 

Kelly Kalmes 

Comments: To Lincolnshire Village Board and City Planning and Development: 
Topgolf is a great idea for Lincolnshire. The financial benefits are huge.  
The question you need to seriously consider: is this the best location for this opportunity for 
Lincolnshire and its residents? 
Does this proposal comply with village ordnances or rules? 
• Complement or be compatible with the surrounding uses and community facilities 
• Contribute to, enhance, or promote the welfare of the area of request and adjacent 
properties 
• Not be detrimental to the public health, safety, or general welfare 
• Conform in all other respects to all applicable zoning regulations and standards 
• Be in conformance with a comprehensive plan 
Consider how any of these requirements are met based on the following: 
Noise, Lights and Hours of Operation: 
Have you researched what has happened with Topgolf in other communities and the impact it 
has had on residents? 
• Consider Overland Park with 15 noise complaints in the first two months of operation  
• Alexandria Virginia where Fairfax County supervisor Jeff McKay noted: "Topgolf has been very 
successful; however, this success has not come without a price to the community. For the last 
few years, due to Topgolf’s growth, I have received complaint after complaint about the noise, 
parking problems, and the negative impact on the adjacent Kingstowne neighborhoods. With 
the addition of live music on weekends, Topgolf has grown beyond a driving range and can 
sometimes look more like a nightclub. As a result."  
• At the proposed Cary Town Center location in North Carolina, Adrienne Chance, Topgolf’s 
director of corporate communications noted “As we were testing during due diligence, we 



became concerned about our ability to sufficiently mitigate the lighting and noise issues for the 
local neighborhood. The last thing we want is to be a nuisance to the people living close to one 
of our locations.” Consider that the closest homes to the proposed Thornton Topgolf will be 
800 feet away – the same distance as the homes adjacent to the proposed Cary, NC location. 
(Lincolnshire will be 250 feet from this facility.) If they are concerned about 800 feet, well than 
Lincolnshire residents will definitely be affected. 
If Topgolf is unable to mitigate noise and lighting with this location, what is Lincolnshire doing 
to ensure a different outcome for its residents? Can you read these experiences and be 
convinced that Topgolf will meet village compliance? 
Why isn’t Lincolnshire considering other locations in the village where Topgolf could fit without 
zoning changes being necessary? 
It is undeniable that Topgolf would be a great economic driver for Lincolnshire, if this is the type 
of village Lincolnshire is. I for one came here to get away from the “Schaumburg”, Rolling 
Meadows”, and Vernon Hills type communities. I came because of a sentence in the mission of 
Lincolnshire; to protect the pastoral environment and character of the residential areas of the 
Village. Economic and business development in a village or any business must absolutely 
consider revenue, but that is only one component to any successful entity. Consider that the 
proposal also includes the St. James facility. Even though that will affect traffic, and parking 
lights, it might not affect noise and lighting until potentially 2:00am and will generate revenue. 
Successful community and business development follows a planned strategy, it is not simply a 
reaction to any proposal that gets submitted.  
Land use, noise, lights, hours of operation – can we prevent a problem vs. becoming the next 
community reacting to one?  
At a minimum, please see for yourself prior to making a decision on behalf of the people you 
represent. Visit the Naperville Topgolf location in the evening and consider if that’s what should 
be 250 ft. from the home of any Lincolnshire resident you were elected to represent. 
As a Lincolnshire resident, I ask that your vote is "no" to Topgolf. 

Kehua Zhang  
  
Dear Brad, 
My name is Kehua Zhang and I currently live in 101 Fallstone street, the first house you will see if you get 
onto old mill road from half day road. (see attached map) 
 
The reason I am writing to you is to show our deepest concern regarding your  'TopGolf' project. I have 
seen the video on 12/11/2017 about this proposal and you surprisingly seemed very supportive with 
very little concern to the project impacts to the nearby neighborhood.  We moved here from beautiful 
Madison Wi a couple of years ago to enjoy a quiet neighborhood and a good school district. It turned 
out to be a good decision since we settled down here. Our kids go to DW and Sprague and enjoy every 
day there. However, we are very disappointed by your decision to support 'TopGolf' project. If you 
google it, you can see all kinds of complaints from nearly residents about noise and light brought by 
TopGolf. There is even an on-going law suit against TopGolf. To put it simple, if we would know there 
will be a TopGolf close by, we would never buy the house here. Simple question to you, will you allow 
this to happen, if you live in our neighborhood? 
 



I am not sure if you will see this email but whoever reads this email, please let me know what is the 
process to let our voice and concern to be heard? What are our rights in this particular approval/review 
process?  
 
Please let us know how we can get our voice to be heard. 
 
Thanks, 

Jennifer Zittnan Boldry 

Dear Elected and Appointed Lincolnshire Officials, 

It has come to my attention that a TopGolf entertainment/sports facility is being considered as 
a venue for the currently vacant AON site. I would like to express my deep reservations 
regarding this particular venue for that site. As a nearby resident, I have major concerns 
regarding the increase in traffic, noise, lighting, and potential crime that may occur with the 
opening of TopGolf on this site. Please vote NO. Do not bring TopGolf to Lincolnshire. Thank 
you. 

Barry May 
 
Brad & Tonya, 
 
Attached please find a PDF of a letter I have written to the Mayor & Trustees. 
Your website doesn't allow attachments or graphics, so I am asking you to be sure all involved 
have received a copy. If all emails follow the same format, then I too will be sending a copy. 
 
As paid professionals I'm quite sure you realize the negative impacts this part of the development 
will cause ... and no, I don't expect you to admit that ... as your current supervisor seems to really 
like this project. But you will be here much longer than she, even if reports that she is leaving 
Lincolnshire are not accurate.   
 
We the residents, are your real employers, and if we have to drive by Topgolf everyday, coming 
from and going home, we won't forget anyone involved. 
 
Bob Schafer 
 

Please advise: 
1. How will the proposed use be granted without a zoning change? 
2. While accommodating to places like the Western Suburbs, Mundelein, Vernon Hills, Buffalo 
Grove, and the like, how does it blend/fit with Lincolnshire? 
3. If granted, will parking be prohibited on Route 22? 
4. If granted, will signage be visible from Route 22? 
5. If granted, will any outdoor sound systems be allowed to operate on the property; and, if so, 
how far off the property will the developed sound be allowed to be heard. 



 
Please copy this communication to the Board of Trustees. 
 
Thanks for your time and attention. 

Thank you for your prompt response.  
I will be out of the country on Feb 12th.  
Please record my opposition to the proposal; and, specifically, to any zoning change to the 
parcel. 
My concern also goes to the general “attractive nuisance” the proposal would bring to the area. I 
do not believe its draw and appeal fits the mood and tone of the Village of Lincolnshire. It is 
more in tune with various Western Suburbs and communities similar to Mundelein, Vernon 
Hills, or Buffalo Grove. Signage is completely out of place with the property. Anything more 
than what currently exists would be totally out of place. 
Please advise when minutes of the Feb 12th meeting will be available, and place me on any list 
for notifications regarding any future meetings on the topic, no matter what the jurisdiction. 
 
Thanks for your prompt response. 
 
Please find additional questions: 
 

Questions Re GlenStar Properties Proposal 
 

1. There are numerous bodies of water on the parcel. Are they proposed to be 
maintained? 

2. What specific activities will be offered 24 hours per day, seven days per week? 
3. What is a “huge” demand, and how did the proponent identify it? 
4. If Libertyville is considered being in the north suburbs, why is their very similar 

athletic facility ignored? 
5. Instead of speculating what “could” happen, why can’t/won’t the proponent 

identify the number of people the recreation center will employ on a full and part-
time basis? 

6. What calculation results in the conclusion of 1.5 million customers per year? 
7. What studies have revealed the impact of up to 4,110 vehicles per day upon the 

entrance to the property? 
8. What facilities will the development offer to park up to 4,110 vehicles per day? 
9. How was the assumption of drawing people from a 15 mile radius determined? Is 

the customer demographic limited to a 15 mile limit? What is the population of 
the customer demographic within the given circle? 

10. From the 1.5 million customers per year, how many will access the property 
traveling eastbound on Route 22; how many traveling westbound; and how many 
traveling north and southbound on the Tollway? 

11. Topgolf is alleged to add up to 500 additional employees. How many are part-
time and how many are full-time? 

12. Topgolf is alleged to add an additional 400,000 customers per year, or 1,096 per 
day. How will these additions impact the issues raised in questions 6-8? 

13. What are the proposed hours of operation for the bar(s) and restaurant(s)? 



14. Are any existing structures proposed for demolition? 
15. Will any of the existing vegetation be removed? 
16. Will any proposed structures be shielded from view from Route 22? 
17. What impact will the proposed vehicular access have on the capacity of existing 

roadways and turning lanes? 
18. What impact will the proposed development have on current levels of rain and 

snow runoff? 
19. What impact will the proposed development have on police and fire staffs? 
20. What is the anticipated revenue to The Village, and what is guaranteed? 
21. Are any tax abatements part of the proposal? 
22. Why would Lincolnshire want to increase traffic and population density to 

become some undefined “tourist” spot? 
23. What is “exciting” about a driving range and some athletic facilities? 
24. How many restaurants can Lincolnshire plan to support? 
25. Why does a small village need a large-scale project? 
26. How is this proposal an integral part of Lincolnshire’s plan of development? 

 
Bob Schafer, Sent from my iPad 
 
Bob Auer   
 
Mayor, I hope you have a chance to visit one of the several Top Golf facilities prior to the 
meeting scheduled for next Monday. If this is approve be prepare to have many issues you have 
not thought about will begin to surface. I have talked with friends both in Indiana , Ohio and 
Illinois about alcohol , certain types of smoke lighting and music. I am sure this will also require 
tree removal. More important have you ever sat in traffic on route 22 during late afternoon. You 
will have to beef up our police manpower . i know for a fact property values are under pressure 
since this issue  impacted recent sale discussions.. This pressure will impact not only adjacent 
property sales but others do to bad press if incidents create arrests.  Lastly who owns the 
property? I deal a lot in my business and wonder how hard is this being marketed. Have  the 
owners been aggressive in this process. Thanks and I know the attendees will be looking forward 
to an open discussion. 
 
‘Best Regards Bob Auer 

Margo Tsim  

As a long time resident of Lincolnshire (20years) I am very concerned about the proposed Top 
golf sports and entertainment complex.  I have severaspecific areas of concern 1. Traffic on Rt 
22 which is already congested.  Homes surrounding the proposed project will be negatively 
affected by additional traffic.2.  Lighting and noise during the week and especially during the 
weekends will negatively affect homeowners and wildlife that call Lincolnshire home.. 3. 
Security for honored in surrounding areas.  Wood Creek Courts like all other neighborhood does 
not have sidewalks so people wanting to go for a walk do so in the street. Guests who have been 
drinking at Top golf may find themselves driving into Wood Creek Courts and may put our 
residents in mortal  
danger. 



I sincerely hope the village will not approve this project. 
Margo Tsim 

 

Robert P. Schnell  

I am writing to express my concern about the proposed rezoning of the Hewitt - AON property to 
allow the development of a "Gaming and Entertainment” campus, to include a Top Golf facility 
and a St. James sports and gaming complex. 
 
I understand that this development, which will include sports facilities, the sale of food and 
alcohol, gaming, music and other forms of entertainment is expected to attract as many as 1.9 
million visitors per year.   
 
While there may be tax revenue advantages to this development, the cost to the community in 
general and adjacent residents in particular must also be considered. 
 
Principle areas of concern: 
 
Traffic - will be heaviest in the evening and on weekends impacting family time for all residents 
congestion 
accidents/injuries/fatalities 
Noise pollution - again late into the evening and on weekends 
Light pollution 
Environmental impact 
Visual impact 
Impact on drainage 
Loss of habitat for wildlife 
Loss of woodlands and wetlands 
Impact on property values to adjacent residents 
Cost of additional burden on local police and services  
Potential for increase in crime 
 
I have no doubt that the Village of Rosemont, IL had nothing but the best of intensions when 
they decided to cater to the entertainment and gaming industry some 50 years ago, and I am sure 
they also found the potential increase in tax revenue attractive.   
 
I would not want to see the formerly quiet and largely wooded residential community of 
Lincolnshire forever transformed to the detriment its residents, as Rosemont has been, by the 
blind pursuit of tax revenue. 
 
As a resident of Lincolnshire I respectfully demand that a thorough evaluation of the full impact 
of this proposed zoning change and commercial development, with active involvement of 
residents of the community,  be immediately undertaken before proceeding further. 
 
Sincerely, 



 
Robert P. Schnell 
7 Court of Connecticut River Valley 
Lincolnshire, IL  60069 

Robert Samson 

The proposal for rezoning of the former Hewett Property and the proposed plans for 
redevelopment would be a disaster for Lincolnshire and it's residents. A large amusement 
complex would change the character of the community in a very negative way and adversely 
affect the people nearby. In addition it would cause massive traffic problems on Route 22 if 
only a fraction of the projected users became real. The village infrastructure is inadequate to 
handle such a development. I urge you to vote against any zone change.  

Sandy Simon  
  
I have lived at 7 Court of Tidewater in Lincolnshire for more than 15 years.  I enjoy the quiet, peaceful 
neighborhood of Wood Creek Courts.  I like the idea of the added revenue that a TopGolf can bring the 
Village; however, the proposed spot is right near a residential area.  I have read the complaints of others 
once a TopGolf opened near their neighborhood.  I don't want to have to deal with that on a daily basis.  
Not only with the noise level be a problem, but the lights, crowds and added traffic is a major concern.  
Route 22 already backs up terribly in the late afternoon.  Sometimes the back up is so bad that it effects 
traffic on 94 heading North.  I commute to/from work in Skokie.  I don't want my ride home to get 
longer or unbearable.  Route 22 has already been widened and it can't handle the current traffic.  I urge 
you to consider another location in Lincolnshire that is near an unincorporated area or near a 
commercial business.   If this moves in, we will seriously need to consider moving out.   Would you want 
to live right next to TopGolf?   Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 

Dear Mayor Brandt, 
 
I have lived at 7 Court of Tidewater in Lincolnshire for more than 15 years.  I enjoy the quiet, 
peaceful neighborhood of Wood Creek Courts.  I like the idea of the added revenue that a 
TopGolf can bring the Village; however, the proposed spot is right near a residential area.  I have 
read the complaints of others once a TopGolf opened near their neighborhood.  I don't want to 
have to deal with that on a daily basis.  Not only with the noise level be a problem, but the lights, 
crowds and added traffic is a major concern.  Route 22 already backs up terribly in the late 
afternoon.  Sometimes the back up is so bad that it effects traffic on 94 heading North.  I 
commute to/from work in Skokie.  I don't want my ride home to get longer or unbearable.  Route 
22 has already been widened and it can't handle the current traffic.  I urge you to consider 
another location in Lincolnshire that is near an unincorporated area or near a commercial 
business.   If this moves in, we will seriously need to consider moving out.   Would you want to 
live right next to TopGolf?   Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 

 



John Munsell  

My wife (Pam Munsell) are 39 year residents of Lincolnshire , and we are writing to express our 
strong opposition to the zoning changes involving the Hewitt/Aon property that would facilitate 
rmthe advent of atop Golf in our community. We hope that your concerns of the citizens of your 
community will lead you to seek less intrusive ways of filling the Village’s coffers. Top Golf 
will pose a major disruption to our lives and that of others like us who live anywhere near 
Route  22.. Please, please do not do this. 
 
Respectfully, 
Dr. and  Mrs. John Munsell 

 

 

 

 
 



Mayor Brandt & Lincolnshire Village Board,                                                                                                  February 5, 2018 
 
I am writing this note after several nights of lost sleep, I'll do my best to stay civil, but what can you expect from a man who finds 
his home, his neighbors, and his community under sneak attack. I thought a lack of concern for it's constituents was mostly a 
problem in Washington, or at worst downstate. The whole idea of local government is to protect us, at the city, town, or village 
level, where we can almost know each other. We can CERTAINLY go to the exact spot where a governable action will take 
place, and consider how it's citizens will be effected. 
That could not have been done here, by any sane observer. 
Here is the view from my bedroom window - not magnified or distorted in any way: 

 
 
Hewitt built a beautiful building carefully integrated into the environment, as REQUIRED BY LINCOLNSHIRE, when they were 
doing their job. 
It is virtually invisible in the summer, and not ugly, bright or disruptive in the winter. When it was fully occupied it adds 
significantly, but tolerably to the rather dangerous traffic which was already exacerbated by 22's widening. 
There was an accident with injuries at that light yesterday, a common experience, without bars serving giant drinks in Golf Bags, 
at the corner. 
 
But you want to add this?!!! 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Topgolf is a rowdy night club DISGUISED as a driving range, and not a family oriented experience. 
Depending on your perspective this may be great, but it belongs far from homes - some 20 have a view similar to mine, with 200 
harshly impacted, and several square miles that will hear the noise, or perhaps be killed by lost, drunk drivers. Don't pass on 
their promises without reading all of the reports ... they promised all of the cities that they would comply with regulations, but 
shockingly, that seems to be a problem to achieve. 
  
I don't intend to plead the entire case in this email. I have documents and "8x10 color photographs with circles and arrows and a 
paragraph on the back of each one". 
 
I'm not happy about the zoning being changed in any way ... including your tricky "reclassification" that has already been 
executed. They'll be no midnight votes, or other tricks in this matter, it is far too important for our village and neighborhood. 
 
Half Day Road, named such because it was a 1/2 day's trip from Chicago at that time, has a long and proud tradition of being 
the residential entrance to Lincolnshire. There are very few businesses on route 22, and they only exist at non-residential 
intersections 41, 43, & 21. So after many beautiful trees and their oxygen are destroyed, and the sound of the tollway extends 
another few miles into North Lincolnshire. The first impression a visitor, or the welcome a homeowner views as they near home, 
at the entrance to Lincolnshire will be a noisy neon lit super bar instead of a beautiful wooded office park. There may be little 
demand for offices right now, but that is a cyclical problem just like the schools ... there will come a day when we need more 
offices and children. 
How audacious of you to declare a moratorium on tree replacement after mercilessly fining residents over tree issues for years 
upholding a high environmental standard. I don't remember a vote changing our Tree City USA status. Do you actually 
understand that two mature trees supply a family of 4 their precious oxygen ... do you feel authorized to compromise that? 
 
Believe it or not, I am a practical person, and the highest and best use of the land must consider all land around it - I've been 
here for 25 years ... my house for 40 ... that matters. I came here to retire in peace and quiet. I've paid taxes for Stevenson et 
cetera for 25 years AFTER my daughter graduated from Deerfield. I've lived in Lake county for 62 years ... how about you? 
This project could lower property values by many millions of dollars, reducing property taxes, and offsetting most of any possible 
split sales tax benefit. 
However, empty isn't the best use, so with the right understandings, most of the rest of Glenstar's plans are possible. Answers 
that promise problem fixes won't fly ... problems need to be avoided ... No bright lights, no noise, no DUI's. Topgolf's sole raison 
d'etre is to sell alcohol ... that's easy to prove. Convincing anyone that it belongs with residences on 3 sides is impossible if you 
tell the truth, and we will be there to demand it. 
 
I stopped by to meet with the mayor and found that you don't keep specific hours, so I am requesting that we set up a meeting in 
the next few days. 
 
I would be glad to meet with any and all Lincolnshire board members and staff. 
 
Avoiding facing us directly will just prove you do not understand who you represent. 
 
#HellNo2Topgolf! 
 
Barry May 
SoHoDr@gmail.com 







Screenshots from Recent Facebook Posts – GlenStar Request  

 
  

 





























 

 







 

 

 

 

 
 

  



 

 

 

 



 

 



 



 

 

 



















 
 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-10: OFFICE CAMPUS 
Revised 08/10/2015 Page 1 

TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 10: Office Campus 
 
Sections: 
6-10-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
6-10-2: Uses 
6-10-3: Lot Size 
6-10-4: Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 
6-10-5: Building Setbacks 
6-10-6: Building Height 
6-10-7: Signs 
6-10-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading 
6-10-9: Traffic Impacts 
6-10-10: Landscaping 
 
6-10-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
The OC District is intended primarily to provide large, planned corporate campus sites immediately 
adjacent to interstates or within one thousand five hundred feet (1,500') thereof, for professional 
office campus and headquarters. These developments are to be conceived and implemented as 
comprehensive and unified developments, may contain multiple principal structures on the same lot, 
and shall be designed to achieve the conscientious preservation/enhancement of existing high 
quality natural environment and/or buffering of surrounding residential neighborhoods. 
 
6-10-2: Uses 
Uses permitted in the OC Office Campus District are identified in the table below: 
 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Auxiliary use, subject to the following: 
� Shall be incidental to and to service the principal use or for the convenience of the 

employees, including but not limited to, financial institutions without drive-through 
facilities, pharmacy/drug store, retail sales, cafeteria, and private recreational facility. 

� Shall be located within the principal structure. 
� No exterior display of the auxiliary use shall be permitted. 

P 

Attached or detached structured parking garages (accessory to principal use) P 
Office; business, professional and corporate headquarters P 
Research and development laboratory SU 
 
6-10-3: Lot Size 
A. Lot Area shall not be less than four hundred thousand (400,000) square feet. 
 
B. Lot Width shall not be less than five hundred feet (500'). 
 
6-10-4: Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 
The maximum allowable floor area ratio (FAR), including all accessory buildings, shall be 0.50 of the 
gross lot area. 
 
 

OC 
O F F I C E  C A M P U S  

CURRENT ZONING



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE TITLE 6-10
OC OFFICE CAMPUS

Revised 08/10/2015 Page 2

6-10-5: Building Setbacks 

Front* 
Corner 
Side* Rear* Side* 

150 ft. 100 ft. 100 ft.
100 ft., except when abutting an R1, R2, R2A, and/or 
R3 Zoning District the setback shall not be less than 
150 ft.

*When a required setback abuts an interstate highway, the setback may be reduced to no less than 
50 ft. 

6-10-6: Building Height
A. The maximum building height shall be (5) stories or seventy-five feet (75’), including rooftop 

equipment and screening.

B. The height of attached or detached structured parking garages shall be subordinate to the 
principal structure to which it serves.

6-10-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code.

6-10-8: Off-Street Parking & Loading
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title.

6-10-9:  Traffic Impacts 
Unless the planned office campus will be reusing the existing structures or occupying no greater 
than the existing number of parking spaces, a traffic impact study shall be prepared at the property 
owner/applicant’s expense, analyzing the impacts caused by the planned office campus 
development on the adjacent public roadways and highway systems, including associated traffic 
intersections. In the event the traffic study predicts that the performance of the existing traffic 
infrastructure decreases, the owner/applicant shall proactively mitigate the impacts described in the 
traffic study so that the traffic infrastructure serving the planned office campus, including any new 
improvements, performs no worse than pre-existing conditions.

6-10-10: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code.



 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B: B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

 
TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 
ARTICLE: B, B2 General Business District 
 
Sections: 
6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
6-6B-2: General Requirements 
6-6B-3: Uses 
6-6B-4: Lot Sizes  
6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 
6-6B-6: Building Height  
6-6B-7: Signs 
6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
 
6-6B-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
The intent of the B2 District is to accommodate those uses which require substantial land area, 
are major travel destinations, require substantial support parking and draw their clientele or 
employees from the regional market. Often times such uses require a high degree of access 
and roadside visibility or exposure from major thoroughfares. 
 
As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 
 
6-6B-2: General Requirements 
A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and 

repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed 
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service 
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed. 
 

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with 
a Permitted and/or Special Use and shall be incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

 
C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced on the 

premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise, 
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste. 

 
D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses: 
 

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to 
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title. 
 

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be 
subject to the following restrictions: 

B2 
GENERAL BUSINESS 

PROPOSED ZONING 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B 
  B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
  

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

 
a. Gross Floor Area: A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal 

structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses. 
 

b. Variance: Any request for an increase in the above restrictions shall be subject to 
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title. 

 
6-6B-3: Uses 
Uses permitted in the B2 General Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Any Permitted Use in the B1 Retail Business District P 
Any Special Use in the B1 Retail Business District SU 
Assembly Uses, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Automotive service facility SU 
Bowling alley establishment P 
Colleges, universities, or vocational schools  SU 
Convalescent, sheltered care facilities and group or nursing homes P 
Drinking establishments, including Live Entertainment SU 
Hotels SU 
Motor vehicle sales establishments SU 
Parks and playgrounds P 
Radio and television station, excluding transmission towers SU 
Recreation facility, public or private, as defined in Chapter 2 of this Title SU 
Retail shopping centers P 
Urgent medical care center/clinic SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

 
6-6B-4: Lot Sizes  

Uses 
Minimum 
Lot Area 

Minimum 
Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Automotive service/repair facility 30,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Motor vehicle sales establishment 30,000 sq. ft. 300 ft. 
Planned Unit Developments(PUD) By Village Board By Village Board 
Special Uses, all other 30,000  sq. ft. 200 ft. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6B 
  B2 GENERAL BUSINESS 
  

 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6B-5: Building Setbacks 

Uses Front Side 
Corner 
Side  Rear 

Permitted Uses 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 
Special Uses, all others 50 ft. 20 ft. 50 ft. 25 ft. 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) By Village Board 
 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided within 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 
6-6B-6: Building Height  
In the B2 District no building shall exceed three and one-half (3-1/2) stories or forty two feet 
(42') in height including rooftop equipment. 
 
6-6B-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 
6-6B-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 
 
6-6B-9: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code 
 
 



 
 
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A: B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 1 

 
TITLE: 6 
CHAPTER 6: Business Districts 
ARTICLE: A, B1 Retail Business District 
 
Sections: 
6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations  
6-6A-2: General Requirements  
6-6A-3: Uses  
6-6A-4: Lot Size Requirements  
6-6A-5: Building Setbacks  
6-6A-6: Building Height  
6-6A-7: Signs 
6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
6-6A-9: Landscaping 
 
6-6A-1: Intent and Scope of Regulations 
This District is intended to provide a location suitable to accommodate a combination of retail, 
service and office uses in an intensive commercial core area. Permitted and special uses can 
be placed on relatively small zoning lots reflecting the historic development pattern of Half Day 
Road and to encourage a pedestrian environment in retail shopping areas. 
 
As the village relies almost exclusively on retail sales generated from properties located in the 
village to fund its municipal services, this Article is also intended to regulate the conversion or 
elimination of retail sales establishments through the preservation and enhancement of sales 
tax generating uses, while also working with the property owners to maintain a viable tenant mix 
on various properties within this District. 
 
6-6A-2: General Requirements 
A. Outdoor Business and Storage: All business, service, storage, merchandise display and 

repair processing, where allowed, shall be conducted only within a completely enclosed 
building except for off-street parking, off-street loading, open sales lots, automobile service 
facilities, and drive-thru facilities where such uses are allowed. 
 

B. Production of Goods: The production of any goods on the premises shall be associated with 
a Permitted and/or Special Use and incidental to the principal use, unless otherwise 
specifically provided herein. 

 
C. Performance Criteria: The use of equipment and goods processed or produced in the 

premises shall not be objectionable by reason of odor, dust, smoke, cinders, gas, noise, 
vibration, refuse matter or water-carried waste. 

 
D. Restrictions on Ground Floor Uses: 
 

1. Non-sales tax-generating uses shall be unlimited in structures constructed prior to 
January 1, 1995, subject to Chapter 13, Non-Conforming Buildings & Uses, of this Title. 
 

2. Non-sales tax generating uses in structures constructed after January 1, 1995 shall be 

B1 
RETAIL BUSINESS 

All B1 uses are permitted in B2



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
  

 
 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 2 

subject to the following restrictions:  
 

a. Gross Floor Area:  A maximum 25% of the gross ground floor area per principal 
structure on a zoning lot shall be utilized for non-sales tax generating uses. 
 

b. Variance:  Any request for an increase in the above restriction shall be subject to 
the Variance procedures of Section 6-14-9 of this Title. 

 
6-6A-3: Uses 
Uses permitted in the B1 Retail Business District are identified in the table below: 

Uses 
P = Permitted 
SU = Special Use 

Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through facilities SU 
Banks and financial institutions, without drive-thru facilities P 
Catering establishment SU 
Convenience store P 
Day care center SU 
Day Spa, with massage services  SU 
Day Spa, without massage services P 
Educational institution, private, business, trade school SU 
Food store, including candy/confectionery stores, dairy products and bakeries P 
Funeral home SU 
General retail and services uses P 
Government building (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) SU 
Liquor sales, package only P 
Musical instrument sales and repair, including accessory instruction/lessons P 
Office, business and professional (subject to the regulations of Section 6-6A-2(D)) P 
Personal fitness/instruction studio (yoga, martial arts, dance), not including health 
club/athletic facilities P 

Pet shop, with limited boarding and/or sale of live animals SU 
Physician’s office P 
Planned Unit Development (PUD), as regulated in Section 6-14-12 of this Title SU 
Printing, publishing, blueprinting and photocopying establishments with retail sales only SU 
Repair or servicing of any article, the sale of which is from a permitted use in this District SU 
Restaurants with Live Entertainment SU 
Restaurants, excluding Live Entertainment  P 
Restaurants, Fast Food with drive-thru SU 
Restaurants, Fast Foot without drive-thru facility P 
Retail pharmacy/ drug store, without drive-thru facility P 
Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience store SU 
Any other similar use not specifically permitted in this Chapter, but which has substantially 
similar impacts on public services, traffic, parking and property values as the uses 
expressly permitted herein, is consistent with the trend in development within the District, 
and is complementary to the Village’s reliance on non-property taxes to finance municipal 
operations. 

P 

 



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE  TITLE 6-6A 
  B1 RETAIL BUSINESS 
  

 
 
Revised 12/08/2014 Page 3 

6-6A-4: Lot Sizes  

 Uses 
Minimum 
Lot Area 

Minimum 
Lot Width 

Permitted Uses 15,000  sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Banks and financial institutions, with drive-through 40,000 sq. ft. 150 ft. 
Funeral home 30,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Planned Unit Development By Village Board By Village Board 
Restaurant with Live Entertainment 15,000 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Restaurant, Fast Food with drive-thru facility 45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 
Special Uses, all others 7,500 sq. ft. 100 ft. 
Vehicle Fueling Station, may include convenience 
store 45,000 sq. ft. 200 ft. 

 
6-6A-5: Building Setbacks   

Uses Front Side  
Corner 
Side Rear 

Permitted Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 
Special Uses 10 ft. 8 ft. 10 ft. 15 ft. 
Planned Unit Developments (PUD) By Village Board 

 
Where a side and/or rear yard abuts any residential zoning district, excluding the R5 District, a 
transitional yard measuring twice the minimum yard requirement shall be required. Landscaping 
or fence screening a minimum of seventy-five percent (75%) opacity shall be provided along 
such transitional yards. Transitional yards shall not contain any off-street parking or other 
structures, except driveways, sidewalks, and landscaping. 
 
6-6A-6: Building Height  
In the B1 District no building shall exceed two and one-half (2-1/2) stories or thirty feet (30') in 
height including rooftop equipment. 
 
6-6A-7: Signs 
Signs shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 12 of this Code. 
 
6-6A-8: Off-Street Parking and Loading  
Off-street parking and loading facilities shall be provided as required in Chapter 11 of this Title. 
(Ord. 86-885-22) 

 
6-6A-9: Landscaping 
Landscaping shall be subject to the regulations contained in Title 13 of this Code  
 



25Village of Lincolnshire - Comprehensive Plan

UPDATE
2012 EAST SECTOR

CH

3A

be removed in its entirety to permit the design of
the subdivision and the reconfiguration of these
roadways. The newly created intersection will pro-
vide the improved traffic flow necessary for the
anticipated increase in residential traffic in this area. 

Critical Area 4 (see map on page 24)

Area 4 consists of approximately 38 acres and con-
tains three office buildings and off-street parking
areas for the AonHewitt Half Day Road Campus
located along the north side of Half Day Road,
immediately west of Interstate Tollway 94. The cam-
pus was developed around the environmental
features present in this Area through the preserva-
tion of significant woodlands and incorporation of
required stormwater detention facilities. This plan-
ning area has long served as the Half Day Road
Office Campus for Hewitt Associates, which was
merged with Aon Corporation in 2010 and currently
remains an active center of the restructured
AonHewitt company. Access to the site is maintained
by a divided four-lane entrance/exit from Half Day

Road, directly north of Westminster Way. 

Land Use Recommendation: Professional Office

As the improvements of this planning area consist of
an aging office campus developed under outdated
corporate office design standards, the ability for the
site to sustain its current development design may
not be reasonable in its existing form. In the latter
years of the 2000’s, corporations have streamlined
internal operations and no longer operate under the
surplus employee workforce as was standard prior.
As a result, the overall planning area may be too
expansive for one corporation, current or future,
and future redevelopment of this area may be likely.
The planning area’s proximity to the nearby Tri-State
International Office Center and adjacent Interstate
Tollway 94 could foster future development pressure
for commercial support services based on the high
visibility and traffic generated by the surrounds.
However, the “Professional Office” land use classifi-
cation has been designated for this Critical Area to
reinforce that professional office uses remain as the
most appropriate land use classification for this plan-
ning area. 

Any future redevelopment of this planning area
should continue to be done so in a manner that miti-

gates any impacts on adjacent residential neighbor-
hoods. Critical Area 3 is located to the north and
west of this Area and is classified for future single-
family residential development. Therefore, the dense
woodlands along the perimeter to Area 3 should
remain to provide a naturalized buffer for any such
future residential development. The presence of
wetlands along Half Day Road supports the preser-
vation of the substantial tree coverage along this
frontage and would also continue the semi-rural
character of the Half Day Road corridor. In addition
to the significant tree coverage, the West Fork of the
North Branch of the Chicago River traverses the
eastern boundary of the planning area and develop-
ment is subject to the North Branch Chicago River
Watershed Plan to ensure preservation and restora-
tion of this waterway. Furthermore, the existing
stormwater detention ponds constructed from the
expansion of the AonHewitt Center should be
reconditioned to current Best Management Practices
(BMP’s) and incorporate native plantings to further
retain the natural setting of the campus.

Vehicular access to the site will remain at the current
four-lane entrance to the Area, which provides sig-
nalization from the intersection to Half Day Road.
Due to the recent reconstruction of the Half Day
Road overpass of Interstate Tollway 94 in 2010, the
intersection to this planning area can sustain an
increase in traffic volumes that could be associated

with any potential future office redevelopment.

Critical Area 5 (see map on page 26)

This planning area is composed of approximately 11
acres of land within the Village’s corporate boundary
and is zoned for the single-family residential land
uses of the R-2 and R-3 residential zoning districts in
consideration of the eight single-family homes that
have existed in this area prior to the Village’s annex-
ation of this land area. With some exception, the
majority of the existing residences are characterized
as older rural-remnant structures that do not main-
tain any specific historical architectural significance. 

This Area is nestled between the Tri-State
International Office Center to the north and east,
and the Wood Creek Courts of Lincolnshire residen-
tial community to the west. Access to the site is
provided by Story Book Lane, a partially dedicated

Critical Area 4 (see map on page 24)

Comprehensive Plan 



REZONING  FROM OFFICE 
CAMPUS TO B2 GENERAL 

BUSINESS & 
A SPECIAL USE FOR A PLANNED 

UNIT DEVELOPMENT FOR  
TOPGOLF & ST JAMES 

TOP GOLF &     
ST JAMES  

 

PUD Amendment/Final 
Development Plan/Subdivision:  
 
Village Board   
(no public hearing if consistent 
with Preliminary Development 
Plan) 

Major PUD 
Amendment/Preliminary 

Development Plan/Subdivision:    
 
Development Review Team  
 
Architectural Review Board  
 
Village Board   
(public hearing ) 

OTHER USES   

Major PUD Amendment/ 
Preliminary Development 

Plan/Subdivision:  
 
Preliminary Evaluation  
 
Development Review Team  
 
Architectural Review Board  
 
Village Board   
(public hearing) 
 

PUD Amendment/ 
Final Development 
Plan/Subdivision: 

 
Village Board  
(no public hearing if consistent 
with Preliminary Development 
Plan) 

Subdivision:  
(if separate from PUD) 

 
Zoning Board 
 
Village Board 
(no public hearing) 

Subdivision: 
(if separate from PUD) 

 
Zoning Board 
 
Village Board  
(no public hearing) 

Anticipated Approval Process 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar\2017_12_11_COW_Medline.doc 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
Committee of the Whole 

December 11, 2017 
 

Subject:  Top Golf and The St James - Recreation, Entertainment, Fitness, 
Health & Wellness Complex Proposal, 90, 98 and 100 Half Day 
Road 

Action Requested: Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for a Rezoning from Office 
Campus to B2 General Business District and a Special Use for a 
Planned Unit Development  

Originated By/Contact: Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator  
Department of Community & Economic Development 

Referred To:  Village Board 
Background: 
� GlenStar Properties, a Chicago-based 

development and investment company, 
seeks to rezone the Medline property 
from Office Campus to B2 General 
Business and obtain a Special Use for a 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) for a 
recreation, entertainment, fitness, health 
and wellness complex. The complex will 
house a Topgolf recreation/entertainment 
venue and The St James, a recreation/ 
entertainment, fitness, health and 
wellness center. The request is supported 
by Medline, owner of the property.  
 

� The 43-acre Medline property (90, 98 and 100 Half Day Road) is a key gateway site at the 
intersection of Tri-State Tollway I-94 and Half Day Road, as shown above and on the 
attached location/zoning map. To the north and west, is a 111-acre unincorporated 
Florsheim property which may be available for sale and development in the near future. To 
the east, is Tri-State I-94 Tollway. To the south, is Homewood Suites Hotel (zoned B2 PUD) 
and the Wood Creek Courts residential development (zoned R3 Single-Family Residential 
PUD).  
 

� The Medline property is currently zoned Office Campus suitable for a planned office campus 
only as a primary use. Therefore, a rezoning to B2 General Business is necessary for the 
mix of proposed uses (see attached code sections). The Comprehensive Plan’s 
recommended land use classification for this property is “Professional Office” (see attached). 
The plan contemplates preservation of existing wetlands along Half Day Road and 
landscape buffers along the west side of the property to minimize negative impacts on 
adjacent properties. 
 

� The current property consists of three 2 & 3-story office buildings (plus a facilities 
maintenance building) developed on a dense wooded lot with detention areas (see attached 
current site plan from the listing brochure). The property was developed and annexed into 
the Village in phases in the 1970’s and 1980’s. Two western buildings were most recently 
used by Hewitt & Associates for their corporate headquarters before Hewitt’s merger with 
Aon and subsequent relocation. One of the western buildings currently houses an Aon 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar\2017_12_11_COW_Medline.doc 

Hewitt data center with approximately 10 employees. The third office building is located 
adjacent to the Tollway.  

 
� In January 2015, Medline Industries acquired the property for a new corporate office park to 

accommodate its growth. In 2015, at Medline’s request, the Village rezoned the entire 
property from Planned Development to Office Campus and increased the allowable building 
height from two stories to five stories.  

 
� In October 2015, Medline announced they would not be moving forward with their plans for 

this location and would purchase the former Kraft Heinz site in Northfield which was 
available for immediate occupancy. In early 2016, Medline listed the property for sale. Since 
March 2016, staff has met with several developers interested in acquiring the property for a 
variety of uses, including retail/mixed use, senior housing, apartments, a media production 
center and office. In the course of these various meetings, staff learned about concerns 
regarding an underperforming office market. Medline representatives have indicated they 
have broadened the marketing of the property to a wider variety of uses including retail, 
entertainment, and grocery.  

 
� The proposed development provides an opportunity to redevelop this large vacant property 

in a creative manner with uses having a regional draw, as well as uses often sought after by 
corporations and residents.  
 

Proposal Summary & Staff Comments: 
� Site Layout - The attached site plan depicts the Topgolf building in the northeast corner of 

the property and The St James building in the southwest corner of the property. All parking 
is proposed west of the two facilities. This will minimize the impact of the two facilities on 
any future uses on the adjacent Florsheim property. Detention is shown along Half Day 
Road and the west property line. Existing wetlands along Half Day Road are proposed to 
be preserved. A detailed site plan with setbacks and other site information will be prepared 
for staff analysis after the preliminary evaluation meeting.       
 

� Rezoning/PUD Designation  - The petitioner requests a zoning change from Office Campus 
to B2 PUD. The Zoning Code describes the intent of the B2 District as follows: “The intent of 
the B2 District is to accommodate those uses which require substantial land area, are major 
travel destinations, require substantial support parking and draw their clientele or employees 
from the regional market. Often times such uses require a high degree of access and 
roadside visibility or exposure from major thoroughfares.” The nearest properties with this 
zoning designation are the Homewood Suites Hotel and CDW Center. Staff believes the 
proposed rezoning is appropriate.  

 
If this proposal moves to the next step - the internal Development Review Team review - the 
petitioner will provide detailed zoning information to determine what zoning exceptions will 
be required for the proposed development.  
 

� Topgolf Uses - The attached cover letter details information about Topgolf. Topgolf’s 
operations will include a driving range, restaurants and meeting spaces for private parties. 
The petitioner proposes a 65,000-square-foot, 60’ tall, 3-story building and 175’ tall netting. 
While the building height will require a B2 Code exception as the B2 limit is 42’, it will be 
below the 75’ maximum height the current Office Campus zoning allows (the netting will be 
treated separately). The proposed hours of operation are 9 a.m. to 2 a.m. daily. Access will 
be provided via an existing signalized entrance off Half Day Road. The company will require 
450-550 parking spaces to accommodate a maximum capacity of 1,500 people with 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar\2017_12_11_COW_Medline.doc 

projected 400,000 visits per year. Topgolf will have up to 500 employees. The Code parking 
requirement will be determined once a detailed breakdown of the various uses and building 
area is provided following the preliminary evaluation meeting. This will be the third Topgolf 
location in the Chicagoland area after existing Naperville and Wood Dale facilities. Topgolf is 
proposed to be approved within the PUD as a “public recreation facility” and an “assembly 
use” with accessory uses.   
 

� The St James Uses - The attached cover letter provides details about the proposed St 
James facility and a full list of proposed uses. Some of these uses include an indoor 
aquatics center; fields for soccer, football and other sports; ice rinks; a center for basketball, 
volleyball and other sports; gymnastics, dance; rock climbing walls; a health club, wellness 
center and a spa; fitness training and equipment sales; camps; and a cafe. The facility will 
offer both memberships and fee-based admission to the general public. The 450,000-square 
foot, 75’ tall building will operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week and require 800-1,000 
parking spaces by their internal operations (the code parking requirement will be determined 
once all individual uses/building area within the facility are confirmed). The petitioner 
indicated St James will accommodate up to 1,300 visitors at any given time, with an 
additional 800 guests at special events, such as tournaments and meets. The business 
projects annual visits of 1.5 million. The St James will have up to 400 employees. This will 
be one of The St James’ five new locations nationwide, with the first one under construction 
in Virginia outside Washington D.C. The St James is proposed to be approved within the 
PUD as a “public and private recreation facility,” with accessory uses.  

 
� Tree Preservation - The property is heavily wooded in its current state. The Village has long 

been aware developers would seek flexibility and tree replacement relief for any type of 
commercial development. The petitioner indicated while their intent is to preserve as many 
trees as possible and provide for adequate buffering along the west property line with 
Florsheim, significant tree removals will be necessary for building footprints, parking lots, as 
well as enhanced visibility from the Tollway and Half Day Road. Many of the existing trees 
are either dead or in decline. Staff will work closely with the petitioner regarding this matter.  
 

� Architectural Building Plans - Conceptual building elevations are attached for the Board’s 
review. The petitioner discussed with staff their request to obtain PUD approvals without 
final building elevations to meet their negotiated required property acquisition timeframe with 
Medline. Similar PUD approvals without building elevations were previously granted for the 
Lincolnshire Commons outlot housing a multi-tenant building with Naf Naf, Chipotle and 
Menchie’s (the building was approved together with the overall PUD but was not constructed 
until later). The Village Attorney confirmed this will be acceptable, and the petitioner will 
need to amend the PUD when they are ready to seek approvals for final architectural 
building plans.     

 
� Traffic Impacts - The petitioner will provide a traffic study for the Half Day Road area to 

demonstrate projected traffic generation, road/intersection capacity and other impacts due to 
Topgolf and St James visitor and employee counts. Information on existing traffic counts 
and patterns from the neighboring CDW Office Center and adjacent residential and 
commercial uses will also be included. 

 
� On-Site Detention - GlenStar is in the process of contacting the Lake County Stormwater 

Management Commission (SMC) regarding on-site detention for this development. A 
preliminary SMC approval will be provided after the preliminary evaluation meeting. A formal 
SMC permit or waiver will be required prior to final Village Board review. 

 
Review & Approval Process: 



 

Agenda Item 
      3.11 COW 

 

V:\Subdivisions\Medline_Florsheim\Planning\GlenStar\2017_12_11_COW_Medline.doc 

The Architectural Review Board will review the proposal regarding site layout, parking lot 
design, lighting, landscape screening and signage. The Village Board will consider the ARB’s 
recommendation, hold a Public Hearing regarding the rezoning, as well as a Special Use for 
a PUD and potential zoning exceptions, and make the final determination regarding the 
request. Please note the Zoning Board will not be involved in the review due to a PUD by 
Code. Prior to the ARB review, the Village’s internal Development Review Team will review 
the proposal and generate comments about fire access, circulation, traffic and other items.  
 

Recommendation: 
Preliminary evaluation and referral to the Architectural Review Board for design review. 

 
Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Location/zoning map, prepared by MGP GIS Consortium.  
� Presentation packet, prepared by GlenStar, dated December 7, 2017.  
� B1, B2 Business and Office Campus Code.  
� Comprehensive Plan recommendations for the subject property.  

 
Meeting History 

Committee of the Whole discussion (current)  December 11, 2017 
 



 
 
 
 

O n e  O l d e  H a l f  D a y  R o a d  
L i n c o l n s h i r e ,  I L  6 0 0 6 9  
w w w . l i n co l n s h i re i l . g o v  

2.1
MINUTES

COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING
Monday, December 11, 2017

Present:
Mayor Brandt Trustee Feldman
Trustee Grujanac Trustee Hancock
Trustee McDonough Trustee Servi
Trustee Leider Village Clerk Mastandrea
Village Attorney Simon Village Manager Burke
Finance Director/Treasurer Peterson Public Works Director Woodbury
Chief of Police Leonas Assistant Village Manager/Community &
Economic Development Coordinator Economic Development Director Letendre

Zozulya Assistant Public Works Director/Village Engineer
Dittrich

ROLL CALL
Mayor Brandt called the meeting to order at 7:18 p.m. and Deputy Village Clerk Mastandrea
called the Roll.

2.0 APPROVAL OF MINUTES
2.1 Acceptance of the November 27, 2017 Committee of the Whole Meeting 

Minutes

The minutes of the November 27, 2017 Committee of the Whole Meeting were 
approved as submitted.

3.0 ITEMS OF GENERAL BUSINESS

3.1 Planning, Zoning and Land Use
3.11 Consideration of a Preliminary Evaluation of a Petition for 

Rezoning from Office Campus to B2 General Business District and 
a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development (GlenStar Properties 
– Recreation, Entertainment, Fitness, Health & Wellness Complex –
90, 98, 100 Half Day Road)

Economic Development Coordinator Zozulya introduced the proposed 
petition submitted by GlenStar Properties to rezone the 90,98 and 100 
Half Day Road parcels from Office Campus to B2 General Business
District and a Special Use for a Planned Unit Development. Economic 
Development Coordinator Zozulya noted if the request is received 
favorably by the Board, the project would initially be reviewed by the 
internal Development Team, then proceed through a detailed review by 
the Architectural Review Board (ARB), and finally come back to the 
Village Board for a Public Hearing. 



Page 2
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
December 11, 2017

Mr. Rand Diamond representing GlenStar provided a presentation 
including an overview of GlenStar; proposed concept; development 
plans; site plans; and community benefits which would result from the 
proposed development. 

Trustee Hancock asked what the business model was of the proposed 
St. James recreation facility; would it be membership based or open to 
private clubs. Mr. Diamond noted the recreation facility would be a 
combination of membership and open to the public. 

Mayor Brandt noted possible benefits of the proposed development 
would be the use of the recreation facility by the schools and other 
organizations, tax revenue, and bringing tournaments into the Village to 
benefit the local hotels and restaurants. 

Mayor Brandt stated her request to GlenStar would be to make sure 
there is a minimum of 50’ landscape buffer on the west side and north 
side of the property. Mayor Brandt suggested replacing the Lincolnshire 
sign that was previously removed on Route 22.

Trustee Feldman noted her general support of the proposed 
development. 

Trustee Leider noted his support of the facility and the layout. Trustee 
Leider stated there is a need for this type of facility and such a 
development does not add burden to the schools and brings people into 
the community in a positive way. Trustee Grujanac noted agreement 
with Trustee Leider.  

A brief conversation regarding trees on the sight followed. 

Trustee Hancock asked how the sound and light issues will be 
addressed for nearby residents. Mr. Diamond stated he did not think 
sound would be an issue due to the size of the property and the way the 
golf facility would be located on the site, but noted they would look into 
sound issues and report back. 

Trustee Hancock asked if there would be any outside facility/bar at the 
proposed golf facility. Mr. Diamond stated there is a restaurant 
proposed for the golf facility which would be exposed to the elements,
but there would be no outside bar. 

Mayor Brandt noted if the sale to GlenStar goes through, the Village 
would benefit from the real estate transfer tax.

Trustee Grujanac asked what other types of venues are being sought 
for the property. Mr. Diamond highlighted some of the uses and 
organizations GlenStar is working with on the potential project.

Trustee Hancock asked if the Village Board is approving tenants/uses 



Page 3
MINUTES – Committee of the Whole Meeting
December 11, 2017

at this time, or is this just a concept for rezoning and if the proposed 
tenants fall through, what would that do for the proposal and any 
approvals granted by the Village. Mr. Diamond stated GlenStar is 
looking for a sense of if the Board would desire this concept and noted 
GlenStar is highly confident in the Top Golf deal and very encouraged 
with the health and wellness facility noting they have had a lot of 
interest. Mr. Diamond noted GlenStar is only looking at tenants who fall 
under entertainment, recreation, gaming, and sports. Mr. Diamond 
noted he is confident they will have the tenants secured by the time they 
get to the ARB.

Trustee Hancock asked what other sites, in the area, have been 
considered for this project. Mr. Diamond noted no other sites have been 
considered. 

It was the consensus of the Board to refer this to the Architectural 
Review Board

3.2 Finance and Administration
3.21 Consideration of a Resolution Adopting a Policy Prohibiting 

Sexual Harassment for the Village of Lincolnshire (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

Village Manager Burke provided a summary of the recent law requiring 
local governments to adopt a policy prohibiting Sexual Harassment 
through a resolution. 

It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.3 Public Works
3.31 Consideration and Discussion of the Use of Village Streets by 

District 103 Parent-Teacher Organization for a May 19, 2018 5K 
Walk/Run (District 103 Parent-Teacher Organization)

Public Works Director Woodbury provided a summary of the annual 
request for use of Village streets by District 103 Parent-Teacher 
Organization for a May 19, 2018 5K walk/run. Public Works Director 
Woodbury provided information relative to how this event would be 
communicated to residents.

Trustee Leider suggested using the new digital street sign to alert 
residents of the planned road closure.

It was the consensus of the Board to place this item on the Consent 
Agenda for approval at the next Regular Village Board Meeting.

3.32 Consideration of Easement Agreements for Construction of 
Lincolnshire Creek Drainage Improvements (Village of 
Lincolnshire)



Site Plan

TOPGOLF

THE ST. JAMES

- December 11, 2017 Preliminary Evaluation Meeting



(from Suvills Studley listing brochure)



Agenda Item
3.12 COW

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

February 12, 2018

Subject: Consideration of a Resolution Reallocating 2018 Volume Cap to
the Village of Buffalo Grove, IL (Village of Lincolnshire)

Action Requested: Consideration of Proposed Resolution and Placement on Consent
Agenda for February 26, 2018 Village Board Meeting

Originated
By/Contact:

Adam M. Letendre, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director

Referred To: Village Board

Summary / Background:
For several years, the Village of Lincolnshire has participated in the Lake County Private Activity
Bond Clearinghouse (PABC) to assist in preserving volume cap for Lake County projects.
Board approval allows Lincolnshire to potentially receive revenue from this program, and aids
economic development in Lake County. Lincolnshire’s 2018 allocation is $763,875 based on a
population of 7,275 and a per capita amount of $105.00.

Passing this Resolution allows Lincolnshire to transfer its allocated dollars to Buffalo Grove, who
serves as the regional home rule host community.  Taking this action makes Lincolnshire
eligible to access the capital to finance eligible local projects that may arise.

Attached for Board Review are the draft resolution, the request letter from Lake County Partners
dated January 17, 2018, and the draft letter to the Governor.

Budget Impact:
None

Service Delivery Impact:
None

Recommendation:
Staff respectfully recommends placing the proposed resolution on the February 26, 2018 Village
Board Meeting Consent Agenda for approval.

Reports and Documents Attached:
• Resolution Reallocating 2017 Volume Cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove, IL
• January 17, 2018 Letter from Barbara Prusila at Lake County Partners
• Draft Letter to Governor Rauner Regarding Lincolnshire’s Participation

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 12, 2018
Regular Village Board Meeting: February 26, 2017 (Anticipated)



VILLAGE/CITY OF ____________
RESOLUTION NO. 2018-____

A   RESOLUTION OF THE (Insert Village/City Name), ILLINOIS REALLOCATING 2018
VOLUME CAP TO THE VILLAGE OF BUFFALO GROVE, ILLINOIS.

WHEREAS, the (Insert Village/City Name), Lake County, Illinois the (“Municipality”), is a
municipality and a home rule unit of government duly organized and validly existing under Section 6(a)
of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution and laws of the State of Illinois; and

WHEREAS, certain tax exempt private activity bonds may be issued only if sufficient volume
cap pursuant to Section 146 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), is available
for the bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Code, the Municipality has been allocated volume cap equal to
$105.00 per resident of the Municipality in calendar year 2018, or (Insert allocation amount) for the
issuance of such tax exempt private activity bonds; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Illinois Private Activity Bond
Allocation Act, 30 ILCS 345/1 et seq. (the “Bond Allocation Act”), and the Guidelines and Procedures
promulgated thereunder, the Municipality may, prior to May 1, 2018, reallocate to other home rule units
of government the volume cap allocated to the Municipality by the Code for their issuance of such tax
exempt private activity bonds or for subsequent transfer or reallocation; and

WHEREAS, the Municipality has not used any of its 2018 volume cap and has no present
intention to use the same; and

WHEREAS, the Lake County Partnership for Economic Development, Inc. has offered Lake
County home rule communities the opportunity to participate in a program to combine their respective
volume cap allocations and create a Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse Pool (the “Pool”) to facilitate
the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds to finance manufacturing and multi-family housing
commercial projects in Lake County, Illinois, for economic development purposes (“Eligible Projects”);
and

WHEREAS, the Village of Buffalo Grove, a home rule unit of government (“Buffalo Grove”),
pursuant to its Resolution No. 2001-51 adopted December 17, 2001, agreed to host the Pool and to
reserve its own volume cap, and accept volume cap reallocated to Buffalo Grove by other home rule units
of government, for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds placed through the Pool to finance
Eligible Projects; and

WHEREAS, Buffalo Grove has requested that the Municipality reallocate all of its 2018 volume
cap to Buffalo Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity bonds placed through the
Pool to finance Eligible Projects;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS
FOLLOWS:



SECTION ONE: RECITALS. The foregoing recitals are incorporated in and made a part of
this Resolution by this reference as findings of the (Insert Authorizing Body of Municipality).

SECTION TWO: TRANSFER AND REALLOCATION OF 2018 VOLUME CAP.
Pursuant to Section 6 and Section 6.1 of the Bond Allocation Act and the Guidelines and Procedures
promulgated thereunder, the Municipality irrevocably agrees to, and does hereby, transfer and reallocate
all of its 2018 volume cap to Buffalo Grove to be used for the issuance of tax-exempt private activity
bonds placed through the Pool to finance Eligible Projects as directed by the Advisory Committee created
pursuant to Buffalo Grove Resolution No. 2001-51.

SECTION THREE: AGREEMENT. This Resolution shall constitute the agreement of the
Municipality to a different allocation under Section 146(e) (3) of the Code and the writing required under
Section 6 of the Bond Allocation Act.

SECTION FOUR: WARRANTY. The Municipality covenants and warrants that it has taken
no action or issued bonds that would abrogate, diminish, or impair its ability to fulfill the written
agreement, covenants, and undertakings on its part under this Resolution.

SECTION FIVE: AUTHORIZATION. As required by the Bond Allocation Act and the
Guidelines and Procedures promulgated thereunder, a certified copy of this Resolution shall be
transmitted to the Office of the Governor of the State of Illinois.  Any and all appropriate and proper
officers, officials, agents, and employees of the Municipality are hereby authorized, empowered, and
directed to take all necessary and advisable actions, and to execute all such documents and certificates, as
may be necessary to further the purposes and intent of this Resolution.

SECTION SIX: MAINTAIN RECORD. The Municipality shall maintain a written record of
this Resolution in its records for so long as the bonds to which the volume cap transferred by this
Resolution is reallocated remain outstanding.

SECTION SEVEN: EFFECTIVE DATE. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from
and after its passage and approval as required by law and is enacted by the Municipality pursuant to its
powers under the laws of the State of Illinois and the Illinois Constitution of 1970 and its home rule
powers.

PASSED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2018
AYES:
NAYS:
ABSENT:
PASSED THIS ___ DAY OF ____________, 2018

_______________________________________
(Title of Authorized Municipal Official)

ATTEST:
_____________________________________________
(Title of Authorized Municipal Official)



J a n u a r y  1 7 ,  2 0 1 8  

 

Mr. Brad Burke, Village Manager  
Village of Lincolnshire 
Sent via Email to bburke@lincolnshireil.gov 
 

Dear Mr. Burke,  

I am writing to request your municipality’s participation in Lake County’s Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse 
(PABC) in 2018. Each year, Lake County Partners contacts the home rule communities in Lake County to 
request a pooling together of the volume cap to ensure the best use of our collective private activity bond 
allocation. The PABC cap for each year is transferred to the Village of Buffalo Grove, the Pool’s host home 
rule community. If your municipality is interested in participating, your governing body must approve a resolution and submit it 
to Governor Rauner’s Office before May 1, 2018. A sample resolution is attached for your use.  

Since its inception, the Lake County PABC has funded nearly $200,000,000.00 in local projects, which has 
resulted in the construction of over 360,000 sq. ft. of new manufacturing space, the creation of 648 new 
manufacturing jobs, the renovation of 1,600 multi-family dwelling units, the purchase of an estimated 251 
homes by first-time homebuyers, the expansion of a Montessori School, and the construction of a new solid 
waste disposal cell. 

Please click on the following link to review the: “State of Illinois’ Guidelines and Procedures for the Allocation 
of Private Activity Bonding Authority in Accordance with the Tax Reform Act of 1986 and 30 ILCS 345”. Per 
page 5 of this document, this year’s per capita amount is $105.00, and the population data estimates outlined 
within these guidelines are based on Census information. The population estimate for Village of 
Lincolnshire is 7,275, bringing your municipality’s 2018 allocation to $763,875.00. 

Your municipality’s approval of a resolution to transfer its volume cap to the Village of Buffalo Grove will 
preserve the volume cap in Lake County for a three-year period for the important reasons outlined above. Lake 
County Partners therefore requests that you place a resolution similar to the attached example on your 
Board’s schedule for approval and forward the approved resolution to the attention of the Governor’s 
Office as soon as possible in the manner outlined within page 3 of the above hyperlinked Guidelines 
and Procedures document; please note that all reporting submissions are to be submitted in both hard 
copy and electronic format.  

Please note that I will be out of the office on maternity leave from February through April. Therefore, 
please copy Samantha Espina at sespina@lakecountypartners.com on your Board’s actions and 
subsequent notification to the Governor’s Office, or notify her if your community chooses not to 
participate in this year’s pool so that we may more effectively manage the process next year.  If you 
have any specific questions or concerns regarding during my absence, please feel free to get in touch with 
Samantha directly at 847-597-1222. We appreciate your support and look forward to working with you. 

Sincerely, 

 

 
Barbara C. Prusila  
Economic Development Director
 



REPORT OF ALLOCATION GRANTED
BY HOME-RULE UNITS

February 26, 2018

Office of the Governor
Governor’s Office of Management and Budget
100 W. Randolph Street – Suite 15-100
Chicago, IL.  60601
Attn: Sophia Ronis

ATTENTION: Debt Management Unit

RE: Issuer: Village of Lincolnshire
Total 2018 Volume Cap Allocation $763,875

Volume Cap allocation granted, transferred or reserved by Village of Lincolnshire
Resolution No. _____ prior to May 1, 2017 (Copies of Allocation Resolution attached):

Principal Amount of Issue: $763,875

Bond Description: Private Activity Bond Volume Cap

If allocated to another issuer, state Village of Buffalo Grove, Illinois
Name of issuer

Copies of allocation resolutions or ordinances are attached. (Note: Memorandums of
agreements with business need not be attached.)

Total Allocation Granted or Reallocated $763,875

Sincerely,

Village of Lincolnshire

____________________________________
Elizabeth J. Brandt
Mayor
847-883-8600
mayorbrandt@lincolnshireil.gov



Agenda Item
3.13 COW

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
Committee of the Whole

February 12, 2018

Subject: Consideration of Economic Development Strategic Plan Update –
2018-2022

Action Requested: Discussion & Feedback
Originated By/Contact: Adam M. Letendre, Assistant Village Manager/CED Director

Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator
Referred To: Village Board

Background:
The Village Board adopted the current Economic Development Strategic Plan (Plan) titled
“Building Economic Success” in June of 2013. The Plan consists of 11 goals and 41 action
steps, scheduled for implementation through 2017. It has been updated annually with Village
Board review and input. The most recent update occurred in April of 2017 when the Village
Board directed staff to reduce the number of goals and action steps to make the plan more
focused and to prioritize objectives. Staff presented a consolidated Initial Draft to the Board on
August 28, 2017, and spent the remainder of 2017 gathering resident and business feedback on
the proposed plan.

Public Input:
Staff conducted business and resident surveys from October until December of 2017 which
generated 18 responses from the business community and 109 responses from residents (see
attached). On January 30, 2018, staff held an Informational Meeting and Open House attended
by Village Trustees, representatives of ECD, Buffalo Grove Lincolnshire Chamber of
Commerce, Lake County Partners, Transportation Management Association and the media. The
public comment process was publicized multiple times in the Lincolnshire Business Spotlight
newsletter, e-news, online, and through social media.

Summary of New Plan:
Staff conducted a business survey and resident survey, as well as an Informational Meeting and
Open House for the new plan in December and January, 2017 and 2018 respectively.  Staff
received 18 business responses and 109 resident responses. The plan title has been changed
from “Building Economic Success” to “Growing Economic Success” to reflect an evolving nature
of the Village’s economic development progress. Several Economic Development priorities will
continue in the new document such as business and restaurant retention and recruitment,
Business site visits, Business Spotlight Newsletter, Shop and Dine Guide, and use of social
media.

New action steps are being added based on feedback from residents and businesses, and the
Informational Meeting.  These include:

1) Establish Co-Working Office Space opportunities
2) Seek grant funding opportunities
3) Improve Transportation Access
4) Diversify Special Events
5) Engage Community in Special Events



Agenda Item
3.13 COW

After receiving input from residents and businesses, staff consolidated the 11 goals of the
original plan to 7 goals in the new plan.  These overarching 7 goals contain 31 action steps
total, and are named as follows:

1) Increase Business Support (9 action steps)
2) Enhance Business Communication (4 action steps)
3) Attract New Business (3 action steps)
4) Increase Village Support for and Diversity of Special Events (3 action steps)
5) Facilitate Development/Redevelopment of Vacant and Underutilized Properties (5 action

steps)
6) Enhance Access to and Visibility of Commercial Areas (4 action steps)
7) Implement Economic Development Reporting (3 action steps)

This final draft is for Board review and consideration, once consensus on goals and objectives is
reached, staff will create a matrix for priorities, responsible departments and budgetary
considerations for each year of the plan.

Recommendation:
Staff requests the Board’s review and comments regarding the Final Draft of the 2018-2022
Economic Development Plan. If there are changes, staff will make them and return to the Village
Board.  If the Board finds this document acceptable, staff respectfully request placement on the
February 26, 2018 Consent Agenda for approval.

Reports and Documents Attached:
• Final Draft of 2018-2022 Economic Development Strategic Plan
• Draft Plan Implementation Matrix
• Survey results

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting August 28, 2017
Committee of the Whole Meeting February 12, 2018



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

GROWING ECONOMIC SUCCESS 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Find and grow your space in Lincolnshire! 
 

    

2018-2022 

                          Village of Lincolnshire  
                  Economic Development Strategic Plan 
 
                           Adopted by the Village Board: _____________ 

 



 

 

OVERVIEW 
Lincolnshire, a progressive suburban 
community in southern Lake County, Illinois, is 
an ideal loca�on for  any business to find and 
grow its space. The Village is commi�ed to 
serving the business community and providing 
essen�al elements for business growth and 
success. The Village prides itself on its diverse 
economic base, accessible loca�on, enviable 
ameni�es within the region, and low taxes 
comparable with surrounding communi�es. 
Lincolnshire enjoys high-profile industrial and 
commercial buildings, na�onally-recognized schools, abundant parks and open spaces, all with 
the benefits of a close-knit small-town. Incorporated in 1957, the Village’s permanent 
popula�on of 7,275 grows to approximately 25,000 during the day due to a flourishing 
business community. Today Lincolnshire boasts four corporate/business centers (Lincolnshire 
Corporate Center, Lincolnshire Business Center, CDW Office Center, Millbrook Business 
Center). In addi�on, Lincolnshire is home to four major commercial retail centers (CityPark, 
Lincolnshire Commons, Village Green and Lincolnshire Marketplace ), as well as  a number of 
global corpora�ons (Aon Hewi�, CDW, Zebra Technologies, Sysmex and others), providing a 
broad range of employment opportuni�es and retail and service offerings.  
 
Building upon the previous Economic Development Strategic plans, “Growing Economic 
Success” sets forth our community’s vision, goals and ac�on steps for the Village’s economic 
development efforts and priori�es for the next five years, 2018-2022. The plan was updated 
based on input from approximately 150 businesses and residents obtained via online surveys 
and public  mee�ngs. The Plan was adopted by the Village Board at its ____________, 2018 
mee�ng. The Implementa�on Matrix, incorporated into the Plan, contains 7 Goals and 
____Ac�on Steps and assigns specific implementa�on �meframes, responsible Village 
departments and budget considera�ons. Each year, Village Staff reviews the plan and 
prepares recommenda�ons to the Village Board to evaluate the plan’s effec�veness and make 
adjustments reflec�ve of evolving priori�es, staffing and budget considera�ons.     
 
 

VISION 
The Village of Lincolnshire is a 
progressive community that 

supports its exis�ng businesses 
and is  

commi�ed to diversifying and 
expanding the Village’s  

economic base.  



 

 

�� 30 miles from the Chicago Loop  
�� 65 miles from Milwaukee 
�� 20 miles from Chicago O’Hare Interna�onal Airport  
�� 60 miles from Milwaukee General Mitchell Interna�onal Airport 
�� Under 10 miles from Chicago Execu�ve Airport  in Wheeling, IL  
�� 20 miles from Waukegan Na�onal Airport in Waukegan, IL 
�� Direct access to full interchange at I-94 (Tollway) 
�� Directly served by Rte 22 (Half Day Rd) and Rte 21 (Milwaukee Ave)  
�� Served by several Metra trains  along North Central and Milwaukee District North lines 
�� Served by several PACE bus routes (#272 & 626) and private transporta�on op�ons 
�� Access to College of Lake County and Harper College training/appren�ceship programs 
�� Ac�ve regional economic development and tourism agencies, including Lake County Part-

ners, Buffalo Grove Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce and  Visit Lake County CVB 
 



 

 

 
  GOAL 1: INCREASE BUSINESS SUPPORT  

 
� Increase Cross-Promotion Opportunities. Encourage local businesses, in partnership 
 with the Buffalo Grove Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce, to participate in cross-
 promotional activities, such as weekend golf getaways, “Dinner and a Show”, hotel/day 
 spa packages, etc.  
 
��  Increase Lincolnshire Participation in Visit Lake County Advertising. Explore opportuni-

ties for Visit Lake County’s “cooperative advertising” program to promote Lincolnshire 
regionally.   

 
��  Increase Use of Social Media. Expand social media use across various platforms, includ-

ing Facebook and Twitter, to promote business-related news, announcements and mile-
stones, such as construction updates, grand openings and community-wide events.  

 
��  Update Shop & Dine Guide.  Update guide annually or more frequently as needed. Cus-

tomize for special events. Include a listing of Village-sponsored special events. Expand 
distribution to include residents, hotels, Chamber of Commerce and Visit Lake County.  

 
��  Establish Co-Working Office Space Opportunities. Explore partnerships with School 

Districts 103 and 125, as well as the Vernon Area Public Library District, to identify op-
portunities for sharing Village Hall space with small businesses or community groups in 
need of office space and resources.  

 
�� Create a Fast-Track Permit Process. Investigate fast-track permit reviews for tenant fin-

ishes, temporary signs and special event applications. Launch credit card payments.  
 
�� Review and Update Village Codes. Regularly review  and update Village codes  to facili-

tate business development and growth while maintaining Lincolnshire’s quality develop-
ment and aesthetic standards.  

 
�� Establish Summer Internship Programs. Partner with local businesses, Adlai E. Steven-

son High School and Buffalo Grove Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce and local colleges 
to  develop and implement collaborative programs to establish summer internship op-
portunities for high school students.    

 
�� Develop Workforce Development and Talent Attraction Strategies.   Partner with Lake 

County Workforce Development and Job Center,  Lake County Partners and the Buffalo 
Grove Lincolnshire Chamber of Commerce to assist local businesses in training employ-
ees and attracting new talent.  

 
 
 



 

 

  
GOAL 2: ENHANCE BUSINESS COMMUNICATION  

 
�� Conduct Regular Business Visits and Surveys. Conduct monthly business site visits and 

periodic online surveys to obtain business community feedback about Village amenities, 
services, transportation, and other matters.  

 
��  Publish Business Newsletter. Regularly publish the digital business newsletter regarding 

topics of interest to the business community.   
 
��  Update Business Welcome Packet. Update Village’s business welcome packet and pro-

vide it to new businesses.   
 
�� Establish and Improve Inter-Agency Relations. Establish and improve relations with  

and leverage resources of federal, state and local organizations, including, but not lim-
ited to, Illinois Department of Commerce and Economic Opportunity, Small Business Ad-
ministration, Lake County Partners, College of Lake County, Harper College, Pace,  Trans-
portation Management Association of Lake Cook to assist with economic development, 
training, education, transportation and other forms of business assistance.  

 
  

GOAL 3: ATTRACT NEW BUSINESSES 
 
�� Recruit New Office Users. Actively recruit new office users in partnership with Lake 

County Partners, targeting biopharma, healthcare, medical instrument, professional and 
technology industries, as well as arts, culture and entertainment opportunities to fill of-
fice vacancies and develop vacant sites.  

 
�� Recruit New Commercial Businesses. Attract new chain and independently-owned Mex-

ican, seafood, Italian, Asian, table-service pizza and casual American restaurants,  baker-
ies, coffee shops, liquor stores, indoor children’s entertainment establishments, bou-
tiques, gift shops, art galleries, hardware and small-format department stores.  Prospect 
based upon assessment of market conditions, gaps in products/service offerings, resi-
dent surveys, and daytime population needs.  

 
��  Participate in Trade Shows. Participate in annual International Council of Shopping Cen-

ters (ICSC) Deal Making sessions and other similar opportunities as they arise.  
 
  

GOAL 4: INCREASE VILLAGE SUPPORT FOR AND DIVERSITY OF SPECIAL EVENTS 
 

�� Implement and  Promote Local Community Events. Expand special event promotion 
and information-sharing on the Village website, community events calendar, newsletter, 
kiosk, water bill and social media platforms with enhanced marketing materials. Include 



 

 

Village-sponsored events as well as those sponsored by Visit Lake County, Chamber of 
Commerce and local businesses.  Consider incorporating activities geared toward adults, 
seniors, teens and different demographic groups. Evaluate the feasibility of creating a 
dedicated website for past, current and future special events with information and pho-
tos.   

 
��  Engage Community in Special Events. Engage local community groups, organizations, 

businesses and residents regarding opportunities to organize and implement community 
events. Seek private sponsorships.   

 
��  Create Small Business-Focused Promotional Events. Partner with local shopping center 

owners,  tenants and the Chamber to create “shop local” and extended holiday shop-
ping hour events centered around the National Small Business Saturday, Small Business 
Week and Holiday Tree Lighting.   

 
 

GOAL 5: FACILITATE DEVELOPMENT/REDEVELOPMENT OF VACANT AND  
UNDERUTILIZED PROPERTIES 

 
   

��  Develop and Maintain Broker/Owner Relations. Maintain regular contact with brokers 
and property owners to discuss property status and to provide Village assistance. Host 
industry-focused roundtable discussions as needed.  

 
�� Initiate Dialogue with Property Owners Near Village Boundaries. Maintain regular con-

tact with property owners near Village boundaries to discuss development opportuni-
ties.  

 
�� Be Open to Establishing Improvement Programs. Be open to establishing a Tax Incre-

ment Finance District and/or a Special Service Area or a Business Improvement District 
to facilitate development/redevelopment, infrastructure improvements, marketing and 
special events along the Milwaukee Avenue Corridor and in other strategic locations in 
the Village.  

 
��  Initiate Vacant Storefront Program. Implement Vacant Storefront Program to encour-

age vacant building owners to maintain window displays to include community organiza-
tion information or art displays from local schools.    

 
�� Seek Grant Funding Opportunities.  Research and apply for appropriate grant funding 

for planning studies and infrastructure and streetscape work to facilitate property devel-
opment and redevelopment. 

 
 
 



 

 

GOAL 6: ENHANCE ACCESS TO  AND VIABILITY OF COMMERCIAL AREAS 
 
�� Develop and Implement Wayfinding, Identification & Pedestrian Plan for Downtown. 

Create a comprehensive and consistent Identification & Pedestrian Plan for the Village 
Downtown including: unified signage, lighting, landscaping, street furniture elements, 
and thematic design.  

 
�� Improve Pedestrian/Bicycle Connections. Provide pedestrian/bicycle path connections 

along Milwaukee Avenue and Half Day Road to improve access from residential neigh-
borhoods and corporate centers to hotels, retail centers, restaurants and entertain-
ment venues. Install signage on paths to promote businesses.  

 
�� Improve Transportation Access. Raise awareness about existing public and private 

transportation options in the business community and develop solutions to address 
transportation challenges in partnership with businesses and transportation entities, 
including last-mile connections between train stations and offices.    

 
�� Introduce Public Art.  Evaluate the feasibility of establishing partnerships with local 

artists to add public art to commercial areas.  
 

 GOAL 7: IMPLEMENT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REPORTING 
 

�� Implement Economic Development Reports. Provide reports to the Village Board regard-
ing economic development activities including: business site visits, new business leads, 
vacancies, requests for assistance, and available commercial properties.  

 
��  Maintain Inventory of Vacant Properties and Development Opportunities. Prepare and 

post a quarterly inventory of available properties and sites.  
 

��  Update Daytime Population Data. Update the daytime population database, including all 
 Village-based businesses and schools, every two (2) years. Provide information to brokers 
 and new businesses.  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 

Village Board of Trustees
 Elizabeth Brandt, Mayor 
 Karen Feldman, Trustee 
 Mara Grujanac, Trustee 
  Mark Hancock, Trustee 
  Gerard Leider, Trustee 
  Tom McDonough, Trustee 
  Dan Servi, Trustee 
  Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk 
 

 
 Village Staff 
  Bradly Burke, Village Manager 
  Adam Letendre, Assistant Village Manager/ 
  Director of Community & Economic Develop ment 
  Michael Peterson, Finance Director/Treasurer 
  Bradford Woodbury, Director of Public Works 
  Tonya Zozulya, Economic Development Coordinator  

 
 

 
   
 
 

FIND AND GROW YOUR SPACE IN  
LINCOLNSHIRE! 



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLEMENTATION MATRIX:2018-2022

Last revised: February 2018

CED=Community & Economic Development; PW=Public Works; 
Admin=Administration

$= Under $5K; $$=$5K-$10K; $$$=$10K-$20K; $$$$=Over $20K ONGOING 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Increase cross-promotion opportunities CED X N/A

Increase Lincolnshire participation in Visit Lake County advertising CED X $

Increase use of social media CED; Admin X N/A

Update Shop & Dine Guide CED X N/A

Establish co-working office space opportunities CED X N/A

Create a fast-track permit process CED X N/A

Review and update Village codes CED; All departments X N/A

Establish summer internship programs CED X N/A

Develop worksforce development and talent attraction strategies CED X N/A

Conduct regular business visits and surveys CED X X N/A

Publish business newsletter CED; Admin X N/A

Update business welcome packet CED X N/A

Establish and improve inter-agency relations CED X N/A

Recruit new office users CED X N/A

Recruit new commercial businesses CED X N/A

Participate in trade shows CED X $

Implement and promote local community events CED; Admin X N/A

TIMEFRAME BUDGET 
NEEDED

ENHANCE BUSINESS COMMUNICATION

INCREASE BUSINESS SUPPORT  

RESPONSIBILITY

ATTRACT NEW BUSINESSES

INCREASE VILLAGE SUPPORT FOR AND DIVERSITY OF COMMUNITY EVENTS

Page 1 of 3



ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIC PLAN IMPLEMENTATION MATRIX:2018-2022

Last revised: February 2018

CED=Community & Economic Development; PW=Public Works; 
Admin=Administration

$= Under $5K; $$=$5K-$10K; $$$=$10K-$20K; $$$$=Over $20K ONGOING 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

TIMEFRAME BUDGET 
NEEDED

RESPONSIBILITY

Engage community in special events CED; Admin X N/A

Create small business-focused promotional events CED X N/A

Develop and maintain broker/owner relations CED X N/A

Initiate dialogue with property owners near Village boundaries CED X N/A

Be open to establishing improvement programs CED; Admin; Finance X N/A

Initiate vacant storefront program CED X

Seek grant funding opportunities CED; Admin X N/A

Develop and implement wayfinding, identification and pedestrian plan 
for downtown CED; PW X N/A

Improve pedestrian/bicycle connections PW, CED X N/A

Improve transportation access CED; PW X N/A

Introduce public art CED X N/A

Implement economic development reports CED X N/A

Maintain inventory of vacant properties and development opportunities CED X N/A

Update daytime population data CED X X X N/A

FACILITATE DEVELOPMENT AND REDEVELOPMENT OF VACANT AND UNDERUTILIZED PROPERTIES

IMPLEMENT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT REPORTING

ENHANCE ACCESS TO & VIABILITY OF COMMERCIAL AREAS

Page 2 of 3



























Resident Survey Results 
Below























































Agenda Item
3.21 COW

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION

Subject: An Ordinance Making Appropriations To Defray All Necessary 
Expenses And Liabilities Of The Village Of Lincolnshire, Lake County, 
Illinois For The Fiscal Year 2018.

Action Requested: Review and approval of Appropriations Ordinance

Originated 
By/Contact:

Michael R. Peterson, Finance Director/ Treasurer
Bradly J. Burke, Village Manager

Referred To: Mayor Brandt and Board of Trustees

Summary/ Background:
The annual Appropriation Ordinance must be passed by municipalities with a population under 
500,000 during the first quarter of the fiscal year - 65 ILCS 5/8-2-9. Approval of an 
Appropriation Ordinance is the formal means for authorizing the expenditures of funds in a 
particular fiscal year.

Prior to passage, the Village is required to:
1. Make a copy of the Ordinance available for public inspection in pamphlet form.
2. Publish a Public Hearing legal notice in the local area newspaper at least ten days prior 

to the hearing.
3. Hold a Public Hearing.

Supplemental Information:
The Annual Appropriation Ordinance represents the legal spending limit available to fund items 
included in the 2018 Budget. The proposed 2018 Appropriation Ordinance continues to utilize 
the same format started in 2014. The proposed Ordinance reflects the annual Appropriation at
110% of each department/operating area level. This provides flexibility for Staff and Village 
Officials to allocate expenditures among line items to accommodate price changes and
unexpected expenditures that may occur throughout the year. Additionally, the General Capital 
Fund and Water/ Sewer Improvement Fund are appropriated at 100% of the budget amounts.

As in previous years, in 2017, it was staff’s goal to adhere to the approved budget as opposed 
to the annual appropriation ordinance. This goal was achieved, and it should be noted all
departments/operating areas of the Village finished below budgeted expenditures for Fiscal 
Year 2017. For 2018, the budget will remain the spending plan and objective of the Village staff.

The noteworthy changes to the appropriation include:

01-08-61-4167 General Fund- Community & Economic Development- Professional 
Services Pre-Application Expense: 2018 Original budget $0. This $2,500 item has been 
added to the calculation of the Community & Economic Development department to provide 
expenditure authority for those expenses incurred when working with a potential 
developer/petitioner prior to receiving a formal application and the creation of an escrow 
account to recover third party expenses incurred in the development review process.



Agenda Item
3.21 COW

01-12-61-4099 General Fund - Insurance & Common - Professional Services 
Miscellaneous: 2018 Original budget $0. This $10,000 item has been added to the calculation 
of the Insurance & Common department to provide expenditure authority for Utility Audit 
Services and Benchmarking Cooperative.

18-01-86-9902 Park Development – Rt. 22 Pedestrian Bridge Improvement: 2018 Original
budget $190,000. The 2018 appropriation has been increased to $235,000 for this line item.

Staff will be available at Monday’s meeting to respond to any questions the Village Board may 
have regarding the Appropriations Ordinance or the above mentioned change in expenditures 
for FY2018.

Recommendation:
Conduct Public Hearing on February 12, 2018.

Consideration and Discussion of placing the Appropriations Ordinance on the Consent Agenda 
for Approval at the February 26, 2018 meeting.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Published Legal Notice
Draft  Appropriation Ordinance

Meeting History
Committee of the Whole Meeting: February 12, 2018
Public Hearing: February 12, 2018
Regular Village Board Meeting: February 26, 2018





V:\Shared_Files\Ordinances\2018\2018_02_12_Appropriation.docx

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

ORDINANCE NO. 18-xxx

ANNUAL APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE

AN ORDINANCE MAKING APPROPRIATIONS OF SUMS OF MONEY
FOR ALL THE NECESSARY EXPENDITURES OF THE

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
FOR ALL CORPORATE AND SPECIAL PURPOSES

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2018 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018

Published in Pamphlet Form , January 29, 2018



VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

ORDINANCE NO. 18-xxx

ANNUAL APPROPRIATION ORDINANCE
AN ORDINANCE MAKING APPROPRIATIONS OF SUMS OF MONEY

FOR ALL THE NECESSARY EXPENDITURES OF THE
VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

FOR ALL CORPORATE AND SPECIAL PURPOSES FOR THE FISCAL YEAR
BEGINNING JANUARY 1, 2018 AND ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2018

WHEREAS, a proposed Appropriation Ordinance for the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake 
County, Illinois for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018, upon which this 
Appropriation Ordinance is based, was heretofore duly prepared and has been made 
conveniently available for public inspection by the Corporate Authorities of this 
municipality for at least ten days prior to the public hearing hereinafter mentioned and 
prior to adoption of this ordinance; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was duly held February 12, 2017 in this municipality on 
said proposed ordinance prior to the adoption hereof and notice by publication of the 
time and place of the holding of said public hearing and of the place where copies of the 
proposed Appropriation Ordinance would be accessible for examination, was given at 
least ten days prior to the hearing thereof in the Daily Herald;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND THE BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, as 
follows:

Section 1. Finding Facts. The Corporate Authorities of this municipality hereby find as 
facts all of the matters hereinabove recited in the “WHEREAS” clauses hereof.

Section 2. General Corporate Appropriations. The following sums of money, or as 
much thereof as may be authorized by law, are hereby appropriated for the general 
purposes of the Village of Lincolnshire, Illinois, herein specified for the fiscal year 
commencing on January 1, 2018 and ending December 31, 2018:

GENERAL CORPORATE FUND:

ADMINISTRATION 279,950
FINANCE 303,420
POLICE 1,889,860
COMMUNITY & ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 1,072,820
INSURANCE & COMMON 1,703,620
PUBLIC WORKS: ADMINISTRATION 238,380
STREETS 1,290,880
PARKS & OPEN SPACES 1,417,490
BUILDINGS & GROUNDS 144,430



DEBT & TRANSFERS 1,870,000
TOTAL GENERAL FUND APPROPRIATION $10,210,850

SECTION 3: That there be appropriated for Police Protection Services:

POLICE PROTECTION
01-05-60-1000 Regular Salaries 2,737,680

SECTION 4: That there be appropriated for Police Protection Services:

IMRF CONTRIBUTIONS
01-01-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- Admin 35,130
01-02-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- Finance 40,180
01-05-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- Police 64,420
01-08-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- CED 55,850
01-20-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- PW Admin 27,310
01-21-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- PW Streets 73,060
01-22-70-9101 IMRF Contrib. Exp: Gen- PW Parks Open Space 70,630
TOTAL IMRF CONTRIBUTION APPROPRIATION  $366,580

SECTION 5: That there be appropriated for Police Protection Services:

FICA EXPENSE

01-01-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- Admin 18,210
01-02-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- Finance 20,820
01-05-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- Police 69,880
01-08-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- CED 32,070
01-20-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- PW Admin 14,160
01-21-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- PW Streets 37,870
01-22-70-9200 FICA Expense: Gen- PW Parks Open Space 42,080
TOTAL FICA EXPENSE APPROPRIATION  $235,090

SECTION 6: That there be appropriated from the Water and Sewer Fund:

WATER & SEWER OPERATIONS FUND
Water & Sewer Expenditures 5,043,500
TOTAL WATER & SEWER FUND APPROPRIATION  $5,043,500

SECTION 7: That there be appropriated from the Motor Fuel Tax Fund:

MOTOR FUEL TAX FUND
03-01-80-5009 Infra- Road Resurfacing 192,500
TOTAL MFT APPROPRIATION  $192,500



SECTION 8: That there be appropriated from the Police Pension Fund:

POLICE PENSION FUND
Police Pension Expenditures 1,320,000
TOTAL POLICE PENSION APPROPRIATION $1,320,000

SECTION 9: That there be appropriated from the Water and Sewer Improvements 
Fund:

WATER & SEWER IMPROVEMENTS
W&S Improvement Expenditures 2,007,000
TOTAL W&S IMPROVEMENTS APPROPRIATION $2,007,000

SECTION 10: That there be appropriated from the Fraud, Alcohol, Drug Enforcement 
Fund:

FRAUD, ALCOHOL, DRUG ENFORCEMENT FUND
Fraud, Alcohol, Drug Enforcement Expenditures 66,690
TOTAL FRAUD, ALCOHOL, DRUG ENFORCE APPROPRIATION $66,690

SECTION 11: That there be appropriated from the Vehicle Maintenance Fund:

VEHICLE MAINTENANCE FUND
Vehicle Maintenance Fund Expenditures 524,480
TOTAL VEHICLE MAINT FUND  $524,480

SECTION 12: That there be appropriated from the E911 Fund:

E911 FUND
E911 Expenditures 339,680
TOTAL E911 FUND APPROPRIATION $339,680

SECTION 13: That there be appropriated from the Park Development Funds:

PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND
Park Development Expenditures 972,000
TOTAL SSA 2 PARK DEVELOPMENT FUND APPROPRIATION $972,000

SECTION 14: That there be appropriated from the Sedgebrook SSA Fund:

SEDGEBROOK SSA FUND
20-01-61-4000 Professional Services 19,470
20-01-64-7100 Bond Payment 1,278,750
TOTAL SEDGEBROOK SSA APPROPRIATION $1,298,220



SECTION 15: That there be appropriated from the Traffic Signal SSA Fund:

SSA 2 TRAFFIC SIGNAL FUND
21-01-61-9066 Contract Svc- Signal Maint 5,370
TOTAL SSA 2 TRAFFIC SIGNAL FUND APPROPRIATION $5,370

SECTION 16: That there be appropriated from the General Capital Fund:

GENERAL CAPITAL FUND
General Capital Expenditures 1,980,320
TOTAL GENERAL CAPITAL FUND $1,980,320

SECTION 17: Summary of Appropriation.  That the following is a summary of the 
appropriation hereinbefore provided for:

General Corporate Fund 10,210,850
Police Protection Services 2,737,680
IMRF Contribution Expenses 366,580
FICA Expenses 235,090
Water And Sewer Operations Fund 5,043,500
Motor Fuel Tax Fund 192,500
Police Pension Fund 1,320,000
Water And Sewer Improvements Fund 2,007,000
Fraud, Alcohol, Drug Fund 66,690
Vehicle Maintenance Fund 524,480
E911 Fund 339,680
Park Development 972,000
Sedgebrook SSA Fund 1,298,220
Traffic Signal SSA Fund 5,370
General Capital Fund 1,980,320
TOTAL APPROPRIATION $27,299,960

SECTION 18:
That all the unexpended balances of any item made in this Ordinance be expended in
making up any insufficiency in any item or items in the same general appropriation and
for the same general purpose or in any like appropriation made by this Ordinance.

SECTION 19:
That all unexpended balances of annual appropriations from previous years are hereby 
re-appropriated.

SECTION 20:
This Appropriation Ordinance is adopted pursuant to procedure set forth in the Illinois 
Municipal Code: provided, however, any limitations in the Illinois Municipal code in 



conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance shall not be applicable to this Ordinance 
pursuant to Section 6 of Article V11 of the Constitution of the State of Illinois. This 
Ordinance is enacted pursuant to the Home Rule Powers of the Village of Lincolnshire.

SECTION 21:
That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, approval 
and publication as required by law. 

PASSED by the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire on this __day of 
________, 2018 by a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:  
NAYS:  
ABSENT:  

APPROVED by the Mayor of the Village of Lincolnshire on this __ day of 
________,2018.

_____________________________               
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

ATTEST:

_________________________________
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

February 12, 2018

 
Subject: Text Amendments to Lincolnshire Village Code & Village of 

Lincolnshire Purchasing Policy

Action Requested: 3.22 Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 1
(Administration), Chapter 8 (Village Finances), Article E of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding Bidding Procedures and 
Awarding of Contracts (Village of Lincolnshire) 

3.22 Consideration of Adoption of Village of Lincolnshire 
Procurement Policy (Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated By/Contact: Brad Burke, Village Manager

Referred To: Village Board
 
Summary/Background:
In the fall of 2017, with the approval of Public Act 100-0338, the State legislature updated the 
Illinois Municipal Code to increase the dollar amount for when municipalities are required to 
competitively bid any public project.  With Public Act 100-0338, the State increased the amount 
from $20,000 to $25,000. Title 1, Chapter 8 of the Lincolnshire Village Code details the rules 
and regulation regarding bidding processes and awarding of contracts. The current provisions in 
this section of the Village Code reflect the $20,000 threshold.  Staff recommends updating the 
Village Code to increase the limit to the new statutory limit of $25,000.

Additionally, staff has updated the Village of Lincolnshire Procurement Policy to reflect the 
increased amount required for competitive bidding. The proposed Procurement Policy has also 
been updated to reflect internal procedures developed as a result of the deployment of the new 
enterprise software system. The policy for all purchases can be found below:

Department Managers have the authority to approve all purchases below $1,000.  
Department Managers also have the ability to develop their own internal Departmental
policies and procedures regarding such purchases.

Currently, Village Manager approval is required for all purchases greater than $1,000 but 
less than $20,000. Proposed policy would raise this limit to $25,000.

All purchases in excess of $25,000 would have to be competitively sourced and require 
Village Board approval.

Village Board consideration of the proposed Procurement Policy is also requested.

Agenda Item
3.22 & 3.23

COW



Village staff will be in attendance at Monday’s meeting to answer any questions of the Village 
Board regarding these proposed ordinance changes.

Recommendation: 
Consideration and discussion of proposed ordinance amending Chapter 1 of Title 8 of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code to update the Village’s Bidding Procedures and Awarding of Contracts 
and proposed Village of Lincolnshire Procurement Policy and direct placement on the February
26, 2018 Consent Agenda.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Proposed Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), Chapter 16 of the 
Lincolnshire Village code Regarding the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act 
(Village of Lincolnshire).

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 12, 2018



 

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

ORDINANCE NO. ____________

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING 
TITLE 1 (Administration), CHAPTER 8 (Finances), 

ARTICLE E (Bidding Procedures and Awarding Contracts) 
OF THE VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE MUNICIPAL CODE

                                                                                                                                                       
WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire, an Illinois home rule municipal 

corporation, has the authority to adopt ordinances and promulgate rules and regulations 

that pertain to its government and affairs; and

WHEREAS, the Village hereby finds that it is in the best interest of the Village and 

the public to amend its Village Code to promote the health, safety and welfare of the 

Village; and

WHEREAS, State of Illinois Public Act 100-0339 changed the Illinois Municipal 

Code to increase the threshold for public improvement expenses that triggers 

competitive bidding from $20,000 to $25,000; and

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire’s current limits requiring competitive 

bidding are set at $20,000, and the Village Board desires to increase the limit to mirror 

State law; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of 

the Village Of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, in exercise of its home rule powers, as 

follows:

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The foregoing recitals represent the purpose and intent 

of this Ordinance and as such shall be incorporated as though fully set forth herein. In 

the event of any ambiguity or invalidity regarding the enforcement of this ordinance it is 



 

the intent of the corporate authorities that this ordinance be liberally construed or 

reformed to accomplish the purpose and intent so described.

SECTION 2. AMENDMENTS.

A. Title 1 (Administration), Chapter 8 (Village Finances) of the Village of 

Lincolnshire Municipal Code is hereby amended as set forth below

1. Sections 1-8E-2 and 1-8E-9 are hereby amended by revising or adding 

the following definitions (Additions are described with underline font and 

deletions are shown as strikeout):

1-8E-2: FORMAL CONTRACT
4
:

All work or other public improvement which is not to be paid for in whole 
or in part by special assessment, except as otherwise provided herein, 
when the estimated cost thereof shall exceed twenty-five thousand 
dollars ($25,000.00 $20,000.00), shall be purchased by formal, written 
contract from the lowest responsible bidder, after due notice inviting bids, 
unless competitive bidding is waived by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all 
Trustees then holding office.

All purchases of, and contracts for supplies, materials and services, 
except as otherwise provided herein, when the estimated cost thereof 
shall exceed twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00 $20,000.00) shall 
be purchased by formal written contract from the lowest responsible 
bidder, after due notice inviting bids, unless competitive bidding is waived 
by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the Trustees then holding office. (Ord. 84-
799-13; and Ord. 86-895-32; Ord. 89-1112-79)(Amd. Ord. 08-3071-54,
eff. 12/8/08)
4
See also Section 1-8-4 of this Village Code

1-8E-9: OPEN  MARKET  PROCEDURE:  

All  work  and purchases of supplies, materials and services of less than 
the estimated value of twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000.00
$20,000.00) shall be made in the openmarket, without newspaper



 

advertisement and without observing the procedure prescribed by this 
Chapter for the award of formal contracts. When making such open 
market purchases, and where practicable, the Village must solicit the 
advertised prices of at least three (3) vendors of work, supplies, materials 
or services, as the case may be, before entering into a purchase 
agreement. The Village Board must consider all offers solicited before 
entering into a purchase agreement. The following factors may be 
considered in deciding among the offers: (1) the price of the goods or 
services offered, (2) the quality of the goods or services offered, (3) the 
degree to which the goods or services specifically satisfy Village needs, 
(4) any experience the Village has with the specified vendor, (5) any 
applicable warranties, and (6) any other factors the Village Board 
considers beneficial or detrimental to the Village. (Ord. 89-1112-79) 
(Amd. Ord. 08-3071-54, eff. 12/8/08) All bulk purchases of gasoline 
required for the Village gasoline storage tank located at the public works 
facility shall be made using the open market procedure without 
newspaper advertisement and without observing the procedure 
prescribed by this Chapter for the award of formal contracts, provided 
that each purchase does not exceed ten thousand (10,000) gallons and 
provided that competitive price quotations are obtained for each 
purchase. These purchases shall be made by the Director of Public 
Works with the prior approval of the Village Manager. (Ord. 65-643-27)

SECTION 3. SEVERABILITY.  In the event any of the regulations hereby 

adopted, or any application thereof, is found to be invalid or unenforceable, 

notwithstanding Section 1 of this Ordinance, it is the intent of the Corporate Authorities 

for such provision or application to be severable from the remaining provisions and 

applications of such regulations, and such finding shall not diminish or avoid the 

effectiveness of the remaining provisions or applications.

SECTION 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  The regulations adopted by this Ordinance 

shall become effective in the manner provided by law.

SO ORDAINED this _____Day of __________, 2018, at Lincolnshire, Lake 

County, Illinois. 

AYES: 



 

NAYS:
ABSENT: 

APPROVED:

______________________________
Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

DATE: February 12, 2018

ATTEST:

______________________________
Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk

4824-2099-8492, v.  2



PROCUREMENT POLICY 

Village of Lincolnshire 
One Olde Half Day Road 

Lincolnshire, IL 60069 
www.lincolnshireil.gov 

Adopted: XXX, XX, 2018 
This policy is intended as a general reference and will be revised as policies 

and procedures require revisions or clarification. 



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 2

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

Contents
Purchasing Authority Summary 4
Section 1: General Provisions 5
Purpose 5
Scope 5
Vendor Responsibilities to Village of Lincolnshire 6
Gifts and Favors 6
Payment 6
Binding Effect 6
Purchasing Officer 6
Signing Contracts 7
Tax Exemption 7
Splitting of Purchase or Contract to Avoid Process 7
Conflicts with Other Laws and Requirements; Gifts and Grants 7
Conflicts of Interest 8
Reservation of Rights 8
Accepting Single Quote Received 9
Department Manager Responsibility – W-9 9
Exceptions to Requirements 9
Section 2: Purchasing Cycle 11
The Purchasing Cycle 11
Contracts and Purchase Approval 11
Change Orders and Contract Modifications 12
Re-Bid Required 13
Emergencies 13
Local Consideration 13
Receiving 13
Section 3: Formal Buying – Non-Public Works 13
Purchases in Excess of $25,000 14
Purchases in Excess of $5,000 14
Purchases in Excess of $1,000 but Less Than or Equal to $5,000 14
Section 4: Informal Buying – Non-Public Works 15
Section 5: Bidding Provisions – Public Works 16
Evaluation Criteria 16
Prevailing Wage Act 16
Insurance Requirements 16
Retention of Bids, Quotes, and Proposals 16
Section 6: The Formal Bidding Process – Public Works 17
Section 7: Joint Purchasing 19
Section 8: Requests for Proposals (RFP) and Qualification Based Selection
Procedures

20

Department Recommendation 20
Solicitation and Submission of Proposals 20
Opening of Proposals 21



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 3

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

Evaluation 21
Section 9: Village Credit Card and Accounts 21
Appendix A 23



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 4

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

PURCHASING AUTHORITY SUMMARY
Purchasing Authority Derived from Approved Budget

Informal Buying

Day to Day Purchases
< $1,000

Department Manager sets policy and is responsible 
for approval. Most economical purchase should be
sought.

Public Improvement Projects, Services and Supplies 
Greater than $1,000 to $24,999**

>$1,000 to $5,000
Three Informal Quotes &
Village Manager Approval Required
(Informal quotes: verbal, catalog, internet pricing.)

$5,001 to $24,999 Three Formal Written Quotes &
Village Manager Approval Required

Public Improvement Projects, Services and Supplies 
- Greater $24,999**

Greater than $25,000 Formal Bidding (newspaper notice at least 15
days) and Village Board Approval Required

Contracts

> $1,000 Village Manager Approval and Signature Required

< $1,000 Department Manager May Approve and Sign

Change Orders / Contract Modifications

No More than 5% of Total
Contract Up to $1,000 Department Manager May Approve

No More than 5% of Total
Contract Up to $10,000 Village Manager Approval Required

More than 50% of any 
contract or any material 
subcontract

Change order must be competitively bid

**Expenditures for payments/purchases over $1,000 related to existing contracts, Village ordinance, or 
intergovernmental agreement do not require quotations.  (Types of expenditures not requiring quotations include:
reimbursement for sales tax sharing agreements, liability accounts, service contracts such as refuse hauler, utility 
service.)



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 5

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

SECTION 1: GENERAL PROVISIONS
A. Purpose:

This manual establishes specific orderly procurement policies and procedures to
guide authorized Village of Lincolnshire personnel in the procurement of
construction, repair, and maintenance projects, supplies and services in accordance
with the requirements of state law and the Lincolnshire Village Code, including Title 1 
Administration of the Village Code relating to Mayor & Board of Trustees duties; 
Village Officers & Employees; Village Departments; and Village Finances.

The basic goals of the Village of Lincolnshire procurement program are:

1. To comply with legal requirements of public procurement and purchasing.

2. To assure impartial and equal treatment is afforded to all vendors who wish to do 
business with the Village of Lincolnshire.

3. To receive maximum value for each dollar spent by awarding purchases to the 
lowest responsible bidder, taking into consideration quality, performance, 
technical support, delivery schedule, past performance and other relevant 
factors.

4. To provide the Village of Lincolnshire with required goods, equipment and 
services at the time and place needed and in the proper quantity and quality.

5. To promote good and effective vendor relations, cultivated by informed and fair 
buying practices and strict maintenance of ethical standards.

B. Scope:
This purchasing manual governs all procurements for the Village of Lincolnshire, 
except as otherwise provided by State law or the Lincolnshire Village Code. These
procedures include: who is authorized to approve various procurements, flexible
purchasing, open market purchasing, competitive bidding process, requests for
proposals, qualification based selection, and the general requirements applicable to
all purchases.

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Manual, the general provisions shall
apply to the bidding, award, and performance of all bids, proposals, and quotes
solicited; all contracts entered into; and all purchases and procurements made
pursuant to this Manual.

Any dollar amounts used in this Manual shall be gross (before the deduction for the
value of any trade-in of Village property). The procedures in this Manual are
segregated by the amount and the type of purchase.

This policy is not intended to provide third parties with any specific rights when 
transacting with the Village of Lincolnshire. 



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 6

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

C. Vendor Responsibilities to Village of Lincolnshire
1. Understand the needs of the Village of Lincolnshire and try to find the right product 

at the right price, quality, and quantity that benefits the Village of Lincolnshire as a 
whole.

2. Conduct themselves in a professional and ethical manner: being honest about the 
supplies, services and products they represent and avoiding the appearance of 
impropriety.

3. Honor purchases generated as a result of providing price quotes on specified items 
and quantities.

4. Respond to Bids, Requests for Proposals, and Requests for Qualifications in a 
professional and ethical fashion.  See Appendix A for causes for debarment from 
bidding.

5. Provide all documents required of them by the Village of Lincolnshire including but 
not limited to waivers of lien, insurance documents, W-9 form, bonds as required, 
and certified payroll as required.

D. Gifts and Favors
In accordance with Title 1, Chapter 16 of of the Lincolnshire Village Code, Village of 
Lincolnshire officers and employees shall not solicit, accept or agree to accept any gift 
of any kind from any person or business entity doing business or wishing to do business 
with the Village. A "gift" means any gratuity, discount, entertainment, hospitality, loan, 
forbearance, or other tangible or intangible item having monetary value including, but 
not limited to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements related to 
or attributable to government employment or the official position of an employee. 
Officers and Employees shall comply with the Illinois State Officials and Employees 
Ethics Act at all times.   

E. Payment
The Village of Lincolnshire is bound by the Illinois Local Government Prompt Payment 
Act (50 ILCS 505/1 et seq.) which states how payments are to be made pursuant under 
municipal contracts.  It is important to note all contracts and agreements with Vendors 
reflect these particular payment terms.

F. Binding Effect:
No official or employee of the Village shall enter into or amend any contract, or 
make or cancel any purchase, to which this Manual applies except in strict 
accordance with the provisions of this Manual.

G. Purchasing Officer:
The Village Manager or his/her designee shall serve as the Village of Lincolnshire
Purchasing Officer. The duties and responsibilities of the Purchasing Officer
contained in this Manual are subject to the authority and direction of the Village
Manager. The Village Manager & Purchasing Officer shall develop and maintain a
workable system of centralized purchasing with the responsibility of ensuring the
needs of the Village and its Departments are met through proper and cost effective



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 7

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

purchasing. The Village Manager & Purchasing Officer shall establish purchasing
procedures in accordance with this Manual. The actual responsibility for the
preparation of the annual budget rests with the Village Manager, Finance 
Director/Treasurer, and the individual Department Managers.

H. Signing Contracts:
Subject to budgetary constraints, contracts, accounts payable approval, or other
documents committing the Village shall be signed as follows (electronic 
signature/approval is acceptable):

• Contracts of $1,000 or more shall be submitted to the Village Manager for
approval and signature as required under the procedures of Section 4 of this
manual.

• Contracts below $1,000 may be signed by a Department Managers and
subsequently forwarded to the Village Manager’s office for retention.

I. Tax Exemption:
Village purchases are exempt from State retail/occupation taxes by evidence of
current tax exemption certificate. Village employees shall take the steps necessary to
provide the tax exemption information to vendors so the Village is not charged for
these taxes.  Employees making a reimbursable purchase for the Village have the 
responsibility of providing the retail establishment a copy of the Illinois Department of 
Revenue Exemption Certificate to avoid being charged sales tax.  Sales tax charged is
not considered a reimbursable expense unless the amount is de minimus and 
approved by the Village Manager or Finance Director.   

The Village is also permitted to provide its State Exemption Certificate to contractors 
performing public works projects so that the cost of supplies to be incorporated into the 
project will not include sales tax.

J. Splitting Of Purchase or a Contract to Avoid Process:
Splitting a foreseeable purchase or contract into smaller units or check requests for
the purpose of avoiding any applicable process under this Manual is a violation of
State law, the Lincolnshire Village Code, and Village of Lincolnshire policy.  Such 
actions may result in discipline up to and including termination.

K. Conflicts with other laws and requirements; gifts and grants:
In the event of a conflict between this Manual and the requirements of any Federal
law binding the Village, such Federal shall take precedence. In the event of a 
conflict between this manual and the State law requirements, this manual shall 
take precedence to the full extent of the Village’s home rule power. To the extent
permitted by law, this Manual shall not prevent the Village from complying with the
terms and conditions of any grant, gift, agreement, or bequest.



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 8

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

L. Conflicts of Interest:

No employee, trustee, or appointed official, including the Village Manager, may be in
any way interested directly or indirectly in his or her own name or the name of any
other person, association, trust, or corporation, in any contract with, or the 
performance of any work for, the Village without disclosure.  Such disclosure must be 
provided in writing and directed to the attention of the Village Manager.  For the 
Village Manager, disclosure must be to the Mayor and Village Board of Trustees.  All 
employees, elected and appointed officials, and any spouse of or immediate family
member living with an employee, shall comply with Title 1, Chapter 16 of the Village
Code, titled State Officials & Employees Ethics Act.

Elected officials must also comply with the Section 3.1-55-10 of the Illinois Municipal 
Code (Interest in contracts) and Section 3 of the Public Officers Prohibited Activities 
Act.  Disclosure and recusal may not be sufficient to avoid a conflict under these laws, 
so consultation with the Village Attorney is advised.

M. Reservation of Rights:
The Village reserves the right to:

accept the bid, proposal, or quote that is, in its judgment, the
most favorable and advantageous to the interests of the Village
and its residents;

to accept any item of any bid, proposal, or quote;

to reject any or all bids, proposals, or quotes;

to accept and incorporate corrections, clarifications, or
modifications following the opening of the bids, proposals, or 
quotes when to do so would not, in the Village’s judgment,
prejudice the bidding, proposal, or quoting process or create
any improper advantage to any bidder, proposer, or quoter; and

to waive irregularities and informalities in the bidding, proposal,
or quoting process or in any bid, quote, or proposal submitted; 
provided, however, the waiver of any prior effect or informality
shall not be considered a waiver of any future or similar defects
or informalities, and bidders, proposer, and quoters should not
rely upon, or anticipate, such waivers in submitting their bids,
proposals, or quotes.



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 9

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

N. Accepting Single Quote Received:
When only one quote is submitted, that fact alone shall not prevent the
Village from accepting that quote.

O. Department Manager Responsibility – W-9:
Department Managers or their designee must obtain a current Internal 
Revenue Service (IRS) W-9 Request for Taxpayer Identification Number and 
Certification from new vendors prior to completing a purchase or executing a 
contract and forward documentation to the Finance Department in 
accordance with the Village’s Identity Protection Program.

P. Exceptions to Requirements:
Except when otherwise directed by the Village Manager or the Village Board, the
procedures set forth in Sections 3, 4, 5, and 6 will not apply in the following
circumstances, regardless of the amount of the expenditure:

Specially Authorized Waiver. Contracts for construction, repair, and
maintenance projects, supplies or services authorized by two-thirds of the
Village trustees may be awarded without engaging in the applicable
procedures.

Professional Services. Contracts for professional services which require a
high degree of professional skill where the ability or fitness of the individual
plays an important part shall be awarded in conformance with the Request for
Proposals and Qualification Based Selection Procedures set forth in Section
8.

Emergency Purchases. Procurements or contracts that are necessary in the
case of accident, casualty or natural hazard or other circumstances creating an
emergency where necessary to protect life, the public health and/or safety,
and/or public property, may be entered into by the Village Manager, who shall
follow the Procedures set forth in Section 3 when practicable. All emergency
procurements and contracts involving expenditures of $25,000 or more must be
presented to the Village Board for ratification at the next scheduled Board
meeting. Emergency change orders are subject to Section 2.

Sole Source Purchases. Contracts for construction, repair and maintenance 
projects, supplies or services that are produced or provided by only one
supplier or vendor may be awarded without engaging in Informal Buying,
Formal Buying or Formal Bidding. For this exception to apply, the following
steps must be followed:

(ii) The Department Manager or Village Manager, depending on the level
of expenditure, shall specify such supplier’s or vendor’s make or brand
in an invitation to bid, and shall attempt to obtain competitive bids from
authorized dealers or distributors of such supplier or vendor and, if
possible, directly from such supplier or vendor and the contract for the



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 10

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

construction, repair and maintenance projects, supplies or services
shall be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder.

(ii)     If the Department Manager or Village Manager determines that there is
only one supplier or vendor of the construction, repair, and
maintenance projects, supplies or services the Village requires, the
Department Manager or Village Manager is authorized to negotiate and
to recommend to the Village Manager or Village Board, as applicable,
a contract with such supplier to purchase the construction, repair, and
maintenance projects, supplies or services, at prices or on terms most
advantageous to the Village.

(iii)     In such a case, the Department Manager or Village Manager shall 
document the determination either electronically or in writing that
such supplier is the sole source for such construction, repair, and
maintenance projects, supplies or services. This documentation 
should be included when processing the required check request.

Special Village Requirements Purchases. Contracts for construction, repair, 
and maintenance projects, supplies or services that are produced or provided
by only one supplier or vendor meeting special Village requirements may be
awarded without engaging in Informal Buying, Formal Buying or Formal
Bidding.  (For example, contract for maintenance or repair of specialty pumps 
as part of the water system or for maintenance/support for existing software 
systems.) For this exception to apply, the following steps must followed:

(ii) If the Department Manager or Village Manager determines there is only 
one supplier or vendor that can provide the construction, repair, and
maintenance projects, supplies or services within the special
parameters required by the Village or pursuant to an overall plan for
procurement to achieve improved public service or long term
operational efficiencies for the Village, the Department Managers or
Village Manager is authorized to negotiate and to recommend to the
Village Manager or Village Board, as applicable, a contract with such
supplier to purchase the construction, repair, and maintenance projects,
supplies or services, at prices or on terms most advantageous to the
village.

(ii)     In such a case, the Department Manager or Village Manager shall
make a written determination of the basis for the special Village
parameters or overall plan for procurement to achieve improved
public service or long term operational efficiencies for the Village and
that such supplier is the sole source for such construction, repair, 
and maintenance projects, supplies or services.

Government Joint Purchases. Joint purchasing pursuant to Section 7 of this 
Manual.



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 11

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

Matching Funds. Where a condition of a grant or loan of funds to the
Village requires the Village to provide Village funds as matching funds or
for other purposes related to the grant or loan, the contract funded by the
grant or loan must be approved pursuant to Section 3.

Trade or Professional Organizations, Lobbying Groups and Governmental
Services. Membership in trade or professional organizations, lobbying groups 
and governmental services (e.g., the Northern Illinois Regional Crime Lab, 
Vernon Hills Dispatch Services) are not subject to the Informal Buying, Formal
Buying or Formal Bidding Procedures.

SECTION 2: PURCHASING CYCLE
A. The Purchasing Cycle:

1. Recognize the need
2. Justify the need
3. Budget the funds
4. Initiate procurement for informal purchases or proceed in accordance with the

applicable provisions of this Manual (See Summary Table on page 1)
i. Provide Notice of Prevailing Wage Act, as applicable.  The Prevailing Wage 

Act applies to the first dollar spent on any project to which it applies.
5. Approval and execution of contract documents, when required

i. Acquire IRS Form W-9
6. Purchase the product or service
7. Receive the product or service
8. Inspect the product for any damaged or missing items
9. Enter Check Request and invoice for payment processing into the AP System, 

indicating applicable purchase authority
i. For public works contracts, match the payment request to the progress of the 

work and ensure delivery of certified payrolls as a condition of payment
10. Approve and Issue Payment

Many people become involved through the purchasing cycle. Any employee of the
Village could be the one to recognize the need for a purchase. All Village employees
should look upon themselves as Village purchasers. The Department Manager and
his/her employees, the Village Manager/Purchasing Officer, the Finance Director, and
the Village Board are all involved in the purchasing process. It takes teamwork for
effective and efficient purchasing and evaluation of products or services.

B. Contracts and Purchase Approval:
Unless a purchase of materials, goods, supplies, or services will be documented by
formal contract, written approval for purchase must be obtained in advance of 
procurement from the Village Manager for the following purchases:

• Any purchase in excess of $1,000
• Any capital outlay item
• Any case where the vendor requires a purchase order



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 12

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

Contracts over $1,000 should be in writing, and on forms approved by the
Village Manager where possible; oral contracts for supplies are discouraged
except in emergency situations.  Oral contracts for public works are prohibited.

Requests to purchase materials, goods, supplies, or services over $1,000 are to be
forwarded to the Village Manager who may approve or disapprove the request.
Requests to purchase materials, goods, supplies, or service less than $1,000 are to be 
forwarded to the Department Manager who may approve or disapprove the request. If
denied, the person initiating the request is to be notified as soon as possible with the
reasons for disapproval. Some common reasons for disapproval would be:

• Purchase from an unauthorized source
• Purchase in excess of ordinance amount ($25,000)
• Unbudgeted purchase with no authorization
• No funds available
• State Purchasing or other joint purchasing opportunities available
• Item already in stock/supply
• Purchase is not needed to address organizational demands

C. Change Orders and Contract Modifications:
Department Manager's Authority: Other than Construction - In procurements other 
than for construction, the Department Manager responsible for supervision of any 
contract shall have authority to authorize any change to such contract that, when
added to all other changes to such contract would not exceed $1,000 or increase the
original contract price by more than 5%, whichever amount is less.

Village Manager's Authority.  The Village Manager shall have authority to authorize any
change to a contract that, when added to all other changes to the contract, would not
increase the contract price as authorized by the Village Board by more than 10% or
$25,000, whichever amount is less.

Village Board’s Authority.  The Village Board shall have authority to authorize all 
other changes to contracts.

Necessary Finding. Any change to a contract that, when added to all other changes
to the contract, increases or decreases (a) the original cost of the contract by
$10,000 or more, or (b) the time of completion of the contract by 30 days or more,
shall not be approved without a written determination by the Village Manager and
the Department Manager, that:

(i)      the circumstances said to necessitate the change were not reasonably 
foreseeable at the time the contract was signed; or

(ii)     the change is germane to original contract as signed; or



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 13

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

(iii)     the change is in the best interest of the Village.

Each such change order and each such written determination shall be in a form
approved by the Village Manager and shall be preserved in the contract's file. 720
ILCS 5/33E-9.

D. Re-Bid Required:
Any change order to a public works contract that, when added to all other changes to
the contact, increases the original price of the contract or any subcontract by 50% or
more, shall require the portion covered by the change order to be resubmitted to
bidding or quotes in the same manner as applicable to the original contract or
subcontract. 50 ILCS 525/1 et seq.  Re-bidding is also required in the event the 
anticipated re-bid contract amount is expected to exceed $25,000. 

E. Emergencies:
All emergency change orders must be presented to the Village Manager as soon as
practical, and those requiring Village Board approval must be submitted to the
Village Board for ratification at the next scheduled Village Board meeting.

F. Local Consideration:
Buying should be made through the vendor who offers the best usable product or 
service at the lowest price. With everything else being equal between two or more
possible vendors, the most local vendor shall rate preference.  It may be preferable to
pay a slightly higher price from a local vendor if an item is to be picked up. Travel time
must be considered in the total cost of the item. Traveling a distance for a lesser price
may be more costly in the long run. Furthermore, accepting deliveries should be
paramount over picking up where no delivery charges are involved and there is no
immediate need for the item.

G. Receiving:
When receiving an item purchased, a receipt or packing slip should be obtained and 
paired up with the invoice once it is received and included as part of the Check 
Request. Invoices/Receipts are to be turned in to the Department Manager who is to
assign appropriate account information to the Check Request backup information
and promptly enter the documentation into the Accounts Payable software system 
related to that pay item. Receipts or packing slips must be turned in on all
purchases once goods are received.

SECTION 3: FORMAL BUYING - NON-PUBLIC WORKS

The following outlines the Village’s formal buying requirements and procedures for materials, 
goods, supplies or services.  Unless a purchase of materials, goods, supplies, or services will
be documented by a formal contract, formal buying always requires purchase approval from 
the Village Manager. Formal buying for materials, goods, supplies or services is broken
down into three categories below.  Formal buying requirements may not apply to the 



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 14

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

contracts for professional services or the purchase of information technology systems and 
equipment:

A. Purchases in Excess of $25,000:
All purchases made from one vendor for a particular item or like types of items
exceeding a cost of $25,000 must be accomplished through formal bidding 
procedures or by a bid waiver approved by the Village Board.  This requirement shall 
also apply to multi-year contracts where the sum total of the anticipated purchase is 
expected to exceed $25,000 over the life of the contract.  If any doubt exists as to
whether formal bidding is required, the Village Manager/Purchasing Officer shall be
contacted before any purchase is initiated. Purchases shall not be split into smaller 
units or separate Check Requests for the purpose of avoiding the bidding process.

B. Purchases in Excess of $5,000 but less than or equal to $25,000: 
Purchases in this category do not require the prior approval of the Village Board, but
still fall under the category of formal buying. Formal bidding procedures are not
required, but three (3) formal written quotations are required unless waived by the
Village Manager. Approval of the Village Manager, by email or written signature, is
required before such a purchase can be completed.

Requests for purchases in this category must be sent to the Village Manager/ 
Purchasing Officer. As in the case of formal bidding, the purchase shall be made from
the lowest responsible vendor.  The requirement to purchase from the lowest 
responsible bidder may not apply to contracting for services requiring a high degree of
professional skill where the ability or fitness of the individual plays an important part.
A report on the results of a formal quotation and vendor award recommendation shall 
be forwarded to the Village Manager for approval. This report shall, at minimum,
contain the following information: the process used for solicitation of quotes; the
names and contact information of vendors solicited for quotes; the responses received
from the vendors solicited for quotes; the grounds for selection of the vendor; and 
whether the vendor or staff member are aware of any conflicts of interest or reasons for 
debarment.

Emergency purchases under this category shall be handled by a memorandum to
the Village Manager detailing the emergency and the necessary purchase.

C. Purchases In Excess Of $1,000 But Less Than or Equal To $5,000:
Purchases in this category do not require the prior approval of the Village Board but
are still under the category of formal buying. Formal bidding or formal quotation
procedures are not required. Three (3) informal quotations, such as website, verbal,
or catalog pricing shall be obtained.

Requests for purchases in this category shall be directed to the Village Manager with
a suggested vendor and appropriate supporting documentation to be included with the 
Check Request upon approval. Every effort should be taken to secure at least three
informal quotations before deciding on a suggested vendor. These quotations may be



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 15

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

either written or verbal. The requesting Department should secure the quotations
themselves but may request assistance securing the quotations.

In the event a Department Manager feels a purchase under this category should be 
made from one certain vendor rather than through an informal quotation, a
recommendation to do so is to be emailed to the Village Manager. In most 
instances, the Village Manager shall accept the reasons of the Department Manager
unless the Village Manager can demonstrate otherwise. The Village Manager shall 
provide an electronic response regarding whether or not the purchase is approved, 
and this documentation should be included with the Check Request.

Emergency purchases under this category shall be handled by a memorandum to
the Village Manager detailing the emergency and the necessary purchase.

SECTION 4: INFORMAL BUYING - NON-PUBLIC WORKS

Informal buying can best be described as those day-to-day purchases needed to perform a
job or service. Capital outlay purchases are not included under informal buying. Informal
buying is typically limited to purchases of $1,000 or less. Examples include:

Hand tools
Landscape and garden supplies
Office supplies
Tree maintenance materials
Certain safety equipment
Nuts, bolts, washers, wire, etc.
Ammunition

Department Managers are responsible for purchases made under informal buying. They may
delegate subordinates to make purchases but still bear the responsibility as the purchaser.
Although informal buying may be done without quotes or formal prior approval from the Village 
Manager/Purchasing Manager, the responsibility still exists for making the most economical
purchases and ensuring conformity to the budget. Items purchased via Informal Buying often 
are purchased prior to submittal of a Check Request. Supporting documentation must be 
provided with the submittal of the Check Request.  Spot price checks and surveys should be
made from time to time to ensure the price being paid is the best price available and the
quality is first-rate for the job. The Village Manager/Purchasing Officer should be contacted
for assistance and advice if needed on informal buying.

In addition to the informal buying detailed above, the following purchases/payments may also 
be made without proceeding through formal purchasing procedures.  The list of these 
purchases are outlined in Section 1-8-4, Submission and Payment of Bills, of the Lincolnshire 
Village Code:

a.) Utilities (Natural Gas, Electricity, Internet/Network Services, Telephone) 
b.) Postmaster for Postage 



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 16

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

c.) Governmental Agencies 
d.) Long-Term Debt (Previously Approved by Village Board) 
e.) Refunds 
f.) Insurance Premiums 
g.) Fuel Invoices 
h.) Payroll Processing Services 
i.) Credit Card Payment/Processing Services
j.) Illinois Municipal Retirement Fund/Social Security

SECTION 5: BIDDING PROVISIONS – PUBLIC WORKS
A. Evaluation Criteria:

These criteria may include, but are not limited to compliance of the bid with contract
requirements, price, ability to do the work, bidders’ facilities and equipment, the
bidders’ character, references and reputation, quality of work performed, bidders’ 
default on other obligations to the Village, future maintenance availability, and any
other criteria the Village believes, in its judgment, represents the best and most
favorable to the interest of the Village and its public.

B. Prevailing Wage Act:
This Act requires prevailing wages be paid to all laborers, workers, and
mechanics performing work under the contract. The most recent Village
ordinance adopting prevailing wages shall be attached to the request for bids 
and these contracts, together with the Internet address for the Department of 
Labor webpage where prevailing wages are published.  All contracts should 
include language (see attached) alerting the contractor of the need to follow 
Prevailing Wage requirements and placing responsibility on the contractor to 
determine applicability of prevailing wage laws for the type of work in which 
they are engaged.

C. Insurance Requirements:
Every contractor having any contract with the Village shall be required to maintain
insurance coverage for the duration of their contract, and any warranty periods, equal 
to the requirements described in the Request for Bids. Insurance requirements shall 
be determined by the Village Manager, after consulting with the Finance Director, to
be adequate to protect the interests of the Village. The contractor shall name the
Village as an additional insured in language as specified by the Village’s risk
management administrator or Village Legal Counsel and shall furnish the Village with
satisfactory evidence of said insurance. Such policies shall be in a form, and from
companies, acceptable to the Village Manager. Such insurance shall provide that
any change, modification in, or cancellation of any insurance shall not become
effective until the expiration of 30 days after written notice thereof shall have been
given by the insurance company to the Village.

D. Retention of Bids, Quotes, and Proposals:
All bids, quotes, and proposals of vendors to whom a contract is awarded shall be
retained for longer of: (i) the duration of the procurement, (ii) the life of any bond or 



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 17

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

loan used to finance the project, and (iii) and the applicable statute of limitation for
any claims.  All documents should be saved to the Village’s network location for 
document storage – THE VAULT for document retention purposes. All other bids,
quotes, and proposals shall be retained for the longer of:

a. At least three years following the end of the fiscal year in which received; or

b. Completion of any construction involved in the procurement, except where
otherwise provided by applicable law or policy of the Village

SECTION 6: THE FORMAL BIDDING PROCESS – PUBLIC 
WORKS
Having recognized the need for formal bidding, the following process shall be followed:

1. The requesting Department shall prepare or cause to be prepared the bidding
and contract documents, including without limitation drawings and specifications,
for the item or service to be let for bid along with a list of suggested bidders and
submit them to the Village Manager/Purchasing Officer. The Village 
Manager/Purchasing Officer may assist the Department as needed or requested,
but it is generally held the requesting Department has the best knowledge of what
is needed. Specifications must not be developed in such a manner intended to
specifically exclude a potential bidder on a technicality or developed in such a
manner that only one bidder is possible. Specifications must be broad enough
to invite competition but yet not be so loose as to invite a potentially unqualified
bid on an item or service that is not desired or in the best interest of the Village.
The requesting Department may receive assistance in designing drawings and 
technical specifications from architects, engineers or vendors without such 
assistance resulting in the disqualification of the person providing the assistance.

2. The requesting Department shall arrange the bidding and contract documents,
including without limitation drawings and specifications, into proper format and
prepare the other needed documents to complete the bid package on forms
approved by the Village Manager.  Required documents of a bidding package
are, in the following order:

a. Invitation or Request for Sealed Proposals 
b. Instructions to Bidders
c. Bid Proposal or Combined Contract/Proposal Form
d. Contract – Use Lincolnshire model contract document 
for professional services if applicable
e. Contractor’s Certification Form
f. Drawings
g. Technical Specifications



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 18

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

h. Current Prevailing Wage Ordinance and Wage Rates (for fixed works
construction projects)

i. Required documentation related to Identity Protection and Sexual 
Harassment

Other documents on forms approved by the Village Manager may be beneficial or
required, such as Special Instruction to Bidders, Sworn Acknowledgements and
Work History Statements, Requests for Additional Information, Notice of Award,
Special Conditions and Bond Forms, may be logically interspersed within the
foregoing required documents.

Requests for Proposals must include, but are not limited to:

a. Type of Contract 
b. Selection Criteria 
c. References
d. Due date, time, place, hour
e. Detailed description of the service required

3. The requesting Department shall arrange for a bid opening date with the Village 
Manager/Purchasing Officer.  The date must be at least fifteen (15) days from the
published notification date. All formal bid openings are to be conducted publicly
by the responsible Department Manager and Finance Director or his/her 
designee.

4. The Village Manager/Purchasing Officer may assist the requesting Department
in placing a legal notice concerning the bid in a local newspaper of general
circulation at least fifteen (15) days prior to the bid opening.

5. The requesting Department shall send bid invitation to all known responsible
vendors on the bidders’ list, if any, for the particular item or service as well as
to any other prospective bidders.  In the case where the bid package may be
costly to reproduce, a charge for the package may be assessed.

6. The Village Manager/Purchasing Officer may meet with the requesting
Department to review the bids and mutually agree upon a recommended bidder.
Only the criteria stated in the bid package may be used in determining the
successful bidder.  The bid award must be made to the lowest responsible
bidder or as otherwise specified in the bidding package. The lowest responsible
bidder is the bidder with the lowest price meeting the specifications and any
other criteria that may be set forth within the bid documents.  A bid award
recommendation shall be prepared, and submitted to the Village Manager for the
placement on the next Village Board Agenda for consideration.

7. Following the awarding of a bid by the Village Board, the Village Manager/ 
Purchasing Officer will assist the requesting Department to prepare and send a
completed contract as the case may be to the successful bidder. If the bid was
for several items, materials, or services to be purchased over a period of time,



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 19

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

the Village Manager and Purchasing Officer shall notify the successful bidder by
letter with a copy to the Finance Director with the various delivery dates noted.

8. The cost for preparing any bid or proposal submitted to the Village shall be 
borne solely by the party submitting the bid or proposal.  All bids or proposals 
received by the Village shall become the property of the Village and need not be 
returned to the party which submitted the bid or proposal.

Bids received by way of a facsimile machine or electronic mail are unacceptable. Bids
received after the date and time specified in the invitation or request for proposals are to
be returned unopened to the bidder with a cover letter stating the date and time the “Bid”
was actually received.

SECTION 7: JOINT PURCHASING

Contracts for joint purchasing of construction, repair and maintenance projects, supplies or 
services with one or more governmental units shall conform to the requirements of applicable
law, such as, without limitation, the Governmental Joint Purchasing Act, 30 ILCS 525/0.01 et
seq., and the Intergovernmental Cooperation Act, 5 ILCS 220/1 et seq.  Qualified joint
purchasing contracts may include procurements made through the Northwest Municipal
Conference (Suburban Purchasing Cooperative), the Illinois Park and Recreation
Association Cooperative Purchasing Program, the State of Illinois Department of Central
Management Services, the Municipal Partnering Initiative, Lake County Municipal League, 
County of Lake, National Joint Powers Alliance, and the federal General Services
Administration.  Care should be taken when procuring a public works contract through joint 
purchasing to ensure that the bid process and resulting contract requirements conform to 
State law.

Certain items are annually let for bids by the Procurement Division of the State of Illinois. Any
unit of government in the State may avail themselves of these bid prices. State Purchasing
can be best described as all the governmental bodies of the State of Illinois joining together
for what is essentially a central purchasing system. Purchasing through State Purchasing
satisfies the requirements by local ordinance or State Statute even though the purchases may
be in excess of $25,000. Some of the items that can be purchased through State Purchasing
are:

• Bulk salt
• Air conditioners
• Vehicle batteries
• Automotive belts, hoses, filters, ignition system parts, spark plugs
• Brake fluid
• Communications equipment
• Copiers
• Office furniture
• Office supplies
• Radar units



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 20

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

• Strobe lights
• Tires and tubes
• Vehicles: auto, truck, police
• Water coolers
• Windshield wipers

The Village Manager/Purchasing Officer should always be consulted before entering into
any purchase agreements for these items.

It is incumbent upon all Village employees to consider State Purchasing or other Joint 
Purchasing Opportunities before making any purchases. State Purchasing and other 
qualified Joint Purchasing programs not only satisfies the requirement for bidding but
also satisfies the need for any quotations, saves shopping around, and generally saves
money. Large savings can be realized without sacrificing quality through this mass
purchasing technique. Therefore, State and Joint Purchasing must be a consideration.

Items in excess of $25,000 purchased through the State still require approval by the
Village Board. When items over $25,000 are purchased through a State Purchasing
vendor, the Village Manager/ or Department Manager shall submit a copy to the State of
Illinois Procurement Division as may be required.

It may also be beneficial to the Village to enter into intergovernmental agreements with
other units of local government in securing price quotations and in bid letting. Periodic
checks of what others are paying can indicate whether the Village is receiving a good
price. If a neighboring municipality is contemplating the bidding of a particular item or
service which is also to be bid by the Village of Lincolnshire, the joining of the two or more
municipalities could result in a lower price.

SECTION 8: REQUESTS FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) AND
QUALIFICATION BASED SELECTION PROCEDURES

A. Department Recommendation:
Any contract for professional services, determined by a Department Manager or the
Village Manager to require a high degree of professional skill where the ability or 
fitness of the individual plays an important part, may be awarded to the person or entity
whose proposal for the services is most advantageous to the Village as determined by
the Village Manager or the Village Board.

B. Solicitation and Submission of Proposals:
Proposals for such work may be solicited by a Department Manager or the Village
Manager, depending on the level of expenditure, in the manner determined by the
Department Manager or Village Manager to be efficient for the submission and review
of such proposals.  



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 21

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

C. Opening of Proposals:
The opening of proposals shall not be open to the public to avoid disclosure of
confidential information to competing professionals or firms.  

D. Evaluation
In making such determination, the Village Manager, Department Manager or 
designated Village employee shall consider any evaluation factors that have
been established for the proposals.  Firms should be ranked according to 
qualifications in a cost-blind manner.  The Village will negotiate with the highest 
ranking firm unless a reasonable contract cannot be achieved, in which case the 
Village will move to the next highest ranked firm.

SECTION 9: VILLAGE CREDIT CARD AND ACCOUNTS
The Village credit card is to be used to purchase supplies, materials, conference 
registration, or other items in accordance with the Village of Lincolnshire’s purchasing
and travel policies. The credit card shall be used ONLY with the prior approval of the
Village Manager or Finance Director. Credit cards shall be permitted for use in instances
to make online purchases; to make purchases from vendors who are expected to be
used for only one purchase; when a vendor will not invoice the Village; or when a
conference registration cannot be completed by mail due to the timing of the checks
being approved by the Board.

The liability of the card is with the Village; hence, the card should only be used for
purchases required in the normal course of business. CARD USERS CANNOT USE
THE CREDIT CARD FOR PERSONAL PURCHASES WITH THE INTENT OF 
REIMBURSING THE VILLAGE AT A LATER DATE.

When not in use, the card will be kept in a locked location by the Village Manager.
Department Managers/Administrative Assistants must sign out the card for use. If the
card is lost or stolen, the employee must immediately inform the Finance Director so
the card can be cancelled and a new card issued.

The following is the procedure for use of the Village’s credit card.

1. Before signing out and/or using the Village’s credit card to make a purchase:

A. Prior approval must be obtained from the Department Manager before use.

B. The Department Manager must notify Administration Administrative Assistant 
by email of the use of the card. The subject line of the email authorization 
should state “AMEX CC Authorization.”  The email notification must include 
the reason for the purchase and the amount approved for purchase.

2. All itemized credit card receipts/charge slips should be coded by the Department 
Managers and turned into the Department Administrative Assistant as soon as
possible. By approving the charge the Department Manager confirms the goods and



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 22

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

services purchased via credit card are in conformance with the budget, this policy and
all other Village policies. The staff member making the purchase must provide to the 
department Administrative Assistant for entry into Accounts Payable system the 
following documentation:

A. Copy of the receipt
B. Copy of the approval email
C. Account number to be charged

Failure to comply with these procedures may result revocation of use of credit card and 
disciplinary action up to an including termination. All Village credit accounts shall also be
subject to the requirements of this Section.



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 23

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

Appendix A

Causes for Debarment

The Village Manager may debar a proposer, bidder, vendor, subcontractor, or supplier 
(collectively “Vendor”) for the following:

(1) Conviction of, or civil judgment for,

(a) Commission or attempted commission of fraud or a criminal offense in 
connection with (A) obtaining, (B) attempting to obtain, or (C) performing a 
private or public contract or subcontract.

(b) Violation or attempted violation of Federal or State statutes, or any other legally 
applicable law, regulation, or rule relating to the submission of bids, proposals, 
or claims;

(c) Commission or attempted commission of embezzlement, theft, forgery, bribery, 
falsification or destruction of records, making false statements, tax evasion, or 
receiving stolen property; or

(d) Commission or attempted commission of any other offense, or engaging in or 
attempting to engage in conduct indicating a lack of truthfulness, veracity, or 
honesty which affects the responsibility of the Vendor.

(2) Violation of the terms of a Village contract or subcontract so serious as to justify 
debarment, including but not limited to

(a) Willful failure to perform in accordance with the terms of one or more contracts 
or subcontracts;

(b) A history of failure to perform one or more contracts or subcontracts;

(c) A history of unsatisfactory performance of one or more contracts or 
subcontracts; or

(d) A history of failure to meet prevailing wage obligations, or any other contracting 
or subcontracting obligation imposed by the Lincolnshire Village Code or any 
other law.

(3) Making or attempting or causing to be made or attempting to cause to be made any 
false, deceptive, or fraudulent material statement in any bid, proposal, or application for 
Village of Lincolnshire or any government work or in the performance of any such 
contract for the Village of Lincolnshire or a government agency, or application for any 
permit or license;

(4) Refusal to cooperate with reasonable requests of Village of Lincolnshire inspectors, 
representatives, or other appropriate Village personnel with respect to work under 
contract provisions, plans, or specifications, or otherwise, pursuant to the duties of 
those Village personnel;

(5) Founding, establishing or operating an entity in a manner designed to evade the 
application or defeat the purpose of these rules or any provision of the Lincolnshire 
Village Code, Village rule or regulation, the statutes, rules or regulations of the State of 
Illinois, Lake County, or any federal statute, rule or regulation, or any other legally 
applicable law, regulation, or rule;



Village of Lincolnshire Date Approved: XXXX 2018
Procurement Policy

Page: 24

v:\administration\village manager\finance\purchasing\2018_01_lincolnshire_draft_purchasing_manual_final 4826-3758-6012.docx

(6) Improper conduct, including but not limited to the commission or attempted commission 
of;

(a) intentional or negligent billing irregularities;

(b) submitting false or frivolous or exaggerated claims, documents, or records;

(c) falsification of claims, documents, or records;

(d) willful or grossly negligent destruction of documents or records the Vendor had 
an obligation to maintain;

(e) bribery or coercion of a government official, or other unlawful tampering with a 
government official;

(f) use of false or deceptive statements to obtain some benefit, or causing 
competition to be restrained or limited;

(g) misrepresentation to any governmental agency or government official;

(h) violation of ethical standards established by the Village of Lincolnshire, or other 
dishonesty incident to obtaining, prequalifying for, or performing any contract or 
modification thereof;

(i) violation of ethical standards established by the Village or other dishonesty or 
incident to applying, obtaining, qualifying for, or acquiring any Village of 
Lincolnshire certification, license, or permit;

(7) Any other cause of so serious or compelling a nature that it affects the responsibility of 
the Vendor, including, but not limited to, those specifically enumerated in 65 ILCS 5/8-
10-11.

(8) Debarment by any other government agency.

(9) To the extent not otherwise covered above, a conviction under Section 33E-3 or 33E-4
of the Illinois Criminal Code, 720 ILCS 5/33E-3 or 33E-4, or any other statute which 
results in the automatic disqualification from contracting with a local government.

4826-3758-6012, v.  3



REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

February 12, 2018

 
Subject: Text Amendments to Lincolnshire Village Code

Action Requested: Consideration of an Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), 
Chapter 16 of the Lincolnshire Village Code Regarding the State 
Officials and Employee Ethics Act (Village of Lincolnshire) 

Originated By/Contact: Brad Burke, Village Manager

Referred To: Village Board

 
Summary/Background:
In 2016, an ethics complaint was filed against the Village pursuant to the Village’s ethic 
ordinance found in Chapter 16 of Tile 1 of the Lincolnshire Village Code. The 2016 ethics 
complaints was determined to be unfounded. However, in the process of reviewing and 
responding to the complaint, the Village’s Prosecuting Attorney raised several concern 
regarding the ordinance and recommended they be addressed. Under the current code 
provisions, all ethics complaints are to be filed with the Village Prosecutor. However, this raises 
a concern in the event an ethic complaint is actually determined to be valid. If this happens, the 
Village Prosecutor may then be called upon to represent the Village in court proceeding based 
upon a finding he or she has made.  

Given this concern, as well as concerns regarding the timing for responding to any ethic 
complaint, staff requested Village Attorney Simon review the current provisions in the code and
recommend any changed or updates. The attached ordinance reflects the recommended 
changes to be made to the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act provisions in the 
Lincolnshire Village Code.  

Major changes to the provisions in this section of the code include:

Adding several new definitions to the code including definitions for: Campaign for 
Elective Office, Candidate, Collective Bargaining, Compensated Time, Compensatory 
time Off, Contribution, Leave of Absence, and Political Organization

Clarifications pertaining to restrictions on when officers and employees are permitted to
participate in Political Prohibited Activity.

Clarify that complaints regarding violations of the ethics ordinance should be filed with 
the Village Attorney and not the Village Prosecutor and reflect the Village Attorney’s 
roles/responsibilities in processing such complaints.

Agenda Item
3.24 COW



Village staff and Attorney Simon will be in attendance at Monday’s meeting to answer any 
questions of the Village Board regarding these proposed ordinance changes.

Recommendation: 
Consideration and discussion of proposed ordinance amending Chapter 1 of Title 16 of the 
Lincolnshire Village Code to update the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act and direct 
placement on the February 26, 2018 Consent Agenda.

Reports and Documents Attached:
Proposed Ordinance Amending Title 1 (Administration), Chapter 16 of the 
Lincolnshire Village code Regarding the State Officials and Employees Ethics Act 
(Village of Lincolnshire).

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 12, 2018



1

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE

ORDINANCE NO. 17-

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 1, CHAPTER 16
OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE VILLAGE CODE REGARDING THE STATE OFFICIALS 

AND EMPLOYEE ETHICS ACT

_________________________________________________

WHEREAS, the Village of Lincolnshire (the “Village”), is an Illinois home rule 

municipal corporation organized and operating pursuant to Article VII of the Illinois 

Constitution of 1970; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 70-5 of the State Officials and Employees Ethics 

Act (5 ILCS 430/70-5), the Village has adopted regulations for the political activities of 

officers and employees of the Village, and the soliciting and accepting of gifts by and 

the offering and making of gifts to officers and employees of the Village; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and the Board of Trustees of the Village have determined 

that it is in the best interests of the Village to amend these regulations to include 

additional definitions and to clarify the procedure for handling complaints alleging 

violations of these regulations. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Lincolnshire, in exercise of its home rule authority, as follows:

SECTION 1. RECITALS. The foregoing recitals represent the purpose and intent 

of this Ordinance and as such shall be incorporated as though fully set forth herein. In 

the event of any ambiguity or invalidity regarding the enforcement of this ordinance it is 

the intent of the corporate authorities that this ordinance be liberally construed or 

reformed to accomplish the purpose and intent so described



2

SECTION 2. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 1-16-1. Section 1-16-1 of the 

Lincolnshire Village Code is hereby amended as follows (stricken text removed, bold and 

underlined text added):

1-16-1: INCORPORATION OF STATE LAW:

A. The provisions of Sections 1-5 (5 ILCS 430/1-5)(definitions) and 5-15 (5 
ILCS 430/5-15)(prohibited political activities) and Article 10 (5/ILCS 
430/1010 through10-40)(gift ban) of the State Officials and Employees 
Ethics Act, 5 ILCS 430/1-1 et seq., (hereinafter referred to as the “Act”) are 
hereby adopted by reference and made applicable to the officers and 
employees of this governmental entity to the extent required by 5 ILCS 
430/70-5.

B. Not in limitation of the foregoing, but for the purpose of expressing the 
scope of this Chapter, the following terms have the definitions ascribed 
to them.

CAMPAIGN FOR ELECTIVE OFFICE: any activity in furtherance of an 
effort to influence the selection, nomination, election, or appointment 
of any individual to any federal, State, or local public office or office in 
a political organization, or the selection, nomination, or election of 
Presidential or Vice-Presidential electors, but does not include 
activities (i) relating to the support or opposition of any executive, 
legislative, or administrative action (as those terms are defined in 
Section 2 of the Lobbyist Registration Act), (ii) relating to collective 
bargaining, or (iii) that are otherwise in furtherance of the person's 
official Village duties.

CANDIDATE: a person who has filed nominating papers or petitions 
for nomination or election to an elected office, or who has been 
appointed to fill a vacancy in nomination, and who remains eligible for 
placement on the ballot at either a general primary election or general 
election.

COLLECTIVE BARGAINING: has the same meaning as that term is 
defined in Section 3 of the Illinois Public Labor Relations Act, 
including the bargaining over terms and conditions of employment, 
including hours, wages, and other conditions of employment.  

COMPENSATED TIME: any time worked by or credited to a Village 
employee that counts toward any minimum work time requirement 
imposed as a condition of employment with the Village, but does not 
include any designated holidays or any period when the employee is 



3

on a leave of absence. With respect to officers and employees whose 
hours are not fixed, “compensated time” includes any period of time 
when the officer is on premises under the control of the Village and 
other time when the officer or employee is executing his or her official 
duties, regardless of location. 

COMPENSATORY TIME OFF: any authorized time off earned by or 
awarded to an employee to compensate in whole or in part for time 
worked in excess of the minimum work time required of that employee 
as a condition of his or her employment.

CONTRIBUTION: has the same meaning as that term is defined in 
Section 9-1.4 of the Election Code, including but not limited to a gift, 
subscription, donation, dues, loan, advance, deposit of money, or 
anything of value that constitutes an electioneering communication 
made or received in concert or cooperation with or at the request, 
suggestion, or knowledge of a candidate, a political committee, or any 
of their agents.

EMPLOYEE: 1. Any person employed by the Village, whether full-time, 
part-time, or pursuant to a contract and whose employment duties are 
subject to the direction and control of the Village an employer with regard to 
the material details of how the work is to be performed or 2. Any appointee.

GIFT: Any gratuity, discount, entertainment, hospitality, loan, forbearance, 
or other tangible or intangible item having monetary value including, but not 
limited to, cash, food and drink, and honoraria for speaking engagements 
related to or attributable to government employment or the official position of 
an employee, member, or officer.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE: any period during which a Village employee 
does not receive (i) compensation for employment, (ii) service credit 
towards pension benefits, and (iii) health insurance benefits paid for by 
the Village.

OFFICER: An elected or appointed official of the Village; regardless of 
whether the official is compensated.

POLITICAL: any activity in support of or in connection with any 
campaign for elective office or any political organization, but does not 
include activities (i) relating to the support or opposition of any 
executive, legislative, or administrative action (as those terms are 
defined in Section 2 of the Lobbyist Registration Act), (ii) relating to 
collective bargaining, or (iii) that are otherwise in furtherance of the 
person's official duties or governmental and public service functions.



4

POLITICAL ORGANIZATION: a party, committee, association, fund, or 
other organization (whether or not incorporated) that is required to file 
a statement of organization with the State Board of Elections or a 
county clerk under Section 9-3 of the Election Code, but only with 
regard to those activities that require filing with the State Board of 
Elections or a county clerk.

PROHIBITED SOURCE: Any person or entity who: 

1.Is seeking official action –

a. By the member or officer or

b. In the case of an employee, by the employee or by the member, 
officer or other employee directing the employee;

2.Does business or seeks to do business -

a. With the member or officer or

b. In the case of an employee, with the employee or with the member, 
officer or other employee directing the employee;

3.Conducts activities regulated –

a. By the member or officer or

b. In the case of an employee, by the employee or by the member, officer 
or other employee directing the employee;

4. Has interests that may be substantially affected by the performance or 
non-performance of the official duties of the officer or employee; or

5. is registered or required to be registered with the Secretary of State 
under the Lobbyist Registration Act, except that an entity not otherwise a 
prohibited source does not become a prohibited source merely because 
a registered lobbyist is one of its members or serves on its board of 
directors.

PROHIBITED POLITICAL ACTIVITY:
1. Preparing for, organizing, or participating in any political meeting, political 

rally, political demonstration, or other political event.

2. Soliciting contributions, including but not limited to the purchase of, 
selling, distributing, or receiving payment for tickets for any political 
fundraiser, political meeting, or other political event.



5

3. Soliciting, planning the solicitation of, or preparing any document or 
report regarding anything of value intended as a campaign contribution.

4. Planning, conducting, or participating in a public opinion poll in 
connection with a campaign for elective office or on behalf of a political 
organization for political purposes or for or against any referendum 
question.

5. Surveying or gathering information from potential or actual voters in an 
election to determine probable vote outcome in connection with a 
campaign for elective office or on behalf of a political organization for 
political purposes or for or against any referendum question.

6. Assisting at the polls on Election Day on behalf of any political 
organization or candidate for elective office or for or against any 
referendum question.

7. Soliciting votes on behalf of a candidate for elective office or a political 
organization or for or against any referendum question or helping in an 
effort to get voters to the polls.

8. Initiating for circulation, preparing, circulating, reviewing, or filing any 
petition on behalf of a candidate for elective office or for or against any 
referendum question.

9. Making contributions on behalf of any candidate for elective office in 
that capacity or in connection with a campaign for elective office.

10.Preparing or reviewing responses to candidate questionnaires in 
connection with a campaign for elective office or on behalf of a political 
organization for political purposes.

11.Distributing, preparing for distribution, or mailing campaign literature, 
campaign signs, or other campaign material on behalf of any candidate 
for elective office or for or against any referendum question.

12.Campaigning for any elective office or for or against any referendum 
question.

13.Managing or working on a campaign for elective office or for or against 
any referendum question.

14.Serving as a delegate, alternate, or proxy to a political party convention.

15.Participating in any recount or challenge to the outcome of any election, 
except to the extent that under subsection (d) of Section 6 of Article IV 



6

of the Illinois Constitution each house of the General Assembly shall 
judge the elections, returns, and qualifications of its members

SECTION 3. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 1-16-3. Section 1-16-3 of the 

Lincolnshire Village Code is hereby amended as follows (stricken text removed, bold and 

underlined text added):

1-16-3: POLITICAL PROHIBITED ACTIVITIES: The participation in political 
activities prohibited under the Act by any officer or employee is 
hereby prohibited during any compensated time (other than 
vacation, personal, or compensatory time off). It is the intent of the 
Village that this Section be interpreted no more strictly or liberally 
than the corresponding provisions of the Act.

A.          No officer or employee shall intentionally perform any 
prohibited political activity during any compensated time. No 
officer or employee shall intentionally use any property or 
resources of the Village in connection with any prohibited 
political activity.

B.          At no time shall any officer or employee intentionally require 
any other officer or employee to perform any prohibited 
political activity (i) as part of that employee's duties, (ii) as a 
condition of employment, or (iii) during any compensated time 
off. 

C.          No officer or employee shall be required at any time to 
participate in any prohibited political activity in consideration 
for that officer or employee being awarded any additional 
compensation or any benefit, whether in the form of a salary 
adjustment, bonus, compensatory time off, continued 
employment, or otherwise, nor shall any officer or employee 
be awarded additional compensation or any benefit in 
consideration for the officer's or employee's participation in 
any prohibited political activity. 

D.          Nothing in this Section shall prohibit activities that are 
otherwise permissible for an officer or employee to engage in 
as a part of his or her official or employment duties or 
activities that are undertaken by an officer or employee on a 
voluntary basis as permitted by law. 



7

SECTION 4. AMENDMENT TO SECTION 1-16-4. Section 1-16-4 of the 

Lincolnshire Village Code is hereby amended as follows (stricken text removed, bold and 

underlined text added):

1-16-4: COMPLAINTS; PROCEDURE AND ADMINISTRATION:

A. Complaints alleging a violation of this Ordinance shall be filed with 
the Village ProsecutorAttorney.

B. Within 3 business days after the receipt of a complaint, the Village 
ProsecutorAttorney shall send by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, a notice to the respondent that a complaint has been 
filed against him or her and a copy of the complaint. The Village 
ProsecutorAttorney shall send by certified mail, return receipt 
requested, a confirmation of the receipt of the complaint to the 
complainant within 3 business days after receipt by the Village 
ProsecutorAttorney. The notices to the respondent and the 
complainant shall also advise them of the date, time, and place of 
the meeting to determine the sufficiency of the complaint and to 
establish whether probable cause exists to proceed.

C. Upon not less than 48 hours' public notice, the The Village 
Prosecutor Attorney shall review the sufficiency of the complaint 
and, if the complaint is deemed sufficient to allege a violation of this 
Ordinance, determine whether there is probable cause to proceed. 
The Village ProsecutorAttorney shall issue notice to the 
complainant and the respondent of the Village 
Prosecutor'sAttorney’s ruling on the sufficiency of the complaint 
and, if necessary, on probable cause to proceed within 10 business 
days after receiving the complaint. 

D. In the event the Village ProsecutorAttorney finds the complaint to 
be sufficient and there is probable cause to proceed, the Village 
ProsecutorAttorney will refer the matter to the Village 
Prosecutor or the Lake County State’s Attorney for 
prosecution. shall file a criminal or civil complaint, as applicable, in 
the Circuit Court of Lake County for the adjudication of the alleged 
charges.

E. In lieu of or in addition to filing a complaint as provided for in 
paragraph D, the Village ProsecutorAttorney may file with the 
respondent’s supervisor a recommendation to issue any 
appropriate discipline up to and including discharge; provided the 
Village ProsecutorAttorney may not recommend resignation or 



8

removal of an elected officer. Any discipline provided for under this 
Chapter shall comply with any collective bargaining agreement 
applicable to the respondent.

F. Special Rules for Elections: If a complaint is filed during the 60 
days preceding the date of any election at which the respondent is 
a candidate, the Village ProsecutorAttorney shall render its 
decision as required under subsection (C) within 7 days after the 
complaint is filed, and if during the 7 days preceding that election, 
the Village ProsecutorAttorney shall render such decision before 
the date of that election, if possible.

SECTION 5. Every section and provision of this Ordinance shall be separable, 

and the invalidity of any portion of this Ordinance shall not affect the validity of any other 

portion of this Ordinance.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict or 

inconsistent with any of the provisions of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 

SECTION 6. This Ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage, 

approval, and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 



9

PASSED this ________  day of ___________, 2018, by the Corporate 

Authorities of the Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:        

ABSTAIN:

ABSENT:

APPROVED

Elizabeth J. Brandt, Mayor

ATTEST:

Barbara Mastandrea, Village Clerk

4848-2766-5239, v.  2



Agenda Item
3.25 COW

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
REGULAR VILLAGE BOARD MEETING

February 12, 2018

Subject: Consideration of Appointment of Representatives to North Suburban 
Employee Benefits Cooperative

Action Requested: Consideration of a Resolution Appointing a Representative and 
Alternate to the Governing Board of the North Suburban Employee 
Benefit Cooperative (Village of Lincolnshire)

Originated By/Contact: Brad Burke, Village Manager

Referred To: Village Board

Summary / Background:
The Village of Lincolnshire is a member of the North Suburban Employee Benefits Cooperative 
(NSEBC). The NSEBC is the entity responsible for providing for the cooperative purchase of 
health, dental and life insurance benefits provided to Lincolnshire employees. The NSEBC also 
provides for the joint purchase of Employee Assistance Program (EAP) and annual wellness 
screening services for employees. The NSEBC is governed by a Board of Directors comprised 
of representatives from each participating community/public organization. At their January 2018 
Board meeting, the NSEBC Board voted unanimously to require all member communities have 
a resolution on record identifying the representatives and alternate represented appointed to 
serve on the NSEBC Board. The purpose behind the request is to more formalize/recognize the 
individuals in each member entity who has been given the authority to fulfill the duties and 
responsibilities required for service on the NSEBC Board. These duties include attending all 
NSEBC meetings, voting to approve the annual budget, insurance plan design, service provider 
contracts and agreements related to administration of the insurance pool.

The attached resolution formally identifies Village Manager Brad Burke as the Representative 
and Finance Director/Treasurer Michael Peterson as the Alternate to serve on the NSEBC 
Board. At this time, Village Manager Burke serves at Chair of the NSEBC Board. 

Budget Impact: None. 

Service Delivery Impact: None.

Recommendation: Consideration of proposed resolution appointing representatives and direct 
placement on the Consent Agenda for the February 26, 2018 Village Board meeting.

Reports and Documents Attached: 
Draft Resolution Appointing Representative and Alternate to Governing Board of North 
Suburban Employee Benefit Cooperative

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (RVB): 02/12/2018
Committee of the Whole



9X7740 1

VILLAGE/CITY OF xxxxxxx
RESOLUTION NO. 2017-_

RESOLUTION APPOINTING A REPRESENTATIVE AND ALTERNATE TO
THE GOVERNING BOARD OF THE 

NORTH SUBURBAN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT COOPERATIVE

WHEREAS, Article VII, Section 10 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of 
Illinois and the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act (Illinois Compiled 
Statutes) provide that units of local governments may contract with one another 
to perform any activity authorized by law and with corporations in any manner not 
prohibited by law; and

WHEREAS, said Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act specifically 
provides that units of local government may join together for the purpose of 
establishing self-insurance programs; and

WHEREAS, the Village is a member in good standing of the North 
Suburban Employee Benefit Cooperative (“NSEBC”), a self-insurance program 
formed under the Illinois Intergovernmental Cooperation Act; 

WHEREAS, the Village as a member of the NSEBC is required to appoint 
one Representative and one Alternate to the Board; and 

WHEREAS, the Representative to the Board shall have the authority to 
take actions and cast votes regarding the administration and lawful activities of 
the NSEBC; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Trustees of the Village (“Corporate 
Authorities”) find that the Village Manager has the required qualifications to be 
the Representative to the NSEBC Board for the Village and will fulfill all duties 
and responsibilities of that role; and 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Trustees of the Village (“Corporate 
Authorities”) find that Finance Director/Treasurer, has the required qualifications 
to be the Alternate to the NSEBC Board for the Village in the absence of the 
Representative and will fulfill all duties and responsibilities of that role; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Board of 
Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire, Lake County, Illinois, as follows:

SECTION 1. Then the Preamble to this Resolution is adopted by this 
reference as if fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2. That the Corporate Authorities hereby support and 
consent to the appointment of the Village Manager as Representative to the 
Board of the North Suburban Employee Benefit Cooperative; and 



2

SECTION 3. That the Corporate Authorities hereby support and 
consent to the appointment the Finance Director/Treasurer as Alternate to the 
Board of the North Suburban Employee Benefit Cooperative; and 

SECTION 4. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and 
after its passage, approval and publication in pamphlet form as provided by law.

PASSED this ______ day of ________________, 2018.

AYES:  

NAYS:  

ABSENT:  

APPROVED this ___ day of __________, 2018.

Mayor

ATTEST:

Village Clerk



AGENDA ITEM
3.26 COW

v:\shared_files\cover_sheet\2018\2018_02_12_cow_executive_session_minutes_consideration.doc

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION
COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

February 12, 2018

Subject:
Consideration of a Resolution Approving Closed Session Meeting Minutes
and Authorizing the Village Clerk to Make Certain Closed Session Meeting 
Minutes Available to the Public for Inspection Second Review – 2017 and 
Authorizing the Destruction of Certain Audio Recordings of Closed Session 
Minutes

Action Requested: Consideration of Certain Executive Session Minutes and Direct Placement 
on the February 26, 2018 Regular Village Board Meeting Agenda for 
Approval

Originated By/Contact: Village Manager

Referred To: Village Board
 
Summary / Background:
The Illinois Open Meetings Act requires minutes be kept of all meetings of public bodies, whether open or 
closed (Executive Session). Minutes of closed meetings are required to be made available to the public 
only after the public body determines it is no longer necessary to keep such minutes confidential. In 
accordance with the Open Meetings Act, public bodies are required to review withheld minutes of closed 
meetings on a semi-annual basis. A determination is to be made in open session on the question of 
whether a need for confidentiality still exists with respect to all or part of the Executive Session Minutes 
reviewed.  

The last time Executive Session Minutes were reviewed by the Village Board was August 2017. In order 
to address Executive Session Minutes, the Village Board is requested to consider various minutes as
reflected in the Exhibits to the attached Resolution.  

The process of approving and determining the releasability of closed session minutes ensures the Village 
meets the intent of the Illinois Open Meetings Act. Village Staff and legal counsel will be available to 
respond to questions.  

Budget Impact: None. 

Service Delivery Impact: None.

Recommendation: Consideration of Draft Executive Session Minutes

Reports and Documents Attached:
Draft Resolution Approving Certain Executive Session Minutes and Authorizing Destruction of 
Certain Audio Recordings

Executive Session Minutes for Review: August 7, 2017 and September 11, 2017
 

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): 02/12/2017
Regular Village Board Meeting:



RESOLUTION NO. ____

A RESOLUTION APPROVING CERTAIN CLOSED SESSION MEETING MINUTES AND 
AUTHORIZING THE VILLAGE CLERK TO MAKE CERTAIN CLOSED SESSION 
MEETING MINUTES AVAILABLE FOR PUBLIC INSPECTION SECOND REVIEW - 2017
AND AUTHORIZING THE DESTRUCTION OF CERTAIN AUDIO RECORDINGS 

OF CLOSED SESSION MINUTES

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire have met from time 
to time in Executive Session for purposes authorized by the Illinois Open Meetings Act (the 
"Act"); and

WHEREAS, as required by the Act, the Village Clerk has kept written minutes of all 
such executive sessions; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2.06 (d), the Board of Trustees have reviewed 
closed session minutes; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees have determined that the attached list of minutes 
identified in Exhibit A are complete, accurate and shall be approved; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Trustees have determined that the attached list of minutes 
identified as Exhibit B no longer require confidential treatment and should be made 
available for public inspection; and

WHEREAS, the Open Meetings Act requires governmental bodies to audio or video 
record their closed meetings; and

WHEREAS, this governmental body has complied with that requirement; and

WHEREAS, for the verbatim record by audio tape of the closed session portion of 
the meetings set forth in Section 2 of this Resolution, at least eighteen (18) months have 
passed since the completion of those meetings, and this governmental body has approved 
written minutes for each of the closed session portions of the meetings set forth in Section 
2;   

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE MAYOR AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF LINCOLNSHIRE, LAKE COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1: Based upon the statements made in the preamble to this Resolution: (a) 
the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire hereby approve the minutes of the 
closed meetings listed on Exhibit A, and (b) the Board of Trustees of the Village of 
Lincolnshire hereby finds that the minutes of the closed meetings listed on Exhibit B are 
no longer necessary to keep confidential and order their release for public review, 
inspection and copying.



Section 2: Based upon the statements made in the preamble to this Resolution, 
the Board of Trustees of the Village of Lincolnshire hereby order the destruction of the 
verbatim record, such being an audio tape, of the closed session portions of all meetings 
which took place prior to June 2016.

Section 3: This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its 
adoption as provided by law.

ADOPTED this ______ day of _______ pursuant to a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:
NAYS:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:

_________________________________
Mayor Elizabeth J. Brandt

ATTEST:

_____________________________________
Village Clerk Barbara Mastandrea



Exhibit A

The following meeting minutes are approved:

August 7, 2017

September 11, 2017



Exhibit B

The Following Meeting Minutes for Release:

None







Item Description Quantity UM Price Extension

1415-30000 Solar Message Board, 48"H x 96"W, Basic Model 
SMC 4000 Mini Message Center Trailer,850 lbs

1 EA 14,962.50 $14,962.50

***Options***
116442 Hand Held Controller,NTCIP Compliant,Includes: 

Multi Controller and CPU 5M for message trailers
1 EA 1,424.05 $1,424.05

1415-05523 Radar Option For Message Boards (1415) For 
use  with all Message Boards,Without Data

1 EA 1,377.50 $1,377.50

1415-05550 Pintle Ball Hitch Combination.  Accessories for
item #'s 1415-05330 & 1415-2000 only 

1 EA 285.00 $285.00

1415-05532 Extra Battery Option for use with all (1415)
Message Boards 

1 EA 375.25 $375.25

1415-04965 Hydraulic Pump with Hand Pump Accessory
Option for all Message Boards (1415) 

1 EA 237.50 $237.50

TAPCO US Communities Contract # 2013-100 

Thank you! - Rich Brown 
#414-292-6606
richard.brown@tapconet.com

$18,661.80$0.00$18,661.80

TotalTaxFreightMerchandise

$0.00

Shipment within
Acceptance By

By
Date

For terms and conditions, please visit: http://www.tapconet.com/terms-and-conditions

Page
Date
Number

SALES QUOTE

Q1719729

USA
Lincolnshire, IL  60069
1 Olde Half Day Road
Joshua Markham
Village of Lincolnshire

USA
Lincolnshire, IL  60069
1 Olde Half Day Road
Matthew Liewehr
Village of Lincolnshire

12/20/2017

1

Customer Copy

Sell To 
Cust.
C8947

Ship To 
Cust.

SMC-4000 1/19/2018 Richard Brown BEST RATEPREPAIDNet 30 DAYS

Customer PO # Expires Slsp Terms Freight Ship Via



THE ALL NEW SOLAR MESSAGE CENTER
FULL MATRIX

SMC 4000 MAST-MINI

INTRODUCING 
The

1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by



2

You’ll get just the features you want, 
in a compact design.

Precision Solar Controls has been recognized as the industry benchmark for quality and 

performance since the introduction of the original Solar Message Center.

Manufactured to the same quality standards Precision Solar Controls is recognized for, the 

new SMC 4000 Mast-Mini message center deploys in places larger signs cannot.

Energy-efficient LED display provides 
minimal battery maintenance and long
operational life

Automatic intensity control 
provides optimum LED intensity

Industrial-grade trailer provides stable
platform

4 leveling jacks with slide out extensions provide
stability when deployed

Powder-coat paint for improved fade and scratch resistance

Calendar programming capability

Full Matrix display provides graphic messages
and arrow board capability

On-board dedicated NTCIP 
controller provides easy programming 
with secure password protectionGraphic and Arrow Board functions available

1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by



Specifications are subject to change without notice.

SMC 4000 Mast-MIni Unit Specifications

Sign Case Specifications

SMC Computer Specifications

3

System Integrity

Sign Flexibility

Standard NTCIP-Compliant Controller

Full Matrix Display

Industrial-Grade Structural Steel Trailer

Modular Electronic Componentry

The SMC 4000 Mast-Mini 
shown in travel position

Height- 48"
Width - 96"

1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by



Disclaimer

OPTIONS
The new SMC 4000 Mast-Mini Solar Message Center. Start with the basic board, 
then choose the options you want. All...or none.

Remote Communication System

Radar Option

Increased Autonomy / Recharge Capability

Tilting / Rotating Solar Panels

Pintle / Combination Hitch Option

Steel Fenders / Steel Battery Box

6-Volt Battery Bank

Custom Paint

Crash AttenuatorsTraffic Control ProductsSolar LED Message Centers Permanent Message Boardsash Attenuators Pe

The World’s Only  

Speed-Dependent  

Crash Attenuators.

SMART CUSHION INNOVATIONSTM

S C I  P r o d u c t s  I n c .

N C H R P  3 5 0  A p p r o v e d

M a r k e t e d  a n d  D i s t r i b u t e d  b y

W o r k  A r e a  P r o t e c t i o n

Traffic Control Products Cra

W o r k  A r e a  P r o t e c t i o n 
A Division Of Stabler Companies Inc.

Traffic 
Control 
Products
a full line  
of innovative 
products for 
work zones

ermanent Message BoardsPe

Types Of Message 
Signs Available

 24 Characters/3 Lines

 36 Characters/3 Lines

 48 Characters/3 Lines

 Full Matrix

A  C o m p l e t e  L i n e  O f  L E D - B a s e d  S i g n a g e  F o r  H i g h w a y s .

©2006 Stabler Companies Inc.

Precision Solar Controls’ Permanent Variable Message Signs provide an alternative to existing highway signs that are mounted over 

roadways. These signs can be installed along the side of the highway for greater versatility, visibility and more impact. In addition, 

our signs allow the display of multiple messages for a fraction of the cost of traditional overhead signs. We’ve combined optically 

enhanced lenses with LED technology to produce characters that provide unparalleled performance and viewing acuity. The solid-state 

design and lack of moving parts ensure reduced maintenance and longer service life.

Since 1992, Precision Solar Controls has led the way as the innovator of portable, variable message signs featuring light-emitting  

diode (LED) characters. This new line of Permanent Message Signs utilizes the same proven technology that 

we’ve been known for. As an ISO-certified company, we meet the highest international quality standards.

permanentVariable Message Signs.

P r e c i s i o n  S o l a r  C o n t r o l s

Solar LED Message Centers Tra

1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

SPECIFICATION 
SOLAR MESSAGE CENTER

MODEL SMC4000-MAST MINI

1.0 INTRODUCTION

This specification shall describe a trailer-mounted, portable changeable sign upon 
which varying electronically generated lamp messages and graphics will be displayed to 
highway traffic as advisories or for the purposes of warning and/or control. 

The equipment described shall be a standard model produced by a manufacturer 
with experience in the production of trailer-mounted traffic control products. All 
workmanship, materials, and assembly procedures shall be of quality design. Each 
component of the unit shall be adequate for and compatible with all structural and 
performance requirements of the complete unit. The equipment shall remain operational 
under inclement weather conditions. 

1.1 DESCRIPTION

The Mast Mini Message Center manufactured by Work Area Protection Corp. is a 
trailer mounted variable message board consisting of LED lamp matrix panels powered 
by a bank of batteries in order to convey bright, distinctive messages to the traveling 
public. The batteries are in turn recharged automatically by a group of solar panels 
located at the highest point on the unit. The Solar Message Center is designed with 
sufficient energy backup to operate for a period of 21 days without any sun. The solar 
panel generator array shall recharge the battery bank at a rate of 2.5 hours sun to one 24 
hour period of usage. 

2.0 CONSTRUCTION REQUIREMENTS 

2.1 GENERAL

The trailer and all mounted equipment shall be structurally adequate for 
unlimited, normal operation in wind velocities normally encountered on the roadway. 
The equipment shall be designed to enable one person to perform all transporting and 
operation functions easily and effectively without assistance. 



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

2.2 Trailer

The 2-wheel trailer shall be structurally adequate to serve both as a carrier and as 
an operating platform for all components of the complete unit. The open deck design 
shall be 2 inches by 3 inches 11 gauge steel tubing, providing an adequate foundation 
for the unit. Welding shall join all tubing and all structural welds shall be continuous 
bead welds. 

The axle shall be rated at 2,000 pounds capacity, and the suspension shall consist 
of 1400 pound leaf springs. Wheels and tires shall be a minimum of 14 inches and shall 
be rated for towing at on-highway speeds of 65 miles per hour. A plastic fender shall be 
installed over each wheel. 

The mast pivot tube shall be .250” x 5” round carbon steel tubing. 

The battery box shall be constructed from 14 gauge steel. The batteries shall be 
secured in position, and the enclosure lid shall be lockable using a single-latch/locking 
device. 

The trailer tongue shall be .250 thick x 2 Y2”square tubing x 60”overall length. A 
2” ball type trailer hitch with double safety chains in accordance with SAE J684F shall be 
installed. A 2 Y2” or 3” pintle ring hitch is optional. The tongue shall be removable.

Four crank type, heavy duty, industrial leveling jacks, one at each corner of the 
trailer deck mounted to the adjustable telespar outriggers shall be installed for maximum 
stabilization. 

A lighting system shall be provided for the trailer, to include tail lights, stop 
lights, turn signals, license plate light and reflectors. A trailer electrical cable and 
connector compatible with towing vehicles shall be installed. 

2.3 MESSAGE SIGN

The sign panel shall be of aluminum construction and so assembled as to prevent 
dissimilar metal action from occurring. The sign panel frame shall be an assembly made 
of aluminum alloy channel. 

The size of the Mast Mini Message Center sign panel shall not exceed 96 inches 
wide by 48 inches high. The front face of the sign shall be covered with a UV inhibited 
polycarbonate to prevent fading. 

The Mast Mini Message Center sign panel shall consist of one continuous LED 
lamp matrix which provides text messages as well as graphic symbols. The sign panel 
shall be capable of projecting two different size characters, ranging from 12 inches to 18 



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

inches, as are created in the standard software. Double stroke fonts shall be projected in 
12 inch letter heights. The full matrix panel shall consist of 25 LED lamp matrix pixels 
in height and 48 LED lamp pixels in length. Each pixel shall incorporate 4 LED’s. 
Message color shall be approximately 590 nanometers. 

In addition, 80 standard preprogrammed graphics symbols can be shown due to the 
full matrix capability. 

The sign shall have the capability to display up to six (6) pages in message, with 
variable timing in 0.1 second increments under computer control. The entire sign shall 
completely change all lines of message in not more than 100 milliseconds. 

The sign, when projecting 18 inch characters, shall be clearly visible and legible 
from a distance of 1000 feet under both day and night conditions. Legibility shall 
increase proportionately to the size of the symbols. Under variable light level 
conditions, the sign shall automatically adjust its light source so as to meet the 1000 feet 
legibility requirements without being too dim or too intense. 

The Mast Mini Message Center sign panel shall incorporate a lifting mechanism with 
a 1,500 pound capacity hand-operated braking winch using 1/4” wire cable. The mast 
shall be fabricated with 3” x 3” square steel tubing. The lifting sleeve shall be .250” 
formed steel, fully welded to the 2” x 2” square steel tube panel support frame. A locking 
device to secure the panel in the raised (display) and lowered (travel) position shall be 
provided. The bottom of the sign shall be at least 84 inches above the ground when in the 
raised position. In a transport position, the sign shall rest horizontally in a manner that 
effectively reduces aerodynamic drag during towing. 

3 POWER AND MISCELLANEOUS REQUIRED EQUIPMENT

The power supply type shall be a battery bank consisting of two size 4-D, deep 
cycle, lead acid 12 volt DC batteries wired in parallel. The battery bank shall be housed 
in lockable heavy duty steel weatherproof battery box. The batteries shall be recharged 
by a solar panel array producing 110 watts of power. 

4 System Control Requirements

The Mast Mini Message Center shall be controlled in all functions by an on-board 
dedicated computer that shall: 

a) Be of solid state design and be removable.



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

b) Include a keyboard which user originated messages may be entered
for display or storage.

c) Include an LCD screen upon which messages can be reviewed
before/during display on the message sign.

d) Store 250 preprogrammed messages for display when called upon by the
operator through the keyboard.

e) Store 80 preprogrammed graphic messages/

f) Store 100 user created multi-page messages.

g) Maintain stored message list.

h) Provide password protection.

i) Provide control programming to display stored messages by operator
control through keyboard entry.

j) Provide control for moving arrow display.

k) Provide automatic word centering without separate programming.

l) Provide programming capability while message is being displayed.

m) Include a scheduling (calendar) program to automatically start and stop
the display of messages at predetermined times.

n) Provide character board and battery diagnostics.

The computer and charge controller shall be modular to allow for ease of 
replacement. The computer and charge controller shall be housed in a separate, lockable, 
weather resistant enclosure, and shall be able to be removed and/or replaced with a 
standard Phillips screwdriver. Battery voltage and amperage generated from the solar 
array to the battery bank shall be monitored and displayed at the system’s computer.

The charge controller shall incorporate a PV regulator with thermal compensation 
for variances in ambient temperature to regulate the charge rate to the battery bank. 

The Mast Mini Message Center shall incorporate an automatic intensity control 
feature to keep the LED intensity constant and not vary due to battery bank voltage. This 
allows the message center to maintain a constant legibility distance any time the unit is 
operational. The Solar Message Center also incorporates a photocell to reduce lamp 
intensity at night to reduce glare. 



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

MAST MINI MESSAGE CENTER 
-GENERAL SPECIFICATION-

TRAILER SPECIFICATIONS: 

TRAILER HEIGHT - TRAVEL POSITION ........................................... 102”
TRAILER HEIGHT – ERECTED POSITION  ....................................... 134”
TRAVEL WIDTH ................................................................................... 68”
TRAILER LENGTH WITH TONGUE  ...................................................107”
TRAILER LENGTH WITHOUT TONGUE ........................................... .55”
TRAILER WEIGHT  ........................................................................... 850 LBS. 

MAIN FRAME: 2 X 3 X 11 GA. FORMED CHANNEL 
TONGUE : 2 1/2 X 2 1/2 X .250 SQUARE STEEL TUBING 
SOLAR PANEL ARRAY FRAME: .125” ALUMINUM ANGLE

MESSAGE CABINET: WIDTH  ............................................................ 96”
HEIGHT  .........................................................48”
DEPTH – INCLUDING SOLAR PANEL 
ARRAY ......................................................40.25”
DEPTH – TOP-WITHOUT SOLAR PANEL 
ARRAY ..........................................................5.0”
DEPTH – BOTTOM .....................................5.0”
POLYCARBONATE WINDOW THICKNESS - .125”
CABINET DELTA - TYP .......................... 20º F 

AXLE CAPACITY ........................................................................ .2000 LBS. 
LEAF SPRING CAPACITY ..........................................................  1400 LBS. 
FENDERS: FORMED PLASTIC 
BATTERY ENCLOSURE – ONE: 14 GAUGE STEEL 
SWING JACK CAPACITY .......................................................... 2000 LBS. 
SWING JACK TRAVEL ...........................................................................10”

SMC CENTRAL PROCESSING UNIT 
– CPU SPECIFICATIONS:

PROCESSOR  ...............................................................................PC-104 386 33 MHz 
POWER REQUIREMENTS .......................................................... .500 mA @ 12V DC 
MEMORY TYPE & SIZE ........................................................ .4 MB STATIC RAM 



1-800-236-0112
www.tapconet.com

5100 West Brown Deer Road
Brown Deer, WI 53223

Distributed by

MEMORY BACK – UP: SRAM/3 YEAR LIFE 
TEMPERATURE ........................................................................... -25° TO +50° C 
HUMIDITY .........................................................................95% NON-CONDENSING 

DISPLAY TYPE: LIQUID CRYSTAL DISPLAY-LCD 
SCREEN SIZE ........................................................................ 320 X 240 DOT PIXELS 
INTERFACES: RS232, ETHERNET OPTIONAL 

LED LAMP MATRIX SPECIFICATION: 

PIXEL SIZE ............................................................................................. ....0.75” X 0.75”
OPERATING TEMPERATURE .................................................... -55° C TO 100° C 

CONTRAST ENHANCEMENT FEATURES: 

* BLACK BACKGROUND * LED FULL LAMP MATRIX

ELECTRICAL CONTROL: 

* COMPUTER CONTROLLED/AUTOMATIC INTENSITY CONTROL- 
ADJUSTS LED OUTPUT WITH VARIANCES OF AMBIENT LIGHT
AND TEMPERATURE / PHOTOCELL CONTROLLED 

* OVERCURRENT PROTECTION: PREVENTS WAVELENGTH SHIFT
OVER TEMPERATURE AND CURRENT VARIATIO

SOLAR GENERATOR SPECIFICATIONS: 

SOLAR PANEL ARRAY ............................................ . 110 WATT MINIMUM 
OPERATING VOLTAGE ................................................................... 12 VDC 
BATTERY BANK: TWO 4D DEEP CYCLE 12 VOLT BATTERIES 468 

AMP HOURS TOTAL 
CHARGE CONTROLLER: SERIES REGULATOR WITH THERMAL 

COMPENSATION 
LOW VOLTAGE DISCONNECT ........................................................... 11.2 VDC 
AC/DC BATTERY CHARGER ............................................................ 25 AMP 

SPECIFICATIONS ARE SUBJECT TO CHANGE WITHOUT NOTICE 







Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd.
9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 600
Rosemont, IL 60018

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
WESTMINSTER WAY/SUTTON COURT WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS
(CBBEL PROJECT NO. 17-0061)

BID TAB
DATE: January 25, 2018

ITEM # ITEM UNIT QUANTITY UNIT COST TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST
20100110 TREE REMOVAL (6 TO 15 UNITS DIAMETER) UNIT 65 40.00$          2,600.00$          $          22.00 1,430.00$          $          25.00 1,625.00$          $          31.00 2,015.00$          $          20.00 1,300.00$          $          25.00 1,625.00$          $          29.00 1,885.00$         
20100210 TREE REMOVAL (OVER 15 UNITS DIAMETER) UNIT 40 50.00$          2,000.00$          $          27.50 1,100.00$          $          30.00 1,200.00$          $          41.50 1,660.00$          $          25.00 1,000.00$          $          33.00 1,320.00$          $          39.00 1,560.00$         
20101100 TREE TRUNK PROTECTION EACH 12 75.00$          900.00$             $          50.00 600.00$             $        175.00 2,100.00$          $        230.00 2,760.00$          $        150.00 1,800.00$          $        180.00 2,160.00$          $          60.00 720.00$            
*20101200 TREE ROOT PRUNING EACH 15 100.00$        1,500.00$          $          50.00 750.00$             $        100.00 1,500.00$          $        212.75 3,191.25$          $          85.00 1,275.00$          $        100.00 1,500.00$          $          50.00 750.00$            
20101300 TREE PRUNING (1 TO 10 INCH DIAMETER) EACH 10 100.00$        1,000.00$          $          45.00 450.00$             $          45.00 450.00$             $        172.50 1,725.00$          $          40.00 400.00$             $          50.00 500.00$             $          50.00 500.00$            
20101350 TREE PRUNING (OVER 10 INCH DIAMETER) EACH 10 125.00$        1,250.00$          $          90.00 900.00$             $          90.00 900.00$             $        207.00 2,070.00$          $          80.00 800.00$             $        100.00 1,000.00$          $          50.00 500.00$            
20200100 EARTH EXCAVATION CU YD 10 100.00$        1,000.00$          $          50.00 500.00$             $          75.00 750.00$             $          52.25 522.50$             $          80.00 800.00$             $          68.00 680.00$             $          28.00 280.00$            
*20800150 TRENCH BACKFILL, SPECIAL CU YD 4,750 35.00$          166,250.00$       $          26.00 123,500.00$       $          29.00 137,750.00$       $          56.00 266,000.00$       $          45.00 213,750.00$       $          37.00 175,750.00$       $            0.01 47.50$              
28000510 INLET FILTERS EACH 42 150.00$        6,300.00$          $          15.00 630.00$             $        125.00 5,250.00$          $        175.00 7,350.00$          $        100.00 4,200.00$          $        180.00 7,560.00$          $          40.00 1,680.00$         
35102400 AGGREGATE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 12" SQ YD 100 15.00$          1,500.00$          $          17.00 1,700.00$          $          15.00 1,500.00$          $          32.00 3,200.00$          $          40.00 4,000.00$          $          16.00 1,600.00$          $          14.00 1,400.00$         
40600625 LEVELING BINDER (MACHINE METHOD), N50 TON 775 90.00$          69,750.00$        $          86.50 67,037.50$        $          82.50 63,937.50$        $          83.75 64,906.25$        $          73.00 56,575.00$        $          92.00 71,300.00$        $          90.75 70,331.25$       
40603080 HOT-MIX ASPHALT BINDER COURSE, IL-19.0, N50 TON 20 85.00$          1,700.00$          $          74.00 1,480.00$          $          75.00 1,500.00$          $        101.25 2,025.00$          $          88.00 1,760.00$          $        130.00 2,600.00$          $        123.20 2,464.00$         
40603335 HOT-MIX ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE, MIX "D", N50 TON 1,550 85.00$          131,750.00$       $          75.00 116,250.00$       $          78.00 120,900.00$       $          84.00 130,200.00$       $          73.00 113,150.00$       $          85.00 131,750.00$       $          81.51 126,340.50$      
42400200 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 5 INCH SQ FT 750 25.00$          18,750.00$        $            7.50 5,625.00$          $            8.50 6,375.00$          $            8.00 6,000.00$          $          10.00 7,500.00$          $            7.00 5,250.00$          $            9.00 6,750.00$         
*42400800 DETECTABLE WARNINGS SQ FT 60 50.00$          3,000.00$          $          25.00 1,500.00$          $          40.00 2,400.00$          $          33.50 2,010.00$          $          37.00 2,220.00$          $          31.00 1,860.00$          $          28.00 1,680.00$         
*44000100 PAVEMENT REMOVAL SQ YD 100 20.00$          2,000.00$          $          20.00 2,000.00$          $          17.50 1,750.00$          $          11.50 1,150.00$          $          15.00 1,500.00$          $          26.00 2,600.00$          $          15.00 1,500.00$         
44000157 HOT-MIX ASPHALT SURFACE REMOVAL, 2" SQ YD 17,000 2.00$            34,000.00$        $            2.30 39,100.00$        $            2.00 34,000.00$        $            2.65 45,050.00$        $            2.50 42,500.00$        $            2.65 45,050.00$        $            4.57 77,690.00$       
44000500 COMBINATION CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL FOOT 200 10.00$          2,000.00$          $            5.50 1,100.00$          $            7.50 1,500.00$          $            7.00 1,400.00$          $          10.00 2,000.00$          $          10.00 2,000.00$          $          10.00 2,000.00$         
44000600 SIDEWALK REMOVAL SQ FT 400 10.00$          4,000.00$          $            2.75 1,100.00$          $            1.50 600.00$             $            2.50 1,000.00$          $            5.00 2,000.00$          $            2.00 800.00$             $            2.00 800.00$            
44201713 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE I, 6" SQ YD 725 40.00$          29,000.00$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          45.00 32,625.00$        $          49.50 35,887.50$        $          37.00 26,825.00$        $          48.00 34,800.00$        $          10.00 7,250.00$         
44201717 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE II, 6" SQ YD 725 40.00$          29,000.00$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          42.50 30,812.50$        $          45.00 32,625.00$        $          35.00 25,375.00$        $          45.00 32,625.00$        $          10.00 7,250.00$         
44201721 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE III, 6" SQ YD 725 40.00$          29,000.00$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          40.00 29,000.00$        $          42.50 30,812.50$        $          32.00 23,200.00$        $          45.00 32,625.00$        $          10.00 7,250.00$         
44201723 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE IV, 6" SQ YD 2,850 40.00$          114,000.00$       $          30.00 85,500.00$        $          40.00 114,000.00$       $          40.25 114,712.50$       $          30.00 85,500.00$        $          45.00 128,250.00$       $          61.00 173,850.00$      
550A0040 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 10" FOOT 35 65.00$          2,275.00$          $          80.00 2,800.00$          $          51.50 1,802.50$          $          77.00 2,695.00$          $          50.00 1,750.00$          $          86.00 3,010.00$          $          89.00 3,115.00$         
550A0050 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 12" FOOT 10 70.00$          700.00$             $          90.00 900.00$             $          56.75 567.50$             $        100.00 1,000.00$          $          60.00 600.00$             $          94.00 940.00$             $        105.00 1,050.00$         
550A0120 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 24" FOOT 10 85.00$          850.00$             $        125.00 1,250.00$          $          87.60 876.00$             $        128.00 1,280.00$          $          85.00 850.00$             $        121.00 1,210.00$          $        115.00 1,150.00$         
550B0040 STORM SEWERS, CLASS B, TYPE 1 10" FOOT 25 65.00$          1,625.00$          $          85.00 2,125.00$          $          53.60 1,340.00$          $          35.50 887.50$             $          45.00 1,125.00$          $          55.00 1,375.00$          $          92.00 2,300.00$         
*55100200 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 6" FOOT 25 15.00$          375.00$             $            1.00 25.00$               $          10.30 257.50$             $          11.50 287.50$             $          20.00 500.00$             $            6.00 150.00$             $            5.00 125.00$            
*55100400 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 10" FOOT 60 15.00$          900.00$             $            1.00 60.00$               $          15.50 930.00$             $          14.00 840.00$             $          20.00 1,200.00$          $            8.00 480.00$             $            8.00 480.00$            
*55100500 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 12" FOOT 170 15.00$          2,550.00$          $            1.00 170.00$             $          16.50 2,805.00$          $          12.75 2,167.50$          $          25.00 4,250.00$          $            8.00 1,360.00$          $          10.00 1,700.00$         
*55100900 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 18" FOOT 25 15.00$          375.00$             $            1.00 25.00$               $          20.60 515.00$             $          16.00 400.00$             $          30.00 750.00$             $          18.00 450.00$             $          16.00 400.00$            
*55101200 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 24" FOOT 25 15.00$          375.00$             $            1.00 25.00$               $          31.00 775.00$             $          18.50 462.50$             $          35.00 875.00$             $          22.00 550.00$             $          19.00 475.00$            
*55101900 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 48" FOOT 50 15.00$          750.00$             $            1.00 50.00$               $          51.50 2,575.00$          $          37.00 1,850.00$          $          40.00 2,000.00$          $          41.00 2,050.00$          $          70.00 3,500.00$         
*56103000 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 6" FOOT 105 75.00$          7,875.00$          $          85.00 8,925.00$          $          60.80 6,384.00$          $          64.50 6,772.50$          $          65.00 6,825.00$          $          66.00 6,930.00$          $        119.00 12,495.00$       
*56103100 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 8" FOOT 1,355 90.00$          121,950.00$       $          89.25 120,933.75$       $          91.75 124,321.25$       $          77.50 105,012.50$       $          75.00 101,625.00$       $          71.00 96,205.00$        $        129.00 174,795.00$      
*56103300 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 12" FOOT 1,892 120.00$        227,040.00$       $        105.00 198,660.00$       $        114.50 216,634.00$       $        102.50 193,930.00$       $          90.00 170,280.00$       $          97.00 183,524.00$       $        143.00 270,556.00$      
*56105000 GATE VALVE, 8" EACH 5 4,000.00$      20,000.00$        $     1,825.00 9,125.00$          $     2,325.00 11,625.00$        $     1,555.00 7,775.00$          $     2,000.00 10,000.00$        $     1,880.00 9,400.00$          $     1,900.00 9,500.00$         
*56105200 GATE VALVE, 12" EACH 8 6,000.00$      48,000.00$        $     3,300.00 26,400.00$        $     4,650.00 37,200.00$        $     2,725.00 21,800.00$        $     3,000.00 24,000.00$        $     2,960.00 23,680.00$        $     3,000.00 24,000.00$       
*56300100 ADJUSTING SANITARY SEWERS, 8-INCH DIAMETER OR LESS FOOT 200 100.00$        20,000.00$        $          20.00 4,000.00$          $          72.15 14,430.00$        $          87.00 17,400.00$        $          70.00 14,000.00$        $          46.00 9,200.00$          $          40.00 8,000.00$         
*56300200 ADJUSTING SANITARY SEWERS, OVER 8-INCH DIAMETER FOOT 200 125.00$        25,000.00$        $          25.00 5,000.00$          $          98.00 19,600.00$        $          93.00 18,600.00$        $          75.00 15,000.00$        $          88.00 17,600.00$        $          40.00 8,000.00$         
*56400500 FIRE HYDRANTS TO BE REMOVED EACH 8 350.00$        2,800.00$          $        750.00 6,000.00$          $        465.00 3,720.00$          $        500.00 4,000.00$          $        550.00 4,400.00$          $        850.00 6,800.00$          $        800.00 6,400.00$         
*56400820 FIRE  HYDRANT WITH AUXILIARY VALVE AND VALVE BOX EACH 9 5,500.00$      49,500.00$        $     6,500.00 58,500.00$        $     8,200.00 73,800.00$        $     5,200.00 46,800.00$        $     5,500.00 49,500.00$        $     4,160.00 37,440.00$        $     6,000.00 54,000.00$       
*60200105 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID EACH 1 2,500.00$      2,500.00$          $     3,200.00 3,200.00$          $     3,450.00 3,450.00$          $     2,000.00 2,000.00$          $     3,500.00 3,500.00$          $     3,100.00 3,100.00$          $     2,800.00 2,800.00$         
*60200105 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID WITH FLAT TOP SLAB EACH 1 2,500.00$      2,500.00$          $     3,200.00 3,200.00$          $     3,450.00 3,450.00$          $     2,000.00 2,000.00$          $     3,500.00 3,500.00$          $     3,100.00 3,100.00$          $     2,900.00 2,900.00$         
*60200805 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 8 GRATE WITH FLAT TOP SLAB AND 2-FOOT SUMP EACH 2 2,500.00$      5,000.00$          $     3,200.00 6,400.00$          $     4,400.00 8,800.00$          $     2,000.00 4,000.00$          $     2,500.00 5,000.00$          $     3,100.00 6,200.00$          $     2,900.00 5,800.00$         
*60234200 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID EACH 1 2,000.00$      2,000.00$          $     1,700.00 1,700.00$          $     1,300.00 1,300.00$          $     1,200.00 1,200.00$          $     2,000.00 2,000.00$          $     1,220.00 1,220.00$          $     1,100.00 1,100.00$         
*60234200 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID WITH FLAT TOP SLAB EACH 1 2,000.00$      2,000.00$          $     1,700.00 1,700.00$          $     1,700.00 1,700.00$          $     1,200.00 1,200.00$          $     2,000.00 2,000.00$          $     1,220.00 1,220.00$          $     1,100.00 1,100.00$         
*60248700 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, CLOSED LID, SPECIAL EACH 5 4,000.00$      20,000.00$        $     3,200.00 16,000.00$        $     2,165.00 10,825.00$        $     1,925.00 9,625.00$          $     3,000.00 15,000.00$        $     3,000.00 15,000.00$        $     2,700.00 13,500.00$       
*60249000 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 5'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, CLOSED LID, SPECIAL EACH 8 5,000.00$      40,000.00$        $     3,800.00 30,400.00$        $     2,475.00 19,800.00$        $     2,300.00 18,400.00$        $     3,500.00 28,000.00$        $     3,670.00 29,360.00$        $     3,000.00 24,000.00$       
*60609200 COMBINATION CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT, TYPE M-6.12 (SPECIAL) FOOT 1,600 30.00$          48,000.00$        $          27.00 43,200.00$        $          25.00 40,000.00$        $          33.00 52,800.00$        $          35.00 56,000.00$        $          31.00 49,600.00$        $          29.00 46,400.00$       
67100100 MOBILIZATION L. SUM 1 50,000.00$    50,000.00$        $   95,000.00 95,000.00$        $   25,000.00 25,000.00$        $   19,000.00 19,000.00$        $   72,000.00 72,000.00$        $   20,000.00 20,000.00$        $ 133,000.00 133,000.00$      
70102620 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701501 L. SUM 1 10,000.00$    10,000.00$        $   65,000.00 65,000.00$        $     5,000.00 5,000.00$          $   21,500.00 21,500.00$        $     3,200.00 3,200.00$          $   30,000.00 30,000.00$        $   84,000.00 84,000.00$       
70102625 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701606 L. SUM 1 10,000.00$    10,000.00$        $            1.00 1.00$                 $        200.00 200.00$             $     2,900.00 2,900.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $     8,500.00 8,500.00$          $        200.00 200.00$            
70102635 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701701 L. SUM 1 10,000.00$    10,000.00$        $            1.00 1.00$                 $        200.00 200.00$             $            1.25 1.25$                 $            1.00 1.00$                 $     3,500.00 3,500.00$          $        200.00 200.00$            
70102640 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701801 L. SUM 1 10,000.00$    10,000.00$        $            1.00 1.00$                 $     5,000.00 5,000.00$          $        575.00 575.00$             $     3,200.00 3,200.00$          $   20,000.00 20,000.00$        $        200.00 200.00$            
70106800 CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN CAL MO 3 2,500.00$      7,500.00$          $            1.00 3.00$                 $     1,000.00 3,000.00$          $     1,150.00 3,450.00$          $        700.00 2,100.00$          $        800.00 2,400.00$          $     1,100.00 3,300.00$         
70300100 SHORT TERM PAVEMENT MARKING FOOT 500 10.00$          5,000.00$          $            1.00 500.00$             $            1.00 500.00$             $            3.25 1,625.00$          $            2.00 1,000.00$          $            1.00 500.00$             $            1.15 575.00$            
70300150 SHORT TERM PAVEMENT MARKING REMOVAL SQ FT 250 10.00$          2,500.00$          $            1.00 250.00$             $            1.50 375.00$             $            5.75 1,437.50$          $            2.00 500.00$             $            2.00 500.00$             $            1.15 287.50$            
78000100 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LETTERS AND SYMBOLS SQ FT 20 25.00$          500.00$             $          11.00 220.00$             $            6.00 120.00$             $          10.50 210.00$             $            5.00 100.00$             $            6.00 120.00$             $          11.85 237.00$            
78000200 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE  4" FOOT 850 5.00$            4,250.00$          $            3.30 2,805.00$          $            1.50 1,275.00$          $            3.00 2,550.00$          $            1.20 1,020.00$          $            1.40 1,190.00$          $            3.00 2,550.00$         
78000400 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE  6" FOOT 200 7.50$            1,500.00$          $            3.60 720.00$             $            2.50 500.00$             $            4.75 950.00$             $            2.00 400.00$             $            2.50 500.00$             $            4.71 942.00$            
78000650 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE 24" FOOT 75 10.00$          750.00$             $            7.15 536.25$             $          12.00 900.00$             $          19.00 1,425.00$          $          10.00 750.00$             $          13.00 975.00$             $          18.85 1,413.75$         
*X0327651 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN, PUSHED IN STEEL CASING, 12" FOOT 172 120.00$        20,640.00$        $        115.00 19,780.00$        $        136.00 23,392.00$        $          40.00 6,880.00$          $        100.00 17,200.00$        $        133.00 22,876.00$        $        110.00 18,920.00$       
*X0327651 STEEL CASING PIPE, AUGURED AND JACKED IN PLACE, 24" FOOT 172 325.00$        55,900.00$        $        370.00 63,640.00$        $        390.00 67,080.00$        $        337.50 58,050.00$        $        375.00 64,500.00$        $        460.00 79,120.00$        $        340.00 58,480.00$       
*X0322881 TREE TRIMMING EACH 10 100.00$        1,000.00$          $          83.00 830.00$             $          90.00 900.00$             $        230.00 2,300.00$          $          75.00 750.00$             $        100.00 1,000.00$          $          70.00 700.00$            
*X5610004 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN FITTINGS LBS 8,250 2.50$            20,625.00$        $            0.01 82.50$               $            3.10 25,575.00$        $            0.60 4,950.00$          $            5.00 41,250.00$        $            4.00 33,000.00$        $            1.00 8,250.00$         
*X5610708 WATER MAIN REMOVAL, 8" FOOT 12 30.00$          360.00$             $            1.00 12.00$               $          25.75 309.00$             $            5.75 69.00$               $          75.00 900.00$             $          10.00 120.00$             $          10.00 120.00$            
*X5610712 WATER MAIN REMOVAL, 12" FOOT 15 35.00$          525.00$             $            1.00 15.00$               $          36.25 543.75$             $            9.25 138.75$             $          80.00 1,200.00$          $          14.00 210.00$             $          15.00 225.00$            
*X5620104 WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT WITH NEW BUFFALO BOX, LONG SIDE, 1.5" EACH 12 4,500.00$      54,000.00$        $     3,700.00 44,400.00$        $     1,600.00 19,200.00$        $     2,375.00 28,500.00$        $     3,000.00 36,000.00$        $     3,780.00 45,360.00$        $     3,600.00 43,200.00$       
*X5620102 WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT WITH NEW BUFFALO BOX, SHORT SIDE, 1.5" EACH 37 3,500.00$      129,500.00$       $     3,265.00 120,805.00$       $     2,015.00 74,555.00$        $     1,835.00 67,895.00$        $     2,500.00 92,500.00$        $     3,420.00 126,540.00$       $     2,800.00 103,600.00$      
*Z0013798 CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L. SUM 1 15,000.00$    15,000.00$        $     7,500.00 7,500.00$          $   10,000.00 10,000.00$        $   27,025.00 27,025.00$        $   15,000.00 15,000.00$        $     8,200.00 8,200.00$          $   19,000.00 19,000.00$       
*Z0056602 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 6" FOOT 25 40.00$          1,000.00$          $          84.00 2,100.00$          $          50.50 1,262.50$          $          78.25 1,956.25$          $          60.00 1,500.00$          $          44.00 1,100.00$          $          80.00 2,000.00$         
*Z0056608 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 12" FOOT 160 60.00$          9,600.00$          $          99.00 15,840.00$        $          84.50 13,520.00$        $          88.75 14,200.00$        $          75.00 12,000.00$        $          67.00 10,720.00$        $        134.00 21,440.00$       
*Z0056612 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 18" FOOT 25 85.00$          2,125.00$          $        119.00 2,975.00$          $        110.00 2,750.00$          $        146.25 3,656.25$          $        150.00 3,750.00$          $        146.00 3,650.00$          $        153.00 3,825.00$         
*Z0056616 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 24" FOOT 25 95.00$          2,375.00$          $        140.00 3,500.00$          $        200.00 5,000.00$          $        190.00 4,750.00$          $        250.00 6,250.00$          $        155.00 3,875.00$          $        188.00 4,700.00$         
*Z0056626 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 48" FOOT 50 125.00$        6,250.00$          $        335.00 16,750.00$        $        310.00 15,500.00$        $        505.00 25,250.00$        $        550.00 27,500.00$        $        660.00 33,000.00$        $        393.00 19,650.00$       
*XX002258 STRUCTURES TO BE ADJUSTED EACH 25 325.00$        8,125.00$          $        350.00 8,750.00$          $        490.00 12,250.00$        $        500.00 12,500.00$        $        700.00 17,500.00$        $        410.00 10,250.00$        $        680.00 17,000.00$       
*XX004689 SANITARY SERVICE TO BE ADJUSTED EACH 30 1,000.00$      30,000.00$        $        400.00 12,000.00$        $     1,030.00 30,900.00$        $        625.00 18,750.00$        $     1,150.00 34,500.00$        $        286.00 8,580.00$          $        400.00 12,000.00$       

*NA ABANDON WATER MAIN AND APPURTENANCES L. SUM 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$          $     7,000.00 7,000.00$          $   14,800.00 14,800.00$        $     6,000.00 6,000.00$          $     3,000.00 3,000.00$          $     9,800.00 9,800.00$          $     4,000.00 4,000.00$         
*NA HMA DRIVEWAY REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT, SPECIAL SQ YD 750 50.00$          37,500.00$        $          44.50 33,375.00$        $          32.50 24,375.00$        $          52.50 39,375.00$        $          55.00 41,250.00$        $          40.00 30,000.00$        $          37.00 27,750.00$       
*NA PARKWAY RESTORATION SQ YD 4,000 15.00$          60,000.00$        $            5.00 20,000.00$        $            8.50 34,000.00$        $            9.25 37,000.00$        $          10.00 40,000.00$        $          10.00 40,000.00$        $            8.00 32,000.00$       
*NA STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED EACH 13 500.00$        6,500.00$          $        300.00 3,900.00$          $        360.00 4,680.00$          $        500.00 6,500.00$          $        600.00 7,800.00$          $        260.00 3,380.00$          $        400.00 5,200.00$         
*NA WATER MAIN CONNECTION TO EXISTING WATER MAIN (NON-PRESSURE) - DISCONNECT AND CAP EXISTING EACH 3 4,000.00$      12,000.00$        $     3,700.00 11,100.00$        $     3,450.00 10,350.00$        $     2,850.00 8,550.00$          $     5,000.00 15,000.00$        $     3,610.00 10,830.00$        $     3,400.00 10,200.00$       

*INDICATES SPECIAL PROVISION TOTAL = 1,897,215.00$   TOTAL = 1,627,668.00$   TOTAL = 1,634,920.00$   TOTAL = 1,713,376.50$   TOTAL = 1,707,582.00$   TOTAL = 1,766,155.00$   TOTAL = 1,813,284.50$   
*HIGHLIGHTED CELLS DENOTE ERROR

COPENHAVER 
CONSTRUCTION, INC.

MARTAM CONSTRUCTION, 
INC.ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE A LAMP CONCRETE 

CONTRACTORS, INC.
CHICAGOLAND PAVING 

CONTRACTORS ELENAR CONSTRICTION, INC. GLENBROOK EXCAVATING & 
CONCRETE, INC.

N:\Lincolnshire\170061\Civil\Spreadsheets\Bid Tab.xlsx



Christopher B. Burke Engineering, Ltd.
9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 600
Rosemont, IL 60018

VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE
WESTMINSTER WAY/SUTTON COURT WATER MAIN IMPROVEMENTS
(CBBEL PROJECT NO. 17-0061)

BID TAB
DATE: January 25, 2018

ITEM # ITEM UNIT QUANTITY
20100110 TREE REMOVAL (6 TO 15 UNITS DIAMETER) UNIT 65
20100210 TREE REMOVAL (OVER 15 UNITS DIAMETER) UNIT 40
20101100 TREE TRUNK PROTECTION EACH 12
*20101200 TREE ROOT PRUNING EACH 15
20101300 TREE PRUNING (1 TO 10 INCH DIAMETER) EACH 10
20101350 TREE PRUNING (OVER 10 INCH DIAMETER) EACH 10
20200100 EARTH EXCAVATION CU YD 10
*20800150 TRENCH BACKFILL, SPECIAL CU YD 4,750
28000510 INLET FILTERS EACH 42
35102400 AGGREGATE BASE COURSE, TYPE B 12" SQ YD 100
40600625 LEVELING BINDER (MACHINE METHOD), N50 TON 775
40603080 HOT-MIX ASPHALT BINDER COURSE, IL-19.0, N50 TON 20
40603335 HOT-MIX ASPHALT SURFACE COURSE, MIX "D", N50 TON 1,550
42400200 PORTLAND CEMENT CONCRETE SIDEWALK 5 INCH SQ FT 750
*42400800 DETECTABLE WARNINGS SQ FT 60
*44000100 PAVEMENT REMOVAL SQ YD 100
44000157 HOT-MIX ASPHALT SURFACE REMOVAL, 2" SQ YD 17,000
44000500 COMBINATION CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL FOOT 200
44000600 SIDEWALK REMOVAL SQ FT 400
44201713 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE I, 6" SQ YD 725
44201717 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE II, 6" SQ YD 725
44201721 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE III, 6" SQ YD 725
44201723 CLASS D PATCHES, TYPE IV, 6" SQ YD 2,850
550A0040 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 10" FOOT 35
550A0050 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 12" FOOT 10
550A0120 STORM SEWERS, CLASS A, TYPE 1 24" FOOT 10
550B0040 STORM SEWERS, CLASS B, TYPE 1 10" FOOT 25
*55100200 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 6" FOOT 25
*55100400 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 10" FOOT 60
*55100500 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 12" FOOT 170
*55100900 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 18" FOOT 25
*55101200 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 24" FOOT 25
*55101900 STORM SEWER REMOVAL, 48" FOOT 50
*56103000 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 6" FOOT 105
*56103100 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 8" FOOT 1,355
*56103300 WATER MAIN IN TRENCH, DUCTILE IRON, 12" FOOT 1,892
*56105000 GATE VALVE, 8" EACH 5
*56105200 GATE VALVE, 12" EACH 8
*56300100 ADJUSTING SANITARY SEWERS, 8-INCH DIAMETER OR LESS FOOT 200
*56300200 ADJUSTING SANITARY SEWERS, OVER 8-INCH DIAMETER FOOT 200
*56400500 FIRE HYDRANTS TO BE REMOVED EACH 8
*56400820 FIRE  HYDRANT WITH AUXILIARY VALVE AND VALVE BOX EACH 9
*60200105 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID EACH 1
*60200105 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID WITH FLAT TOP SLAB EACH 1
*60200805 CATCH BASINS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 8 GRATE WITH FLAT TOP SLAB AND 2-FOOT SUMP EACH 2
*60234200 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID EACH 1
*60234200 INLETS, TYPE A, TYPE 1 FRAME, OPEN LID WITH FLAT TOP SLAB EACH 1
*60248700 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 4'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, CLOSED LID, SPECIAL EACH 5
*60249000 VALVE VAULTS, TYPE A, 5'-DIAMETER, TYPE 1 FRAME, CLOSED LID, SPECIAL EACH 8
*60609200 COMBINATION CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT, TYPE M-6.12 (SPECIAL) FOOT 1,600
67100100 MOBILIZATION L. SUM 1
70102620 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701501 L. SUM 1
70102625 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701606 L. SUM 1
70102635 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701701 L. SUM 1
70102640 TRAFFIC CONTROL AND PROTECTION, STANDARD 701801 L. SUM 1
70106800 CHANGEABLE MESSAGE SIGN CAL MO 3
70300100 SHORT TERM PAVEMENT MARKING FOOT 500
70300150 SHORT TERM PAVEMENT MARKING REMOVAL SQ FT 250
78000100 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LETTERS AND SYMBOLS SQ FT 20
78000200 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE  4" FOOT 850
78000400 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE  6" FOOT 200
78000650 THERMOPLASTIC PAVEMENT MARKING - LINE 24" FOOT 75
*X0327651 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN, PUSHED IN STEEL CASING, 12" FOOT 172
*X0327651 STEEL CASING PIPE, AUGURED AND JACKED IN PLACE, 24" FOOT 172
*X0322881 TREE TRIMMING EACH 10
*X5610004 DUCTILE IRON WATER MAIN FITTINGS LBS 8,250
*X5610708 WATER MAIN REMOVAL, 8" FOOT 12
*X5610712 WATER MAIN REMOVAL, 12" FOOT 15
*X5620104 WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT WITH NEW BUFFALO BOX, LONG SIDE, 1.5" EACH 12
*X5620102 WATER SERVICE REPLACEMENT WITH NEW BUFFALO BOX, SHORT SIDE, 1.5" EACH 37
*Z0013798 CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L. SUM 1
*Z0056602 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 6" FOOT 25
*Z0056608 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 12" FOOT 160
*Z0056612 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 18" FOOT 25
*Z0056616 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 24" FOOT 25
*Z0056626 STORM SEWER (WATER MAIN REQUIREMENTS), 48" FOOT 50
*XX002258 STRUCTURES TO BE ADJUSTED EACH 25
*XX004689 SANITARY SERVICE TO BE ADJUSTED EACH 30

*NA ABANDON WATER MAIN AND APPURTENANCES L. SUM 1
*NA HMA DRIVEWAY REMOVAL AND REPLACEMENT, SPECIAL SQ YD 750
*NA PARKWAY RESTORATION SQ YD 4,000
*NA STRUCTURE TO BE REMOVED EACH 13
*NA WATER MAIN CONNECTION TO EXISTING WATER MAIN (NON-PRESSURE) - DISCONNECT AND CAP EXISTING EACH 3

*INDICATES SPECIAL PROVISION
*HIGHLIGHTED CELLS DENOTE ERROR

QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST QUANTITY TOTAL COST
 $          37.50 2,437.50$          $          40.00 2,600.00$          $          20.00 1,300.00$          $          22.00 1,430.00$          $          21.00 1,365.00$          $          20.00 1,300.00$          $          50.00 3,250.00$         
 $          42.00 1,680.00$          $          42.00 1,680.00$          $          25.00 1,000.00$          $          27.50 1,100.00$          $          26.25 1,050.00$          $          25.00 1,000.00$          $          50.00 2,000.00$         
 $        285.00 3,420.00$          $          50.00 600.00$             $        150.00 1,800.00$          $        155.00 1,860.00$          $        157.50 1,890.00$          $        150.00 1,800.00$          $        150.00 1,800.00$         
 $        285.00 4,275.00$          $          50.00 750.00$             $          85.00 1,275.00$          $        105.00 1,575.00$          $          89.25 1,338.75$          $          85.00 1,275.00$          $        250.00 3,750.00$         
 $        230.00 2,300.00$          $          50.00 500.00$             $          40.00 400.00$             $          44.00 440.00$             $          42.00 420.00$             $          40.00 400.00$             $          80.00 800.00$            
 $        275.00 2,750.00$          $          75.00 750.00$             $          80.00 800.00$             $          77.00 770.00$             $          84.00 840.00$             $          80.00 800.00$             $        125.00 1,250.00$         
 $        150.00 1,500.00$          $          50.00 500.00$             $          45.00 450.00$             $        108.50 1,085.00$          $          53.10 531.00$             $          83.00 830.00$             $          80.00 800.00$            
 $          61.00 289,750.00$       $          24.00 114,000.00$       $          60.00 285,000.00$       $          79.50 377,625.00$       $          70.00 332,500.00$       $          10.00 47,500.00$        $          18.00 85,500.00$       
 $        175.00 7,350.00$          $        135.00 5,670.00$          $        165.00 6,930.00$          $        190.00 7,980.00$          $        206.50 8,673.00$          $        170.00 7,140.00$          $        105.00 4,410.00$         
 $          42.00 4,200.00$          $          11.00 1,100.00$          $          24.00 2,400.00$          $          33.80 3,380.00$          $            9.44 944.00$             $          23.00 2,300.00$          $          30.00 3,000.00$         
 $          96.00 74,400.00$        $          78.00 60,450.00$        $          81.00 62,775.00$        $          83.05 64,363.75$        $          75.83 58,768.25$        $          81.00 62,775.00$        $          80.00 62,000.00$       
 $        140.00 2,800.00$          $          96.00 1,920.00$          $        120.00 2,400.00$          $        123.00 2,460.00$          $          75.83 1,516.60$          $        120.00 2,400.00$          $          96.00 1,920.00$         
 $          85.35 132,292.50$       $          80.00 124,000.00$       $          73.00 113,150.00$       $          75.00 116,250.00$       $          82.16 127,348.00$       $          73.00 113,150.00$       $          80.00 124,000.00$      
 $          10.00 7,500.00$          $            8.00 6,000.00$          $            9.00 6,750.00$          $            8.80 6,600.00$          $            7.72 5,790.00$          $            8.00 6,000.00$          $          10.00 7,500.00$         
 $          65.00 3,900.00$          $          25.00 1,500.00$          $          37.00 2,220.00$          $          39.00 2,340.00$          $          52.50 3,150.00$          $          29.00 1,740.00$          $          50.00 3,000.00$         
 $          28.00 2,800.00$          $          15.00 1,500.00$          $          26.00 2,600.00$          $          26.90 2,690.00$          $            7.08 708.00$             $          19.00 1,900.00$          $          25.00 2,500.00$         
 $            5.00 85,000.00$        $            3.00 51,000.00$        $            4.25 72,250.00$        $            4.50 76,500.00$        $            4.72 80,240.00$        $            4.15 70,550.00$        $            2.50 42,500.00$       
 $            9.50 1,900.00$          $            3.00 600.00$             $          10.00 2,000.00$          $          11.58 2,316.00$          $          10.62 2,124.00$          $            4.00 800.00$             $            6.00 1,200.00$         
 $            3.00 1,200.00$          $            3.00 1,200.00$          $            2.00 800.00$             $            3.78 1,512.00$          $            2.36 944.00$             $            2.00 800.00$             $            2.00 800.00$            
 $          34.00 24,650.00$        $          50.00 36,250.00$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          25.65 18,596.25$        $          54.66 39,628.50$        $          25.00 18,125.00$        $          56.00 40,600.00$       
 $          34.00 24,650.00$        $          47.00 34,075.00$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          25.65 18,596.25$        $          54.66 39,628.50$        $          25.00 18,125.00$        $          52.00 37,700.00$       
 $          40.00 29,000.00$        $          46.00 33,350.00$        $          32.00 23,200.00$        $          30.75 22,293.75$        $          54.66 39,628.50$        $          30.00 21,750.00$        $          50.00 36,250.00$       
 $          40.00 114,000.00$       $          45.00 128,250.00$       $          32.00 91,200.00$        $          30.75 87,637.50$        $          39.67 113,059.50$       $          30.00 85,500.00$        $          48.00 136,800.00$      
 $          83.00 2,905.00$          $          50.00 1,750.00$          $          80.00 2,800.00$          $          54.90 1,921.50$          $          56.64 1,982.40$          $          76.00 2,660.00$          $          70.00 2,450.00$         
 $        142.00 1,420.00$          $          55.00 550.00$             $          82.50 825.00$             $        149.10 1,491.00$          $          60.18 601.80$             $        126.00 1,260.00$          $          80.00 800.00$            
 $        216.00 2,160.00$          $          75.00 750.00$             $        145.00 1,450.00$          $        206.50 2,065.00$          $          95.58 955.80$             $        152.00 1,520.00$          $        200.00 2,000.00$         
 $          83.00 2,075.00$          $          46.00 1,150.00$          $          82.00 2,050.00$          $          54.90 1,372.50$          $          47.20 1,180.00$          $          57.00 1,425.00$          $          76.00 1,900.00$         
 $          33.00 825.00$             $            2.00 50.00$               $          35.00 875.00$             $          13.60 340.00$             $            7.08 177.00$             $          12.00 300.00$             $            4.00 100.00$            
 $          24.00 1,440.00$          $            3.00 180.00$             $          35.00 2,100.00$          $          16.42 985.20$             $            7.08 424.80$             $          12.00 720.00$             $            5.00 300.00$            
 $          18.00 3,060.00$          $            4.00 680.00$             $          35.00 5,950.00$          $          20.65 3,510.50$          $            7.08 1,203.60$          $          12.00 2,040.00$          $            6.00 1,020.00$         
 $          25.75 643.75$             $            5.00 125.00$             $          40.00 1,000.00$          $          47.20 1,180.00$          $            7.08 177.00$             $          13.00 325.00$             $            9.00 225.00$            
 $          40.00 1,000.00$          $            7.00 175.00$             $          40.00 1,000.00$          $          47.20 1,180.00$          $            8.26 206.50$             $          15.00 375.00$             $          12.00 300.00$            
 $          42.00 2,100.00$          $          20.00 1,000.00$          $          40.00 2,000.00$          $          47.20 2,360.00$          $          12.98 649.00$             $          25.00 1,250.00$          $          25.00 1,250.00$         
 $          82.00 8,610.00$          $        100.00 10,500.00$        $          90.00 9,450.00$          $          69.21 7,267.05$          $          68.19 7,159.95$          $          76.00 7,980.00$          $        200.00 21,000.00$       
 $          76.00 102,980.00$       $        110.00 149,050.00$       $          95.00 128,725.00$       $          77.66 105,229.30$       $          69.37 93,996.35$        $        150.00 203,250.00$       $        225.00 304,875.00$      
 $        112.50 212,850.00$       $        120.00 227,040.00$       $        104.25 197,241.00$       $        102.61 194,138.12$       $        118.26 223,747.92$       $        155.00 293,260.00$       $        250.00 473,000.00$      
 $     1,200.00 6,000.00$          $     3,500.00 17,500.00$        $     1,500.00 7,500.00$          $     1,569.00 7,845.00$          $     1,298.00 6,490.00$          $     2,000.00 10,000.00$        $     2,250.00 11,250.00$       
 $     2,400.00 19,200.00$        $     4,500.00 36,000.00$        $     3,000.00 24,000.00$        $     2,680.00 21,440.00$        $     2,625.50 21,004.00$        $     3,000.00 24,000.00$        $     3,275.00 26,200.00$       
 $          78.00 15,600.00$        $          50.00 10,000.00$        $          85.00 17,000.00$        $          68.68 13,736.00$        $        146.31 29,262.00$        $        151.00 30,200.00$        $          80.00 16,000.00$       
 $          97.00 19,400.00$        $          60.00 12,000.00$        $        135.00 27,000.00$        $          77.38 15,476.00$        $        174.18 34,836.00$        $        200.00 40,000.00$        $          82.00 16,400.00$       
 $        500.00 4,000.00$          $        200.00 1,600.00$          $        925.00 7,400.00$          $        820.00 6,560.00$          $        354.00 2,832.00$          $        800.00 6,400.00$          $        600.00 4,800.00$         
 $     5,200.00 46,800.00$        $     5,000.00 45,000.00$        $     5,700.00 51,300.00$        $     4,811.12 43,300.08$        $     5,468.12 49,213.08$        $     7,500.00 67,500.00$        $     7,500.00 67,500.00$       
 $     2,500.00 2,500.00$          $     3,200.00 3,200.00$          $     3,275.00 3,275.00$          $     2,790.00 2,790.00$          $     2,532.28 2,532.28$          $     3,000.00 3,000.00$          $     2,200.00 2,200.00$         
 $     2,500.00 2,500.00$          $     3,100.00 3,100.00$          $     3,625.00 3,625.00$          $     2,790.00 2,790.00$          $     2,532.28 2,532.28$          $     3,000.00 3,000.00$          $     2,000.00 2,000.00$         
 $     2,200.00 4,400.00$          $     3,000.00 6,000.00$          $     4,600.00 9,200.00$          $     2,790.00 5,580.00$          $     2,832.28 5,664.56$          $     2,800.00 5,600.00$          $     1,800.00 3,600.00$         
 $     1,100.00 1,100.00$          $     1,000.00 1,000.00$          $     1,425.00 1,425.00$          $     1,790.00 1,790.00$          $     1,298.00 1,298.00$          $     1,600.00 1,600.00$          $     1,200.00 1,200.00$         
 $     1,100.00 1,100.00$          $        900.00 900.00$             $     1,725.00 1,725.00$          $     1,790.00 1,790.00$          $     1,298.00 1,298.00$          $     1,600.00 1,600.00$          $     1,200.00 1,200.00$         
 $     2,200.00 11,000.00$        $     2,000.00 10,000.00$        $     2,200.00 11,000.00$        $     4,145.00 20,725.00$        $     2,697.48 13,487.40$        $     3,500.00 17,500.00$        $     1,500.00 7,500.00$         
 $     2,750.00 22,000.00$        $     2,750.00 22,000.00$        $     2,895.00 23,160.00$        $     4,865.00 38,920.00$        $     3,624.96 28,999.68$        $     4,000.00 32,000.00$        $     1,800.00 14,400.00$       
 $          38.00 60,800.00$        $          40.00 64,000.00$        $          30.00 48,000.00$        $          50.85 81,360.00$        $          34.49 55,184.00$        $          24.00 38,400.00$        $          35.00 56,000.00$       
 $   55,000.00 55,000.00$        $ 150,000.00 150,000.00$       $   58,000.00 58,000.00$        $   24,665.00 24,665.00$        $   48,380.00 48,380.00$        $ 124,000.00 124,000.00$       $ 120,000.00 120,000.00$      
 $   10,000.00 10,000.00$        $   46,000.00 46,000.00$        $     6,000.00 6,000.00$          $     4,675.00 4,675.00$          $     2,360.00 2,360.00$          $   86,600.00 86,600.00$        $     7,500.00 7,500.00$         
 $        100.00 100.00$             $     1,000.00 1,000.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $            1.00 1.00$                 $     2,360.00 2,360.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $     3,250.00 3,250.00$         
 $        100.00 100.00$             $     1,000.00 1,000.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $            1.00 1.00$                 $     2,360.00 2,360.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $        100.00 100.00$            
 $        750.00 750.00$             $     1,000.00 1,000.00$          $        500.00 500.00$             $     1,650.00 1,650.00$          $     2,360.00 2,360.00$          $            1.00 1.00$                 $        100.00 100.00$            
 $     1,000.00 3,000.00$          $     1,500.00 4,500.00$          $        750.00 2,250.00$          $     2,475.00 7,425.00$          $        944.00 2,832.00$          $     1,000.00 3,000.00$          $     1,500.00 4,500.00$         
 $            2.00 1,000.00$          $            1.00 500.00$             $            2.00 1,000.00$          $            3.00 1,500.00$          $            1.05 525.00$             $            1.00 500.00$             $            1.00 500.00$            
 $            2.00 500.00$             $            2.00 500.00$             $            2.00 500.00$             $            4.00 1,000.00$          $            1.05 262.50$             $            1.00 250.00$             $            1.00 250.00$            
 $          12.00 240.00$             $          18.00 360.00$             $            9.00 180.00$             $            9.90 198.00$             $          12.60 252.00$             $            6.00 120.00$             $            6.00 120.00$            
 $            2.00 1,700.00$          $            3.00 2,550.00$          $            2.62 2,227.00$          $            2.90 2,465.00$          $            4.20 3,570.00$          $            2.00 1,700.00$          $            2.00 1,700.00$         
 $            3.00 600.00$             $            4.00 800.00$             $            4.10 820.00$             $            4.55 910.00$             $            6.30 1,260.00$          $            3.00 600.00$             $            3.00 600.00$            
 $          12.00 900.00$             $          18.00 1,350.00$          $          16.40 1,230.00$          $          18.05 1,353.75$          $          25.20 1,890.00$          $          11.00 825.00$             $          12.00 900.00$            
 $          22.00 3,784.00$          $        125.00 21,500.00$        $        115.00 19,780.00$        $          53.12 9,136.64$          $          90.90 15,634.80$        $        125.00 21,500.00$        $          50.00 8,600.00$         
 $        375.00 64,500.00$        $        425.00 73,100.00$        $        595.00 102,340.00$       $        374.05 64,336.60$        $        371.32 63,867.04$        $        500.00 86,000.00$        $        500.00 86,000.00$       
 $        290.00 2,900.00$          $          25.00 250.00$             $          75.00 750.00$             $          80.00 800.00$             $          78.75 787.50$             $          75.00 750.00$             $        175.00 1,750.00$         
 $            3.00 24,750.00$        $            4.00 33,000.00$        $            8.02 66,165.00$        $            7.00 57,750.00$        $            7.08 58,410.00$        $            5.00 41,250.00$        $            2.50 20,625.00$       
 $        110.00 1,320.00$          $            5.00 60.00$               $          75.00 900.00$             $          65.84 790.08$             $          11.80 141.60$             $          15.00 180.00$             $            5.00 60.00$              
 $        114.00 1,710.00$          $          10.00 150.00$             $          80.00 1,200.00$          $          52.67 790.05$             $          11.80 177.00$             $          19.00 285.00$             $            6.00 90.00$              
 $     3,200.00 38,400.00$        $     1,250.00 15,000.00$        $     3,300.00 39,600.00$        $     5,178.00 62,136.00$        $     4,434.44 53,213.28$        $     4,000.00 48,000.00$        $     3,800.00 45,600.00$       
 $     2,200.00 81,400.00$        $     2,000.00 74,000.00$        $     2,340.00 86,580.00$        $     2,379.00 88,023.00$        $     2,127.54 78,718.98$        $     3,000.00 111,000.00$       $     2,400.00 88,800.00$       
 $     8,000.00 8,000.00$          $   10,000.00 10,000.00$        $   20,000.00 20,000.00$        $     6,500.00 6,500.00$          $     6,300.00 6,300.00$          $   12,000.00 12,000.00$        $   10,000.00 10,000.00$       
 $        170.00 4,250.00$          $          45.00 1,125.00$          $        135.00 3,375.00$          $          79.90 1,997.50$          $          95.70 2,392.50$          $          70.00 1,750.00$          $          66.00 1,650.00$         
 $        124.00 19,840.00$        $          60.00 9,600.00$          $        120.00 19,200.00$        $          87.63 14,020.80$        $        122.31 19,569.60$        $          80.00 12,800.00$        $        100.00 16,000.00$       
 $        215.00 5,375.00$          $        125.00 3,125.00$          $        160.00 4,000.00$          $        193.60 4,840.00$          $        150.75 3,768.75$          $        210.00 5,250.00$          $        180.00 4,500.00$         
 $        283.00 7,075.00$          $        150.00 3,750.00$          $        195.00 4,875.00$          $        195.58 4,889.50$          $        258.81 6,470.25$          $        275.00 6,875.00$          $        225.00 5,625.00$         
 $        670.00 33,500.00$        $        600.00 30,000.00$        $        685.00 34,250.00$        $        475.60 23,780.00$        $        603.40 30,170.00$        $        800.00 40,000.00$        $        750.00 37,500.00$       
 $        400.00 10,000.00$        $        250.00 6,250.00$          $        600.00 15,000.00$        $     1,420.00 35,500.00$        $        590.00 14,750.00$        $        750.00 18,750.00$        $        475.00 11,875.00$       
 $        850.00 25,500.00$        $     1,300.00 39,000.00$        $     1,500.00 45,000.00$        $        835.67 25,070.10$        $     3,748.46 112,453.80$       $     2,500.00 75,000.00$        $     1,500.00 45,000.00$       
 $     5,500.00 5,500.00$          $   10,000.00 10,000.00$        $   15,000.00 15,000.00$        $   22,920.00 22,920.00$        $     6,490.00 6,490.00$          $   30,000.00 30,000.00$        $     5,000.00 5,000.00$         
 $          32.30 24,225.00$        $          55.00 41,250.00$        $          36.00 27,000.00$        $          42.00 31,500.00$        $          29.25 21,937.50$        $          44.00 33,000.00$        $          48.00 36,000.00$       
 $          11.00 44,000.00$        $          14.00 56,000.00$        $          10.00 40,000.00$        $          10.00 40,000.00$        $          12.60 50,400.00$        $            8.00 32,000.00$        $          10.00 40,000.00$       
 $        450.00 5,850.00$          $        120.00 1,560.00$          $        650.00 8,450.00$          $        408.47 5,310.11$          $        286.74 3,727.62$          $        629.00 8,177.00$          $        350.00 4,550.00$         
 $     1,500.00 4,500.00$          $     5,000.00 15,000.00$        $     4,000.00 12,000.00$        $     6,650.00 19,950.00$        $     3,276.86 9,830.58$          $     4,200.00 12,600.00$        $     7,500.00 22,500.00$       

TOTAL = 1,872,492.75$   TOTAL = 1,886,825.00$   TOTAL = 1,953,450.00$   TOTAL = 1,972,426.88$   TOTAL = 2,076,803.30$   TOTAL = 2,079,890.00$   TOTAL = 2,274,045.00$   

MANEVAL CONSTRUCTION 
CO. 

LENNY HOFFMAN 
EXCAVATING

GERARDI SEWER & WATER 
CO.R.A. MANCINI, INC. DIMEO BROTHERS 

CONSTRUCTION
BERGER EXCAVATING 

CONTRACTORS CAMPANELLA & SONS, INC.

N:\Lincolnshire\170061\Civil\Spreadsheets\Bid Tab.xlsx



 

 

Project Location Map 



























































Resolution for Maintenance
Under the Illinois Highway Code

Printed 02/06/18 BLR 14220 (Rev. 03/13/17)

Resolution Type

Original
Section Number

18-00023-00-RS

BE IT RESOLVED, by the 
Governing Body Type

President and Board of Trustees of the
Local Public Agency Type

Village of

Name of Local Public Agency
Lincolnshire Illinois that there is hereby appropriated the sum of

DollarsOne-Hundred seventy-five thousand ( ) $175,000.00 

of Motor Fuel Tax funds for the purpose of maintaining streets and highways under the applicable provisions of Illinois Highway Code from

Beginning Date
01/01/18 to

Ending Date
12/31/18

Resolution Number

.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that only those operations as listed and described on the approved Estimate of Maintenance Costs, 
including supplemental or revised estimates approved in connection with this resolution, are eligible for maintenance with Motor Fuel Tax
funds during the period as specified above.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that
Local Public Agency Type

Village of
Name of Local Public Agency

Lincolnshire

shall submit within three months after the end of the maintenance period as stated above, to the Department of Transportation, on forms 
available from the Department, a certified statement showing expenditures and the balances remaining in the funds authorized for
expenditure by the Department under this appropriation, and 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk is hereby directed to transmit four (4) ceritified originals of this resolution to the district office 
of the Department of Transportation.

I
Name of Clerk

Barbara Mastandrea
Local Public Agency Type

Village Clerk in and for said 
Local Public Agency Type

Village

of
Name of Local Public Agency

Lincolnshire in the State of Illinois, and keeper of the records and files thereof, as 

provided by statute, do hereby certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete copy of a resolution adopted by the

Governing Body Type
President and Board of Trustees of

Name of Local Public Agency
Lincolnshire at a meeting held on

Date
02/26/18

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this

.

Day
day of

Month, Year
.

(SEAL) Clerk Signature

APPROVED

Regional Engineer 
Department of Transportation Date



Printed 02/06/18 BLR 14220 (Rev. 03/13/17)

Instructions for BLR 14220 

This form shall be used when a Local Public Agency (LPA) wants to perform maintenance operations using Motor Fuel Tax (MFT) funds.
Refer to Chapter 14 of the Bureau of Local Roads and Streets Manual (BLRS Manual) for more detailed information. This form is to be 
used by a Municipality or a County. Road Districts will use BLR 14221. For signature requirements refer to Chapter 2, Section 3.05(b) of 
the BLRS Manual.            

When filling out this form electronically, once a field is initially completed, fields requiring the same information will be auto-populated.

Resolution Number  Insert the resolution number as assigned by the LPA, if applicable. 

Resolution Type    From the drop down box, choose the type of resolution: 
     -Original would be used when passing a resolution for the first time for this project. 
     -Supplemental would be used when passing a resolution increasing appropriation above 
       previously passed resolutions. 
     -Amended would be used when a previously passed resolution is being amended.  

Section Number   Insert the section number of the improvement covered by the resolution.  

Governing Body Type  From the drop down box choose the type of administrative body. Choose Board for County; Council or 
    President and Board of Trustees for a City, Village or Town. 

LPA Type   From the drop down box choose the LPA body type; County, City, Town or Village. 

Name of LPA   Insert the name of the LPA. 

Resolution Amount  Insert the dollar value of the resolution for maintenance to be paid for with MFT funds in words, 
    followed by the same amount in numerical format in the (). 

Beginning Date   Insert the beginning date of the maintenance period. Maintenance periods must be a 12 or 24 month  
    consecutive period. 

Ending Date   Insert the ending date of the maintenance period. 

LPA Type   From the drop down box choose the LPA body type; County, City, Town or Village. 

Name of LPA   Insert the name of the LPA. 

Name of Clerk   Insert the name of the LPA Clerk. 

LPA Type   From the drop down box choose the LPA body type; County, City, Town or Village. 

LPA Type   From the drop down box choose the LPA body type; County, City, Town or Village. 

Name of LPA   Insert the name of the LPA. 

Governing Body Type  From the drop down box choose the type of administrative body. Choose Board for County; Council or 
    President and Board of Trustees for a City, Village or Town. 

Name of LPA   Insert the name of the LPA. 

Date    Insert the date of the meeting. 

Day    Insert the day the Clerk signed the document. 

Month, Year   Insert the month and year of the clerk's signature. 

Clerk Signature   Clerk shall sign here. 

Approved   The Department of Transportation representative shall sign and date here upon approval. 

A minimum of four(4) certified signed originals must be submitted to the  Regional Engineer's District office.     
Following the Regional Engineer's approval, distribution will be as follows:        
 Local Public Agency Clerk 
 Engineer (Municipal, Consultant or County) 
 District Compliance Review 
 District File 



Municipal Estimate of
Maintenance Costs

Page 1 of 1Printed 02/06/18 BLR 14231 (Rev. 05/16/17)

Submittal Type Original
Maintenance Period

Local Public Agency
Village of Lincolnshire

County
Lake

Section Number
18-00023-00-RS

Beginning
01/01/18

Ending
12/31/18

Estimated Cost of Maintenance Operations
Maint. For Group I, IIA, IIB or III

Maintenance Operation 
(No. and Description)

Eng.
Group

Insp.
Req. Item Unit Quantity

Unit
Price

Item
Cost

Est Total
Operation Cost

1.  Contract Resurfacing IV Y  $390,000.00 
(Section 18-00023-00-RS)

Add Row Total Estimated Maintenance Operation Cost  $390,000.00 
Estimated Cost of Maintenance Engineering

Preliminary Engineering
Engineering Inspection

Material Testing
Advertising

Bridge Inspections
Total Estimated Maintenance 

Engineering Cost 

Maintenance Program Estimated Costs
Estimated Cost MFT Portion Other Funds

Maint Oper  $390,000.00  $175,000.00 
Maint Eng

Totals  $390,000.00  $175,000.00 
Total Estimated Maintenance Cost  $390,000.00 

Municipal Official Date

Date
Regional Engineer 
Department of Transportation

Submitted

Approved

Title



BLR 14231 (Rev. 05/16/17)Printed 02/06/18

Instructions for BLR 14231 

This form shall be used when a Municipality wants to expend funds for a maintenance period. The maintenance estimate must include all 
operations to be funded with Motor Fuel Tax (MFT) funds. If operations are added during the maintenance period, a revised or 
supplemental estimate is required. All estimates of maintenance costs must be submitted to the district for approval prior to incurring any 
expenses. The amount of MFT funds expended on items covered in the estimate is limited to the amount of MFT funds appropriated in the 
maintenance resolution. IF rental equipment is included in the estimate, BLR 12110 must also be completed and submitted. 

For additional information refer to the Bureau of Local Roads and Streets Manual (BLRS), Chapter 14. For signature requirements refer to 
Chapter 2, Section 3.05(b) of the BLRS Manual. 

Submittal Type   From the drop down, choose Original (being submitted for the first time), Revised (revising a previously
    approved submittal), or Supplemental (addition to estimate(s) already approved). 

Local Public Agency  Insert the name of the municipality. 

County    Insert the name of the County in which the municipality is located. 

Maintenance Period 
Beginning   Insert the beginning date of the maintenance period. This must be 12 or 24 consecutive months. The 
    dates must match those on the resolution. 

Ending   Insert the ending date of the maintenance period, following the above guidelines. 

Estimated Cost of Maintenance Operations 
To aid in determining quantities for maintenance operations, the LPA may develop their own spreadsheet containing the following
information. IDOT does not provide a form for this purpose. 

Location Surface Maintenance Operation
Street/Road From To Existing Type Length Width No. Description Unit Quantity

Maintenance Operations  List each maintenance operations with a consecutive operation number. If an operation is not listed  
    MFT funds cannot be expended for that operation. 

Maint. Engineering Group  From the drop down, select the group number that applies to the maintenance operation to be 
    performed. All maintenance operations shall require one of the following group designations. 
    1. Group I. Services purchased without a proposal such as electrical energy or materials purchased 
    from Central Management Services' Joint Purchasing Program (www.purchase.state.il.us) or
    another joint purchasing program that has been approved by the District BLRS or Central BLRS. 
    2. Group II-A. Routine maintenance or maintenance items that do not require competitive sealed bids 
    according to section 12-1.02(a) or local ordinance/resolution. 
    3. Group II-B. Routine maintenance items that require competitive sealed bids according to Section 
    12-1.02(a) or a local ordinance/resolution. Routine maintenance includes all items in the following work 
    categories: snow removal, street sweeping, lighting and traffic signal maintenance, cleaning ditches or 
    drainage structures, tree trimming or removal, mowing, crack sealing, pavement marking, shoulder 
    maintenance, limited amounts of CC&G repair, scour mitigation, pavement patching and minor  
    drainage repairs. 
    4. Group III. Maintenance items that are not covered by Group I or IIB and require competitive bidding 
    with a material proposal or a delivery and install proposal. 
    5. Group IV. Maintenance items that are not covered by Group I or IIB and require competitive bidding 

    with a contract proposal. 

Insp Req.   From the drop down, select 'Y' if the operation being performed requires an engineering inspection or 
    'N' if the operation does not need an engineering inspection. 

Item    For Groups I, IIA, IIB (not performed by a formal contract), and III type operations list each item to be  
    used in this maintenance operation. For Group IIB items being done by a formal contract and Group IV 
    items list "by contract". 

Unit    For Groups I, IIA, IIB (not performed by a formal contract), and III insert the unit of measure for each 
    listed item. 

Quantity    For Groups I, IIA, IIB (not performed by a formal contract), and III insert the estimated quantity for each 
    listed item. 

Unit Price   For Groups I, IIA, IIB (not performed by a formal contract), and III insert the estimated unit price for  
    each listed item. 

Item Cost   This is a calculated field, no entry is necessary. It calculates the quantity times the unit price. 

Est. Total Operation Cost  For each operation listed, insert the total estimated cost of that operation. 

Total Estimated Maintenance This is a calculated field, no entry is necessary. It sums all the maintenance operations listed. 
Operation Cost



BLR 14231 (Rev. 05/16/17)Printed 02/06/18

Estimated Cost of Maintenance Engineering 

Preliminary Engineering Insert the estimated cost for preliminary engineering. This will be calculated based on the maintenance
    engineering agreement. 

Engineering Inspection  Insert the estimated cost of engineering inspection. This will be calculated based on the maintenance 
    engineering agreement. 

Material Testing  Insert the estimated cost of material testing, if applicable. 

Advertising   Insert the estimated cost of advertising, if applicable. 

Bridge Inspections  Insert the estimated cost of bridge inspections, if applicable. This will be calculated based on the   
    engineering agreement. 

Total Estimated Maintenance This is a calculated field, no entry is necessary. It sums all the maintenance engineering costs listed.
Engineering Costs 

Maintenance Program Estimated Costs 

Estimated Costs  For maintenance, insert the total estimated maintenance operation costs. For Maintenance  
    Engineering, this will be automatically inserted based on the estimated engineering costs from the  
    maintenance engineering table. The totals will automatically calculate. 

MFT Portion   For each type insert the MFT funds estimated to be used for that type. The totals will automatically 
    calculate. 

Other Funds   For each type insert the amount of other funds estimated to be used for that type. The totals will 
    automatically calculate. 

Totals   This is a calculate field, no entry is necessary. It sums the total for estimated cost, MFT portion and 
    other funds. 

Submitted   The proper municipal official shall insert their title and date here. 

Approved   Upon approval the Regional Engineer shall sign and date here. 

A minimum of four (4) signed originals must be submitted to the Regional Engineer's District office. 
Following the Regional Engineer's approval, distribution will be as follows: 

Municipal Clerk 
Engineer (Municipal or Consultant) 
District Compliance Review 
District File



 

 

Project Location Map 



Agenda Item 
3.41 COW 

REQUEST FOR BOARD ACTION 
COMMITTEE-OF-THE-WHOLE 

FEBRUARY 12, 2018 

Subject: Consideration of a Request to Authorize Purchase of Three Police 
Department Replacement Vehicles at a Cost of $87,010.00 (Village of 
Lincolnshire)

Action Requested: Consideration of Recommendation and Advance purchase request to 
February 26, 2018 Regular Village Board Meeting Consent Agenda for 
Approval.

Originated 
By/Contact:

Joseph Leonas, Chief of Police

Referred To: Village Board

Summary / Background: 
The Village’s FY 2018 Budget provides funding for the purchase of three (3) replacement 
vehicles for the Police Department. The Department plans to replace the Patrol Division’s 2011
Ford Expedition (Squad 98), 2013 Ford Police Interceptor Sedan (Squad 103) and 2014 Ford 
Explorer (Squad 105). These vehicles have reached the end of their cost-effective service life 
(81,000+ miles). 

Staff recommends purchase of two 2018 Ford Utility Police Interceptor AWD through the 
Suburban Purchasing Cooperative to replace Squads 98 and 103. Staff also recommends the 
purchase of one 2018 Ford F150 Truck to replace Squad 105 through the State of Illinois 
Government Pricing Contract.   

The Suburban Purchasing Cooperative has awarded a contract for the 2018 Ford Utility Police 
Interceptor AWD to Currie Motors of Frankfort, Illinois. The Village of Lincolnshire may utilize 
the Suburban Purchasing Cooperative contract as a member of the Northwest Municipal 
Conference and given the vehicle purchase has been competitively bid.  The base price for the 
Ford Interceptor is $26,456.00. Including the desired options, the purchase price for each 
of these vehicles is $28,615.00 with a total price of $57 230.00 for both vehicles. 

The Village of Lincolnshire is able to purchase the 2018 Ford F150 off the State of Illinois 
Government Pricing Contract without going out for formal bids. Morrow Brothers Ford of 
Greenfield, Illinois has been awarded the State Contract for the 2018 Ford F150. The base 
price for the Ford F150 is $23,185.00.  With the desired options, the total purchase price for this 
vehicle is $29,780.00. 

The total cost of purchasing all three vehicles will be $87,010.00. The cost for vehicle retrofitting 
and marking is estimated to be $26,375.00 from various vendors. The total cost for the three 
vehicles is projected to be $113,385.00. 

Budget Impact: 
Sufficient funds ($120,000) have been budgeted in the General Capital Fund for purchase in 
Fiscal Year 2018.   



Agenda Item 
3.41 COW 

$90,000 is allocated in the Motor Vehicle Replacement Account (#51-05-80-7001) for vehicle 
purchases.  

$30,000 is budgeted in the Equipment-Vehicle Retrofits Account (#51-05-80-3008) to cover the 
cost of transferring emergency equipment/lighting and vehicle markings. 

Service Delivery Impact: 
These vehicles will replace aging vehicles currently in the Police Department’s fleet.

Recommendation: 
Staff recommends approval of this purchase. 

Reports and Documents Attached: 
� Commander Watson’s memo to Chief Leonas
� Suburban Purchasing Cooperative 2017 Ford Utility Police Interceptor AWD (SPC

Contract #152)
� State of Illinois F150 Truck Government Pricing Contract

Meeting History
Initial Referral to Village Board (COW): February 12, 2018

Regular Village Board Meeting:
































	1.0_Agenda
	2.1 01-22-2018 Minutes
	3.11_Glenstar_PH_02_12_18
	3.12 Private Activity Bond Clearinghouse
	3.13 Economic Development Strategic Plan
	3.21 Appropriation Ordinance
	3.22_3.23_Purchasing_Amend_Ord_Title_1_Ch_8_Code Revisions
	3.24_Ethics_Act_Amend_Ord_Title_1_Ch_16_Code_Revisions
	3.25_NSEBC_Representative
	3.26_Executive_Session_Minutes_PUBLIC
	3.31_Portable_Message_Board_720_Purchase
	3.32_2018_Westminster_Watermain _Project_Bid
	3.33_Westminster_Watermain_Project_PhIII
	3.34_Resolution_for_Maintenance_of_Streets_and_Highways
	3.41_Police_Vehicle_Purchase

	Parcel Boundary: 
	11: 
	undefined: 
	undefined_2: 
	ORDINANCE NO 18: 
	th day of: 
	2018 by the Corporate Authorities of the: 
	th day of_2: 
	2018: 
	Barbara Mastandrea Village Clerk: 
	day of: 
	2018_2: 
	Elizabeth J Brandt Mayor: 
	day of_2: 
	2018_3: 
	day of_3: 
	2018_4: 
	undefined_3: 
	8474154119: 
	undefined_4: 
	undefined_5: 
	undefined_6: 
	undefined_7: 
	Unda Calclwell sha ed a link January 9 at 10 pm stm 1: 
	 it d to: 
	it: 
	1: 
	2: 
	undefined_8: 
	undefined_9: 
	undefined_10: 
	undefined_11: 
	QCGall: 
	undefined_12: 
	1_2: 
	undefined_13: 
	e cou use: 
	Row1: 
	h: 
	undefined_14: 
	an ee that ould be awesome: 
	undefined_15: 
	undefined_16: 
	rL 0: 
	undefined_17: 
	undefined_18: 
	undefined_19: 
	tterardini Having a recently graduated high: 
	the Naperville location regulady  Long: 
	undefined_20: 
	a Wow Please go visit a Top Golf before e: 
	undefined_21: 
	undefined_22: 
	undefined_23: 
	I nt even: 
	Judy DeWilld: 
	ancy Chapman Feddennann Bravo Judyl As a 37 year res1d of Lincolnshire who opposed the widening of Rt 22 until I realized was a foregone conclusion and it would be better to negotiate the best possible outcome for the community your thoughtful comments are appreciated LI e Reply: 
	No1th Aurora 1: 
	No1th Aurora 2: 
	Countyies of Cook Kane Lake McHenry: 
	1 That on the 25th day of January: 
	C Village Boundary: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE: 
	Revised 08102015: 
	Revised 12082014: 
	Permitted Uses: 
	Revised 12082014_2: 
	VILLAGE OF LINCOLNSHIRE_2: 
	Revised 12082014_3: 
	Permitted Uses_2: 
	Funeral home: 
	Restaurant with Live Entertainment: 
	Special Uses all others: 
	Permitted Uses_3: 
	Revised 12082014_4: 
	Village of Lincolnshire  Comprehensive Plan: 
	25: 
	One Olde Half Day Road_2: 
	Agenda Item 312 COW: 
	VILLAGECITY OF: 
	RESOLUTION NO 2018: 
	2018_5: 
	2018_6: 
	Title of Authorized Municipal Official: 
	Title of Authorized Municipal Official_2: 
	Volume Cap allocation granted transferred or reserved by Village of Lincolnshire: 
	Village of Lincolnshire: 
	Committee of the Whole Meeting: 
	Committee of the Whole Meeting_2: 
	Adopted by the Village Board: 
	2018_7: 
	fill_2: 
	undefined_24: 
	undefined_25: 
	undefined_26: 
	fill_3: 
	undefined_27: 
	fill_4: 
	4        6        1: 
	00
			21: 
	3: 
	fill_3_2: 
	fill_2_2: 
	6: 
	undefined_28: 
	undefined_29: 
	8: 
	fill_2_3: 
	1_3: 
	fill_3_3: 
	fill_2_4: 
	undefined_30: 
	768: 
	fill_2_5: 
	undefined_31: 
	fill_4_2: 
	CE   8: 
	fill_2_6: 
	11_2: 
	fill_3_4: 
	fill_2_7: 
	undefined_32: 
	fill_3_5: 
	fill_2_8: 
	undefined_33: 
	C: 
	3_2: 
	undefined_34: 
	68: 
	fill_2_9: 
	undefined_35: 
	36: 
	052: 
	052_2: 
	0360: 
	61: 
	undefined_36: 
	Agenda Item 321 COW: 
	Agenda Item 321 COW_2: 
	Public Hearing: 
	undefined_37: 
	Barrington Hills Lake Barrington North Barrington South Barrington: 
	North Aurora 1: 
	North Aurora 2: 
	North Aurora 3: 
	2018 by a roll call vote as follows: 
	2018_8: 
	Elizabeth J Brandt Mayor_2: 
	Barbara Mastandrea Village Clerk_2: 
	Day of: 
	2018 at Lincolnshire Lake: 
	Elizabeth J Brandt Mayor_3: 
	Barbara Mastandrea Village Clerk_3: 
	PURCHASING AUTHORITY SUMMARY: 
	Purchasing Authority Derived from Approved BudgetRow1: 
	Informal Buying: 
	Public Improvement Projects Services and Supplies Greater than 1000 to 24999: 
	1000 to 5000: 
	5001 to 24999: 
	Three Formal Written Quotes  Village Manager Approval Required: 
	Public Improvement Projects Services and Supplies Greater 24999: 
	Greater than 25000: 
	Contracts: 
	 1000: 
	 1000_2: 
	Department Manager May Approve and Sign: 
	Change Orders  Contract Modifications: 
	Department Manager May Approve: 
	Village Manager Approval Required: 
	Change order must be competitively bid: 
	Agenda Item 324 COW: 
	AND EMPLOYEE ETHICS ACT: 
	Authorities of the Village of Lincolnshire on a roll call vote as follows: 
	2018 by the Corporate: 
	Elizabeth J Brandt Mayor_4: 
	Barbara Mastandrea Village Clerk_4: 
	02122018Committee of the Whole: 
	day of_4: 
	2018_9: 
	day of_5: 
	2018_10: 
	ATTEST: 
	undefined_38: 
	02122017Regular Village Board Meeting: 
	RESOLUTION NO: 
	ADOPTED this: 
	day of_6: 
	Mayor Elizabeth J Brandt: 
	Village Clerk Barbara Mastandrea: 
	fill_1: 
	Number: 
	Q1719729: 
	Date: 
	12202017: 
	Page: 
	1_4: 
	Sell To Cust C8947: 
	USA Lincolnshire IL  60069 1 Olde Half Day Road Matthew Liewehr Village of Lincolnshire: 
	Ship To Cust: 
	ExpiresRow1: 
	SlspRow1: 
	Slsp: 
	USA Lincolnshire IL  60069 1 Olde Half Day Road Joshua Markham Village of LincolnshireTerms: 
	FreightRow1: 
	Ship ViaRow1: 
	SMC4000: 
	1192018: 
	Richard Brown: 
	Net 30 DAYS: 
	PREPAID: 
	BEST RATE: 
	141530000: 
	Solar Message Board 48H x 96W Basic Model: 
	1_5: 
	EA: 
	1496250: 
	1496250_2: 
	Shipment within: 
	Merchandise: 
	Freight: 
	Tax: 
	Total: 
	Acceptance By: 
	Date_2: 
	1866180: 
	000: 
	000_2: 
	1866180_2: 
	By: 
	undefined_39: 
	undefined_40: 
	2_2: 
	undefined_41: 
	3_3: 
	undefined_42: 
	undefined_43: 
	undefined_44: 
	undefined_45: 
	fill_2_10: 
	1951D 88   88  911 1 88: 
	fill_1_2: 
	fill_2_11: 
	fill_1_3: 
	BY: 
	TITLE: 
	DATE: 
	Row1_2: 
	Personnel  HoursRate: 
	Construction Observation: 
	Shop Drc3wing Review: 
	20: 
	20_2: 
	Observation: 
	735: 
	10: 
	10_2: 
	Erosion Control lnsEection: 
	20_3: 
	QA Material Testing: 
	0: 
	0_2: 
	Traffic Control Inspection: 
	20_4: 
	40: 
	Post ConstructionRow1: 
	0Row1: 
	40Row1: 
	Row1_3: 
	NAME: 
	TITLE_2: 
	DATE_2: 
	1_6: 
	Material Tester I: 
	Material Tester I Overtime: 
	80Hour: 
	Travel Light Vehicle: 
	Mile: 
	Pickup Test Samples: 
	2_3: 
	Concrete Test Cylinders 6x 12: 
	Concrete Test Cylinders 4x 8: 
	8Each: 
	Sieve Analysis Aggregate: 
	8Each_2: 
	1_7: 
	160Hour: 
	Travel light Vehicle: 
	Mile_2: 
	240Each: 
	Day: 
	4Each: 
	Each: 
	Project Engineer: 
	4: 
	QA Manager: 
	0_3: 
	fill_2_12: 
	229B1 B1 A22D2B1 A9990A21B1: 
	fill_4_3: 
	Resolution Number: 
	Resolution Type: 
	Local Public Agency Type: 
	Name of Local Public Agency: 
	Date_3: 
	Department of Transportation: 
	Date_4: 
	Submittal Type Original: 
	County: 
	Maintenance Period: 
	Village of Lincolnshire_2: 
	123118: 
	ItemY: 
	UnitY: 
	QuantityY: 
	Unit PriceY: 
	Item CostY: 
	IVSection 180002300RS: 
	YSection 180002300RS: 
	ItemSection 180002300RS: 
	UnitSection 180002300RS: 
	QuantitySection 180002300RS: 
	Unit PriceSection 180002300RS: 
	Item CostSection 180002300RS: 
	39000000Section 180002300RS: 
	Section 180002300RSRow1: 
	IVRow2: 
	YRow2: 
	ItemRow3: 
	UnitRow3: 
	QuantityRow3: 
	Unit PriceRow3: 
	Item CostRow3: 
	39000000Row2: 
	Section 180002300RSRow2: 
	IVRow3: 
	YRow3: 
	ItemRow4: 
	UnitRow4: 
	QuantityRow4: 
	Unit PriceRow4: 
	Item CostRow4: 
	39000000Row3: 
	Section 180002300RSRow3: 
	IVRow4: 
	YRow4: 
	ItemRow5: 
	UnitRow5: 
	QuantityRow5: 
	Unit PriceRow5: 
	Item CostRow5: 
	39000000Row4: 
	Section 180002300RSRow4: 
	IVRow5: 
	YRow5: 
	ItemRow6: 
	UnitRow6: 
	QuantityRow6: 
	Unit PriceRow6: 
	Item CostRow6: 
	39000000Row5: 
	Section 180002300RSRow5: 
	IVRow6: 
	YRow6: 
	ItemRow7: 
	UnitRow7: 
	QuantityRow7: 
	Unit PriceRow7: 
	Item CostRow7: 
	39000000Row6: 
	Section 180002300RSRow6: 
	IVRow7: 
	YRow7: 
	ItemRow8: 
	UnitRow8: 
	QuantityRow8: 
	Unit PriceRow8: 
	Item CostRow8: 
	39000000Row7: 
	Section 180002300RSRow7: 
	IVRow8: 
	YRow8: 
	ItemRow9: 
	UnitRow9: 
	QuantityRow9: 
	Unit PriceRow9: 
	Item CostRow9: 
	39000000Row8: 
	Section 180002300RSRow8: 
	IVRow9: 
	YRow9: 
	ItemRow10: 
	UnitRow10: 
	QuantityRow10: 
	Unit PriceRow10: 
	Item CostRow10: 
	39000000Row9: 
	Section 180002300RSRow9: 
	IVRow10: 
	YRow10: 
	ItemRow11: 
	UnitRow11: 
	QuantityRow11: 
	Unit PriceRow11: 
	Item CostRow11: 
	39000000Row10: 
	Section 180002300RSRow10: 
	IVRow11: 
	YRow11: 
	ItemRow12: 
	UnitRow12: 
	QuantityRow12: 
	Unit PriceRow12: 
	Item CostRow12: 
	39000000Row11: 
	Section 180002300RSRow11: 
	IVRow12: 
	YRow12: 
	ItemRow13: 
	UnitRow13: 
	QuantityRow13: 
	Unit PriceRow13: 
	Item CostRow13: 
	39000000Row12: 
	Section 180002300RSRow12: 
	IVRow13: 
	YRow13: 
	ItemRow14: 
	UnitRow14: 
	QuantityRow14: 
	Unit PriceRow14: 
	Item CostRow14: 
	39000000Row13: 
	Section 180002300RSRow13: 
	IVRow14: 
	YRow14: 
	ItemRow15: 
	UnitRow15: 
	QuantityRow15: 
	Unit PriceRow15: 
	Item CostRow15: 
	39000000Row14: 
	Section 180002300RSRow14: 
	IVRow15: 
	YRow15: 
	ItemRow16: 
	UnitRow16: 
	QuantityRow16: 
	Unit PriceRow16: 
	Item CostRow16: 
	39000000Row15: 
	Section 180002300RSRow15: 
	IVRow16: 
	YRow16: 
	ItemRow17: 
	UnitRow17: 
	QuantityRow17: 
	Unit PriceRow17: 
	Item CostRow17: 
	39000000Row16: 
	Section 180002300RSRow16: 
	IVRow17: 
	YRow17: 
	ItemRow18: 
	UnitRow18: 
	QuantityRow18: 
	Unit PriceRow18: 
	Item CostRow18: 
	39000000Row17: 
	Section 180002300RSRow17: 
	IVRow18: 
	YRow18: 
	ItemRow19: 
	UnitRow19: 
	QuantityRow19: 
	Unit PriceRow19: 
	Item CostRow19: 
	39000000Row18: 
	Section 180002300RSRow18: 
	IVRow19: 
	YRow19: 
	ItemRow20: 
	UnitRow20: 
	QuantityRow20: 
	Unit PriceRow20: 
	Item CostRow20: 
	39000000Row19: 
	Section 180002300RSRow19: 
	IVRow20: 
	YRow20: 
	ItemRow21: 
	UnitRow21: 
	QuantityRow21: 
	Unit PriceRow21: 
	Item CostRow21: 
	39000000Row20: 
	Section 180002300RSRow20: 
	IVRow21: 
	YRow21: 
	ItemRow22: 
	UnitRow22: 
	QuantityRow22: 
	Unit PriceRow22: 
	Item CostRow22: 
	39000000Row21: 
	Section 180002300RSRow21: 
	IVRow22: 
	YRow22: 
	ItemRow23: 
	UnitRow23: 
	QuantityRow23: 
	Unit PriceRow23: 
	Item CostRow23: 
	39000000Row22: 
	Section 180002300RSRow22: 
	IVRow23: 
	YRow23: 
	ItemRow24: 
	UnitRow24: 
	QuantityRow24: 
	Unit PriceRow24: 
	Item CostRow24: 
	39000000Row23: 
	Section 180002300RSRow23: 
	IVRow24: 
	YRow24: 
	ItemRow25: 
	UnitRow25: 
	QuantityRow25: 
	Unit PriceRow25: 
	Item CostRow25: 
	39000000Row24: 
	Estimated Cost of Maintenance Engineering: 
	Engineering Inspection: 
	Other Funds: 
	Material Testing: 
	39000000Maint Eng: 
	17500000Maint Eng: 
	Advertising: 
	17500000: 
	Bridge Inspections: 
	Total Estimated Maintenance Engineering Cost: 
	Municipal Official: 
	Date_5: 
	Title: 
	Department of Transportation_2: 
	Date_6: 
	StreetRoadRow1: 
	FromRow1: 
	ToRow1: 
	Existing TypeRow1: 
	LengthRow1: 
	WidthRow1: 
	NoRow1: 
	DescriptionRow1: 
	UnitRow1: 
	QuantityRow1: 
	Agenda Item 341 COW: 
	Agenda Item 341 COW_2: 
	Initial Referral to Village Board COWRow1: 
	February 12 2018Row1: 
	February 12 2018Regular Village Board Meeting: 
	313000: 
	Engine block heater: 
	8600: 
	10900: 
	1900: 
	043L: 
	1900_2: 
	Daytime Running Lights: 
	4200: 
	4900: 
	20400: 
	33400: 
	37500: 
	39900: 
	58900: 
	63200: 
	051P: 
	Spot Lamp Prep Kit Driver side does not include housing and bulb: 
	13200: 
	Ds1w: 
	Spot Lamp Prep Kit Dual Side does not include housing and bulbs: 
	26600: 
	52400: 
	D21w: 
	60700: 
	Prewiring grill lamp siren speaker: 
	4900_2: 
	27600: 
	54600: 
	092G: 
	11400: 
	92R: 
	8100: 
	Roof rack side rails: 
	14800: 
	Deflector Plate Eco Boost Only: 
	29200: 
	87R: 
	NC: 
	28000: 
	14800_2: 
	14800_3: 
	Rear window power delete: 
	2400: 
	3300: 
	3300_2: 
	13200_2: 
	15300: 
	11900: 
	2400_2: 
	30900: 
	NC_2: 
	3000: 
	150600: 
	301200: 
	229400: 
	458800: 
	096W: 
	096T: 
	115900: 
	bJ55B: 
	BLIS Blind spot monitoring includes manual heated: 
	51700: 
	1700: 
	Mirrors  Heated Sideview: 
	5800: 
	Perimeter AntiTheft Alarm  Requires key Fob 595: 
	11400_2: 
	32200: 
	hll 76R: 
	4900_3: 
	18 5spoke full face wheel covers w metal clips: 
	45100: 
	Aux Air Conditioning NIA with 63V: 
	57900: 
	Badge Delete: 
	doorcompartment light NIA with 17A: 
	23200: 
	9500: 
	28500: 
	043S: 
	052B: 
	Enhanced PTU Cooler requires EcoBoost Engine: 
	277900: 
	39500: 
	lJ47A: 
	Engine Idle Control: 
	38500: 
	D: 
	4 Corner LED Strobes aftermarket using 86P: 
	32500: 
	License and title fees M: 
	MP: 
	DRow1: 
	15000Row1: 
	D 47C: 
	10000: 
	D 21P: 
	12300: 
	D 65U: 
	37100: 
	D 66A: 
	80900: 
	86P: 
	11900_2: 
	40400: 
	D 66C: 
	5300: 
	D 67U: 
	52400_2: 
	Prewiring for grille LED lights siren and speaker 60A  Wiring harness 1P to rear overlay: 
	2 light cablessupports up to 6 LED lights engine compartmentgrit le  2 50amp battery and ground circuits in RH rear quarter  1 10amp sirenspeaker circuit engine cargo area  Rear hatchcargo area wiringsupports up to 6 rear LED lights NIA with 65U 67G 67H: 
	circuit  Whelen lighting PCC8R control head  Whelen PCC8R Light Relay Center  Whelen specific cable connects PCC8R to control head  Prewiring for grill lights siren and speaker not available with 65U 67H and 67U: 
	D 67H: 
	324400: 
	Grille LED Lights  100 Watt SirenSpeaker  9 l0 digital Serial Cable console to cargo  Hidden door lock plunger  rear door handles inop  Rear console mounting plate not available with 66A 66B 66C 67G 67U 65U: 
	79700: 
	D 91E: 
	0 91F: 
	75500: 
	0 91G: 
	75500_2: 
	Dau: 
	0E3: 
	Arizona Beige Metallic Clearcoat: 
	0G1: 
	Shadow Black: 
	0HG: 
	Smokestone Metallic: 
	On: 
	Kodiak Brown Metallic: 
	0JL: 
	Dark Toreador Red Metallic: 
	OKR: 
	Norsea Blue Metallic: 
	OLK: 
	Dark Blue: 
	OLM: 
	Royal Blue: 
	OLN: 
	Light Blue Metallic: 
	Ultra Blue Metallic: 
	OFT: 
	Blue: 
	OTN: 
	Silver Grey Metallic: 
	0UJ: 
	Sterling Grey Metallic: 
	oux: 
	Ingot Silver Metallic: 
	OYG: 
	Medium Titanium Metallic: 
	yz: 
	Oxford White: 
	OE4: 
	Vermillion Red: 
	undefined_46: 
	undefined_47: 
	Purchase Order Number: 
	Tax Exempt Number: 
	undefined_48: 
	Total Number of Units 1: 
	Total Number of Units 2: 
	FORD FLEET: 
	COST EACH: 
	oo: 
	undefined_49: 
	325 HP EcoBoosl V6 with 10Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	395 HP V8 FFV with 10Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	4x4Option: 
	290 HP V6 FFV with 6Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	325 HP Eco Boost V6 with 10Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	37 5 HP Eco Boost VB with 10Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	395 HP V8 FFV with 10Speed Automatic Transmission_2: 
	8 Bed Option not available with 290 HP V6: 
	4x4 Option 4x4 on 8 Bed Super Cab Requires 375 HP V6 or 395 HP VB: 
	290 HP V6 FFV with 6Speed Automatic Transmission_2: 
	325 HP EcoBoosl V6 with 10Speed Automatic Transmission_2: 
	375 HP EcoBoosl V6 with 10Speed Automatic Transmission: 
	395 HP V8 FFV with 10Speed Automatic Transmission_3: 
	2318500: 
	Cl: 
	66 Bed Option not available with 290 HP V6: 
	Add 35500: 
	4x4 Option 4x4 on 66 Bed Super Cab Requires 375 HP V6 or 395 HP VB: 
	Add 310500: 
	Magnetic Metallic: 
	OPTIONAL EQUIPMENT: 
	Engine Block Heater: 
	Entry Manualfolding Power Glass Sideview Mirrors: 
	AMFM SingleCO wSiriusXM Radio incl a 6month prepaid subscription: 
	Bluetooth SYNC: 
	53B Class IV Tow Pkg incl Trailer Tow Connector 4pin7pin wiring Class IV trailer: 
	HeavyDuty Payload Package req 53A Trailer Tow Pkg with 395 HP V8 engine: 
	Skid Plates 4x4 onM: 
	Grip Strut 7 Powder Coated Aluminum Runnina Boards: 
	Black Platform Runnina Boards: 
	Black Platform Runnina Boards_2: 
	Tailaate Step with Tailaate Lift Assist: 
	54R59S: 
	Tow Pkg and RearWindow Fixed Privacy Glass with Defroster 924570: 
	Reverse Sensing System requires Trailer Tow Pkg: 
	Fog Lamps incl in 86A XL Chrome Appearance Pkg: 
	Colorcoordinated Carpeted Floor Coverina: 
	Extended Ranae 36 Gallon Fuel Tank: 
	Spravin Bedllner: 
	Orooin Bedliner: 
	XL SSV Special Service Vehicle Package req 395 HP VB or 375 HP V6 engine: 
	Daytime Running Lamos DRL: 
	4 Splash Guards Body Molded: 
	Fire Extinguisher with Mount: 
	Extra Kev no Remote: 
	Extra Kev with Remote: 
	Service Manual CD ROM: 
	New M MP Sheriff License and TIiie: 
	Transfer License and New TIiie: 
	Deliverv Sinale Unit: 
	Deliverv MultiPle Units: 
	Platform Size Uoarade 53 x 42  5: 
	Aluminum Platform Uoarade: 
	WHELEN 4 Corner LED Vertex Kit: 
	WHELEN Century 16 LP LED Mini Bar: 
	CabBack Glass Protector: 
	Liftuo Side Windows: 
	Delete Side Windows: 
	Raised Roof Toooer: 
	Return to Agenda: 


